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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
Year Ended December 31,

($ millions) 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Revenue $ 221.7 $  231.3 $  247.2 $  281.8 $  331.2 

Operating Expenses  151.5  167.4  169.9  171.5  204.4 

G&A  45.1  42.1  36.2  42.8  44.0 

Depreciation  39.5  45.7  49.3  47.3  46.3 

Gains on Asset Dispositions 1.6  4.5  4.8  6.0  6.1 

Goodwill Impairment  -    -    -    (1.9)  -   

Litigation Settlement Proceeds  42.0  -    -    -    -   

Loss on Impairment  (1.0)  (117.0)  -    -    -   

Operating Income (Loss)  28.1  (136.4)  (3.4)  24.3  42.7 

Other Income (Expense)

Interest Income  2.0  0.8  0.7  1.2  0.5 

Interest Expense  (15. 1 )  (16.8)  (17.3)  (13.5)  (14.8)

Derivative Gains (Losses)  -    -    -    -    (0.9)

Foreign Currency Gains (Losses)  (1.0)  (0.2)  0.1  (2.6)  (2.4)

Gain on  Debt Extinguishment  0.2  -    0.5  1.6  -   

Gain on Sale of FBO  -    -    -    12.9  -   

Note Receivable Impairment  -    -    -    -    (2.5)

 (13.9)  (16.2)  (16.0)  (0.3)  (20.0)

Income (Loss) before Taxes and Equity Earnings  14.2  (152.7)  (19.4)  24.0  22.6 

Income Taxes Expense (Benefit)  2.9  (122.7)  (3.4)  14.1  8.3 

Income (Loss) before Equity Earnings  11.3  (30.0)  (16.0)  9.8  14.4 

Equity Earnings (Losses)  2.2  1.4  1.1  (1.9)  2.7 

Net Income (Loss) $  13.5 $  (28.6) $  (14.9) $  7.9 $  17.0 

Net Loss Attributable to NCI in Subsidiary  0.5  0.5  6.9  0.8  0.1 

Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Era Group $ 13.9 $  (28.1) $  (8.0) $  8.7 $  17.1 

Forward-looking Statements: Certain statements in this Annual Report constitute “forward-looking statements.”  Such forward-looking statements reflect the current views of the management of Era Group 
Inc. (the “Company”) with respect to future events and are subject to risks and uncertainties, both known and unknown, that could cause the Company’s actual results to vary materially from those anticipated 
in forward-looking statements. Such risks and uncertainties include those described in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018, in the Company’s subsequent 
Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and any current reports on Form 8-K filed by the Company. The Company cautions investors not to place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements.

This Annual Report defines and references EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA as supplemental measures of the Company’s operating performance.  Neither EBITDA nor Adjusted EBITDA is a recognized term under 
generally accepted accounting principles in the U.S. (“GAAP”).
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For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018, Era reported operating revenues 

of $222 million, a $10 million decrease from fiscal year 2017. Earnings before 

interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”)1 was $69 million in 

2018 compared to negative $90 million in the prior year. EBITDA adjusted 

to exclude the impact of special items and gains on asset dispositions was 

$37 million in 2018 compared to $31 million in 2017. Special items in 2018 

consisted of $42 million in litigation settlement proceeds, $11 million in 

non-routine professional services fees related to the settled litigation, and 

$1 million of non-cash charges. Special items in 2017 consisted of a $117 million 

impairment charge related to the Company’s H225 helicopters, $6 million in 

non-routine professional services fees related to the now settled litigation, 

and $3 million of non-cash charges. Gains on asset dispositions were 

$2 million in 2018 compared to $5 million in 2017. 

Dear Fellow Stockholder

April 24, 2019 

I am pleased to report that Era’s recent safety performance is the best 
in the history of the Company.  In 2018, we achieved our dual goals 
of ZERO air accidents and ZERO OSHA recordable incidents for the 
year.  It has been three years since the Company’s last air accident, 
and we have now gone more than 570 consecutive days without an 
OSHA recordable incident.  I want to commend the entire Era team 
for their hard work and dedication in achieving this world-class safety 
performance.  I am also pleased to report that the National Ocean 
Industries Association (NOIA) recognized Era as the 2019 winner of 
the NOIA Safety in Seas Culture of Safety award.  Safety is Era’s #1 
core value and our highest operational priority.  We understand that 
our safety record must be earned anew each day, and we remain 
focused on continuous improvement in 2019.

1 EBITDA and EBITDA adjusted to 
exclude the impact of special items and 
gains on asset dispositions are each 
financial measures not calculated in 
accordance with U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles (“Non-GAAP 
Measures”). See the annex to this letter 
for a discussion of each of these Non-
GAAP Measures and a reconciliation of 
these Non-GAAP Measures to the most 
closely comparable GAAP measure.
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RATHER THAN APPROACHING THE 
BUSINESS SIMPLY AS AN OPERATOR 
OF HELICOPTERS, WE VIEW THE 
COMPANY AS MANAGING A POOL 
OF ASSETS FROM WHICH WE 
ARE TRYING TO GENERATE THE 
GREATEST CASH RETURN.
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Despite challenging industry conditions, Era generated positive net cash flows 

from operating and investing activities of $77 million in 2018. Excluding the 

impact of non-routine litigation expenses and litigation settlement proceeds 

noted above, net cash flows from operating and investing activities would 

have been positive $46 million in 2018.

Given the financial distress that other industry participants, both offshore 

helicopter operators and the specialty helicopter leasing companies, are 

experiencing, it is worthwhile to review the way Era has executed our 

strategy during the protracted offshore oil and gas industry downturn. With 

an uncertain outlook regarding the extent and duration of the downturn, we 

believed that we needed to design and execute a business plan that would 

be viable in any commodity price environment. Beginning in late 2014, 

we adopted strategic priorities based on (i) achieving the highest safety 

standards, (ii) maximizing the utilization of our helicopter fleet, (iii) realizing 

efficiencies in our cost structure, and (iv) protecting our balance sheet.  

Our management team scoured all aspects of the Company’s cost structure, 

looking for opportunities to reduce costs while maintaining the highest 

standards for safety and customer service. This effort focused on all line 

items, from helicopter maintenance expenses to coffee and office supplies. 

The one metric that is perhaps the most tangible and easiest to illustrate, 

though certainly the most difficult and painful to implement, is employee 

headcount reduction. From September 30, 2014 through March 31, 2019, 

we reduced U.S. employee headcount by 45%, including a 55% reduction in 

Fleet by Type

HEAVY—9

LIGHT-SINGLE—30

LIGHT-TWIN—23

MEDIUM—46

As of December 31, 2018.

OWNED—108

Fleet by Ownership

8%

21%

28%

43% 100%
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general and administrative employees. As you may recall, we acquired our 

Colombian business in 2015 and began consolidating our Brazilian business in 

late 2015, so the following table is focused on U.S.-based employees.

While it is always difficult to make these reductions, our early and proactive 

efforts to right-size Era’s cost structure for the new reality in the offshore oil 

and gas industry allowed us to continue to generate positive operating cash 

flow throughout the downturn. From September 30, 2014 through December 

31, 2018, the Company generated positive operating cash flows totaling 

$194 million.

We also worked with our long-term partners at the helicopter manufacturers 

to reduce and defer capital expenditures for new helicopter deliveries. This 

collaborative effort allowed us to diversify our heavy helicopter fleet by 

adding S92 and AW189 models to our fleet, without straining our balance 

sheet. We continue to maintain great flexibility in our new order book. All 

of the Company’s unfunded capital commitments may be canceled without 

further liability other than forfeiture of previously paid deposits of $2 million.

Era’s differentiated strategy has served the Company well during the extended 

downturn in the offshore oil and gas industry. Rather than approaching the 

business simply as an operator of helicopters, we view the Company as 

managing a pool of assets from which we are trying to generate the greatest 

cash return. This results in a differentiated strategy whereby we operate, 

lease and actively sell helicopters, depending on the relative present value 

proposition of these three alternatives. From the end of 2014 through the 

end of 2018, the Company generated over $110 million in cash from the sale 

of underutilized helicopters. Net gains on these asset dispositions totaled  

$11 million, representing an aggregate premium of 11% over net book value 

at the time of sale. Excluding the sale of H225 helicopters, the net gains on 

these asset dispositions was $15 million, representing an aggregate premium 

of 20% over net book value at the time of sale. 

Our Alaskan business is a good example of the Company’s ability to extract 

value from underperforming assets. As you may recall, the oil and gas 

U.S. Employee Headcount

9/30/2014 3/31/2019 Reduction %

Opex 621 361 (260) -42%

G&A 214 97 (117) -55%

Total 835 458 (377) -45%
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helicopter industry in Alaska was decimated by the exit of major and large 

cap oil and gas companies from the state over the last several years. As small 

and mid-cap oil and gas companies took control of reserves in the state, 

we faced intense competition from “mom-and-pop” helicopter operators 

for the few remaining contracts in Alaska. Our management team worked 

methodically to realize value from the Company’s significant asset base in 

Alaska, which included idle helicopters, hangar facilities, our flightseeing 

business and our fixed-base operations business at the Anchorage airport. In 

total, we generated over $46 million in cash from the sale of these assets in 

Alaska. We were able to utilize this cash, as well as the cash from the other 

helicopter sales noted above, to fund non-cancellable capital commitments 

and to pay down debt. 

On March 7, 2019, Era in conjunction with our 50% joint venture partner 

entered into an agreement to sell our Dart Holding Company Ltd. joint venture 

(“Dart”). The transaction closed in April, and we received cash proceeds of 

approximately $38 million. The Company’s tax basis in Dart was $24 million 

as of December 31, 2018. We are very pleased with the value received for  

our 50% equity interest in Dart, and we wish the Dart team well as they  

move forward with their new owners. The Dart business, which had returned 
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THESE EFFORTS HAVE HELPED 
TO MAINTAIN THE COMPANY’S 
FINANCIAL FLEXIBILITY, WHICH 
HAS INCREASINGLY BECOME A 
COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGE IN 
OUR INDUSTRY.
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de minimus amounts of cash to Era since our initial investment, had recently 

come of age from a scale and independent management standpoint, and the 

time had come to realize value from this investment for Era shareholders.

We have continued to prioritize the protection of our strong balance sheet 

and liquidity position. From September 30, 2014 to December 31, 2018, we 

reduced net debt2 by $128 million. Pro forma for the sale of Dart noted above, 

the total reduction in net debt was over $165 million during this period. These 

efforts have helped to maintain the Company’s financial flexibility, which has 

increasingly become a competitive advantage in our industry. As of December 

31, 2018, Era’s Net Debt to FY2018 Adjusted EBITDA ratio was less than 3x. 

Pro forma for the sale of Dart, this metric would have been less than 2x.

Despite the very difficult conditions experienced during the prolonged 

downturn in the offshore oil and gas industry, we have protected the equity 

value of your Company. Era’s book value of equity was $463 million as of 

December 31, 2018, which compares favorably to the Company’s equity book 

value of $457 million as of September 30, 2014. This preservation of equity 

value is more dramatic when compared to our closest peers. The following 

chart shows relative equity market capitalization levels for our closest publicly 

traded offshore helicopter operator peers over the course of the downturn.

We have experienced many rainy days over the last four-and-a-half years, 

but our business and balance sheet remain strong. We are not out of the 

proverbial woods yet. Conditions in the offshore helicopter industry remain 

challenging, with limited visibility on future market activity. In addition, 

*Q1 2019, as of March 31, 2019. All other years as of December 31st of that respective year.

2015 2016 2017 2018 Q1 2019*

260
229

282

719

355

183

476

229

30
87

190

9
40

251

905

Company A Company B ERA

(in millions)

Equity Market
Capitalization

  2 Net debt is a Non-GAAP Measure. 
See the annex to this letter for a 

discussion of this Non-GAAP Measure 
and a reconciliation to its most closely 

comparable GAAP measure.
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the recent announcement of Chevron Corporation’s agreement to acquire 

Anadarko Petroleum Corporation introduces uncertainty as Anadarko is our 

largest customer, accounting for approximately 30% of Era’s 2018 revenues. 

As of the date of this letter, Occidental Petroleum has submitted a competing 

offer to acquire Anadarko. If a sale of Anadarko proceeds, it is likely that 

the transaction will take a while to complete, regardless of the identity of 

the counterparty. Furthermore, we believe the implications for the combined 

company’s helicopter transport needs will not be known until later in the 

integration process. At this time, it is too early for us to speculate on whether 

a transaction will have a positive, negative or neutral impact on our business. 

We believe Era is well-positioned to deal with challenges, should more arise. 

In the meantime, our priorities are unchanged. We remain laser-focused 

on delivering safe, efficient and reliable helicopter operations to all of our 

customers, every day.

Those who follow the offshore helicopter business understand that the current 

industry structure is not sustainable, with multiple helicopter operators and 

leasing companies having already filed for bankruptcy protection and others 

expected to follow suit shortly. A simple, stand-alone equitization of these 

distressed balance sheets is unlikely to address the fundamental issues at 

play and may only lead to subsequent rounds of restructuring. In our view, 

the offshore helicopter industry is in dire need of consolidation, amongst 

both the operators and the lessors. Consolidation will not only address the 

excess capacity in the industry, but will also facilitate better absorption of the 

significant fixed costs required to run an air carrier. By way of illustration, a 

combination of any two of the three large deepwater Gulf of Mexico (“GOM”) 

helicopter operators is likely to result in synergies that are equivalent to or 

Historical 
Financial 

Performance
20182017201620152014

18%

24%

27%

15%

19%

$3
6$4

7$6
9$9

1

$2
22

$2
31

$2
47

$2
82

$3
31

Adjusted EBITDA includes Gains on Asset Sales.

Revenue Adjusted EBITDA Margin

(in millions)

$3
9



11

Christopher S. Bradshaw
President and Chief Executive Officer

greater than either stand-alone company’s GOM oil and gas EBITDA levels. 

The magnitude of these cost savings is such that a combination could create 

significant value for both companies’ stakeholders.

We have positioned Era such that the Company is secure in a stand-alone 

scenario, despite the challenging industry conditions, and also well-positioned 

to participate in value-accretive consolidation opportunities, should they 

become actionable. We continue to believe that our strong balance sheet 

and cash flow profile present multiple opportunities to create value for Era 

shareholders. Thank you for your support.

Sincerely,
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2018

Net income $13,458

Depreciation and amortization 39,541

Interest income (2,042)

Interest expense 15,131

Income tax expense 2,940

Special items1 (30,002)

Adjusted EBITDA $39,026

(In US $000s) 31-Dec-18 30-Sep-14

Cash and cash equivalents 50,753 40,357

Credit facility - 55,000

Promissory notes 19,980 28,123

Total secured debt 19,980 83,123

7.750% Senior Notes 144,828 200,000

Other 395 -

Total debt 165,203 283,123

Net debt 114,450 242,766

Decrease in net debt from 9/30/2014 to 12/31/2018 128,316 -

Decrease in net debt from 9/30/2014 to 12/31/2018 pro forma 
for the sale of Dart

166,097 -

APPENDIX A
ADJUSTED EBITDA RECONCILIATION

The following table provides a reconciliation of Net Income, the most directly comparable GAAP 

measure, to Adjusted EBITDA, for the year ended December 31, 2018 (in thousands).

NET DEBT RECONCILIATION

1Special items include:
• Litigation settlement proceeds of $42.0 million
• Non-routine litigation expenses related to H225 helicopters of $11.2 million
• Pre-tax impairment charge of $1.0 million related to the impairment of the Company’s last remaining H225 helicopter
• Gain on the extinguishment of debt in Brazil of $0.2 million
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K includes “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the 
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  Such forward-looking 
statements concerning management’s expectations, strategic objectives, business prospects, anticipated performance and financial 
condition and other similar matters involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other important factors that could cause 
the actual results, performance or achievements of results to differ materially from any future results, performance or achievements 
discussed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Such risks, uncertainties and other important factors include, among 
others:

• the Company’s dependence on, and the cyclical and volatile nature of, offshore oil and gas exploration,
development and production activity, and the impact of general economic conditions and fluctuations in
worldwide prices of and demand for oil and natural gas on such activity levels;

• the Company’s reliance on a limited number of customers and the reduction of its customer base as
a result of bankruptcies or consolidation;

• risks that the Company’s customers reduce or cancel contracted services or tender processes or
obtain comparable services through other forms of transportation;

• the Company’s dependence on United States (“U.S.”) government agency contracts that are subject
to budget appropriations;

• cost savings initiatives implemented by the Company’s customers;
• risks inherent in operating helicopters;
• the Company’s ability to maintain an acceptable safety record and level of reliability;
• the impact of increased U.S. and foreign government regulation and legislation, including potential

government implemented moratoriums on drilling activities;
• the impact of a grounding of all or a portion of the Company’s fleet for extended periods of time or indefinitely

on the Company’s business, including its operations and ability to service customers, results of operations or
financial condition and/or the market value of the affected helicopters;

• the Company’s ability to successfully expand into other geographic and aviation service markets;
• risks associated with political instability, governmental action, war, acts of terrorism and changes in the

economic condition in any foreign country where the Company does business, which may result in
expropriation, nationalization, confiscation or deprivation of the Company’s assets or result in claims of a
force majeure situation;

• the impact of declines in the global economy and financial markets;
• the impact of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates on the Company’s asset values and cost to

purchase helicopters, spare parts and related services;
• risks related to investing in new lines of aviation service without realizing the expected benefits;
• risks of engaging in competitive processes or expending significant resources for strategic opportunities, with no

guaranty of recoupment;
• the Company’s reliance on a limited number of helicopter manufacturers and suppliers;
• the Company’s ongoing need to replace aging helicopters;
• the Company’s reliance on the secondary helicopter market to dispose of used helicopters and parts;
• information technology related risks;
• the impact of allocation of risk between the Company and its customers;
• the liability, legal fees and costs in connection with providing emergency response services;
• adverse weather conditions and seasonality;
• risks associated with the Company’s debt structure;
• the Company’s counterparty credit risk exposure;
• the impact of operational and financial difficulties of the Company’s joint ventures and partners and the risks

associated with identifying and securing joint venture partners when needed;
• conflict with the other owners of the Company’s non-wholly owned subsidiaries and other equity investees;
• adverse results of legal proceedings;
• risks associated with significant increases in fuel costs;
• the Company’s ability to obtain insurance coverage and the adequacy and availability of such coverage;
• the possibility of labor problems;
• the attraction and retention of qualified personnel;
• restrictions on the amount of foreign ownership of the Company’s common stock;
• the risk that one or more closing conditions to the Dart transaction may not be satisfied or waived on a timely

basis;
• the Company may not realize the anticipated net proceeds upon the closing of the Dart transaction; and
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• various other matters and factors, many of which are beyond the Company’s control.

It is not possible to predict or identify all such factors. Consequently, the foregoing should not be considered a complete 
discussion of all potential risks or uncertainties. The words “estimate,” “project,” “intend,” “believe,” “plan” and similar 
expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of the 
document in which they are made.  The Company disclaims any obligation or undertaking to provide any updates or revisions to 
any forward-looking statement to reflect any change in the Company’s expectations or any change in events, conditions or 
circumstances on which the forward-looking statement is based. The forward-looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 
10-K should be evaluated together with the many uncertainties that affect the Company’s businesses, particularly those discussed 
in greater detail in Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors” and Part II, Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Unless the context indicates otherwise, the terms “we,” “our,” “ours,” “us” and the “Company” refer to Era Group Inc. 

and its consolidated subsidiaries.  “Era Group” refers to Era Group Inc., incorporated in 1999 in Delaware. “Common Stock” 
refers to the common stock, par value $0.01 per share, of Era Group.  The Company’s fiscal year ended on December 31, 2018.

General 

We are one of the largest helicopter operators in the world and the longest serving helicopter transport operator in the 
United States (“U.S.”), which is our primary area of operations.  Our helicopters are primarily used to transport personnel to, from 
and between offshore oil and gas production platforms, drilling rigs and other installations.  In the years ended December 31, 
2018, 2017 and 2016, approximately 71%, 66% and 69%, respectively, of our total operating revenues were earned in the U.S.  
In the same periods, approximately 29%, 34% and 31%, respectively, of total operating revenues were earned in international 
locations.  In addition to the U.S., we currently have customers in Brazil, Colombia, India, Mexico, Spain and Suriname.

The primary users of our helicopter services are international, independent and major integrated oil and gas exploration, 
development and production companies.  Our customers include Anadarko Petroleum Corporation (“Anadarko”), Petroleo 
Brasileiro S.A. (“Petrobras”) and the Bureau of Safety and Environmental Enforcement (“BSEE”), a U.S. government agency.  In 
the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, approximately 95%, 91% and 88%, respectively, of our operating revenues 
were derived from helicopter services, including emergency response services, provided to customers primarily engaged in offshore 
oil and gas exploration, development and production activities and U.S. government agencies that oversee these activities.  
Accordingly, our results of operations are, to a large extent, tied to the level of offshore exploration, development and production 
activity by oil and gas companies in the Americas, including the U.S. Gulf of Mexico and Brazil.  In addition to serving the oil 
and gas industry, we provide utility services to support firefighting and pipeline survey activities, among other activities. 

We also lease helicopters to third parties and foreign affiliates and, in some cases, provide services such as logistical and 
maintenance support, training and flight and maintenance crews in addition to the helicopters.  These third parties and affiliates 
in turn provide helicopter services to customers in their local markets, many of which include oil and gas exploration, development 
and production companies.  Under these leasing arrangements, operational responsibility is typically assumed by the lessee, 
eliminating, in large part, the need for us to incur the investment costs for infrastructure in the location the helicopters are utilized.

In certain countries where we believe it is beneficial to access the local market for offshore helicopter support, we conduct 
our operations through subsidiaries, strategic alliances with foreign partners or through joint ventures with local shareholders.  In 
Brazil, we hold a 50% economic and 20% voting interest in Aeróleo Taxi Aéreo S/A (“Aeróleo”), a helicopter transport service 
provider to the offshore oil and gas industry headquartered in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil.  Aeróleo is consolidated in our financial 
statements as it is a variable interest entity of which we are the primary beneficiary.  In Colombia, we hold a 75% interest in Sicher 
Helicopters SAS (“Sicher”), a leading helicopter operator based in Bogota, Colombia with a strong presence in the existing onshore 
oil and gas market.  Sicher is also consolidated in our financial statements.

We provide additional services through joint ventures that complement our core helicopter operating and leasing activities.  
We hold a 50% interest in our Dart Holding Company Ltd. (“Dart”) joint venture, which is a sales and manufacturing organization 
based in Canada that engineers and manufactures after-market helicopter parts and accessories for sale to helicopter manufacturers 
and operators and distributes parts and accessories on behalf of other manufacturers.

Era Group’s principal executive office is located at 818 Town & Country Blvd., Suite 200, Houston, Texas  77024, and 
its telephone number is (713) 369-4700.  Era Group’s website address is www.erahelicopters.com.  The reference to Era Group’s 
website is not intended to incorporate the information on the website into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Our Strategy

Our goal is to be the most efficient helicopter operator in the industry and to pursue additional business opportunities 
that leverage our strengths.  Our operational, commercial and capital allocation strategies to achieve this goal are as follows:

Be the preferred provider of helicopter services in the Americas.  The primary focus of our business operations is the 
provision of safe, reliable and efficient helicopter services to our valued customers.  We believe our customers consider safety and 
reliability as the two primary attributes required of their helicopter service providers.  We are a founding member of HeliOffshore 
Ltd. (“HeliOffshore”), a global offshore helicopter industry safety association, and we continue to maintain a leadership role in 
the organization, which uses cross-industry cooperation as a platform for enhancing the industry’s overall strong safety record by 
sharing best practices, developing and applying advanced technology and encouraging common global flight standards.  Amongst 
the helicopter service operators who meet their safety and reliability requirements, we believe customers usually make their 
selection of a provider based on aircraft availability, quality and location of facilities, customer service and pricing.  We maintain 
16 bases of operations in the Americas to support our customer needs, including a 35-acre super base in Houma, Louisiana that 
is one of the premier heliports servicing the Gulf of Mexico offering state-of-the-art technology, security screening and passenger 
processing and comfort to our passengers and employees.  We maintain a close partnership with our customers to better enable 
us to anticipate their needs, enhance customer service, better manage our fleet utilization and inform our capital allocation decisions.

Pursue additional leasing opportunities.  We believe the various leasing solutions that we offer to other helicopter 
operators permit us to monetize demand from end markets that we may not otherwise have access to without a further investment 
in infrastructure and/or operations.  There is intense competition in the leasing market as a result of, among other things, specialized 
helicopter leasing companies.  We believe customers look to us for a variety of leasing solutions because of our fleet diversity, 
including selection of light, medium and heavy helicopters to meet customer needs, and our ability as an operator to provide related 
services such as training, maintenance support and temporary ground and flight crews, which differentiates us from the financial 
leasing companies.  During 2018, we began leasing helicopters and providing related support services to a new customer that 
provides helicopter services in Mexico.

Continue to upgrade our versatile helicopter fleet to enhance fleet utilization and facilitate fleet management.  We are 
one of the largest helicopter operators in the world, operating a diverse and technologically advanced fleet of helicopters.  We 
seek to enhance our fleet through the acquisition of new helicopter models and the installation of newer and safer technologies.  
An integral part of our fleet strategy is premised upon maintaining well-qualified and well-trained maintenance, ground and flight 
crews to service our fleet.  We regularly review our asset portfolio by assessing market conditions and our customers’ demand for 
different helicopter models.  We buy, sell and lease our equipment in the ordinary course of our business.  We believe our strong 
relationships with the helicopter original equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”) help us maintain an asset base suitable for use within 
our own operations and for a variety of leasing solutions to other operators.  We have ordered and maintain options on a number 
of new helicopters from the OEMs.  As of December 31, 2018, we have flexible orders to take delivery of three AW189 heavy 
helicopters and five AW169 light twin helicopters.  These new helicopter models will enhance our fleet diversity and better enable 
us to meet customers’ needs.  In order to maintain the flexibility required to address changing industry and market conditions that 
impact the supply and demand for our services and our customer needs, we retain the ability to terminate a significant portion of 
our commitments to purchase new helicopters subject to specified minimal liquidated damages.

Expand into new and growing geographic markets.  We believe there are significant opportunities in markets outside 
of the U.S., and we selectively seek to access these growth markets.  In addition to our 50% economic interest in Aeróleo in Brazil 
and 75% interest in Sicher in Colombia, we continue to develop relationships in targeted markets that we believe are underserved 
by larger multinational helicopter operators, which may benefit from our unique offering of services and expertise and provide us 
with opportunities for growth.  As we seek to grow our business, we regularly evaluate new opportunities and entry into new 
markets through operating contracts, leases, acquisitions, joint venture investments and alliances with other industry participants.

Maximize shareholder value.  We proactively manage our fleet as a portfolio of assets, and we plan our capital allocation 
with a focus on achieving business growth and improving rates of return, taking into careful account our balance sheet, liquidity 
and risk management. We continuously evaluate and optimize our fleet utilization, and as helicopters come off of current contracts 
or are replaced by newer models, we assess our future opportunities for such helicopters against our ability to recover our remaining 
investments in the secondary helicopter market.  When appropriate, we may divest helicopters when such actions provide the 
highest expected shareholder return and often upgrade our fleet by reinvesting the proceeds in newer helicopters, such as the  
AW189 helicopter model.  In addition, we pursue opportunities that leverage our fleet’s versatility by shifting assets between 
markets when circumstances warrant.

We will continue to build upon the expertise, relationships and buying power in our operating businesses to develop other 
business opportunities and sources of revenue. 

19_0410_Era_2018 10-K.indd   4 4/10/19   9:47 PM



5 6

5

Equipment and Services 

We own and operate three classes of helicopters:

• Heavy helicopters, which have twin engines and a typical passenger capacity of 16 to 19, are primarily used in support
of the deepwater offshore oil and gas industry, frequently in harsh environments or in areas with long distances from
shore, such as those in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico, Brazil, Australia and the North Sea.  Heavy helicopters are also used
to support emergency response search and rescue (“SAR”) operations.

• Medium helicopters, which have twin engines and a typical passenger capacity of 11 to 12, are primarily used to
support the offshore oil and gas industry, emergency response services, utility services and corporate uses.

• Light helicopters, which may have single or twin engines and a typical passenger capacity of four to nine, are used
to support a wide range of activities, including the shallow water oil and gas industry, utility services and corporate
uses.

As of December 31, 2018, we owned a total of 108 helicopters, consisting of nine heavy helicopters, 46 medium 
helicopters, 23 light twin engine helicopters and 30 light single engine helicopters. We had commitments to purchase eight new 
helicopters consisting of three AW189 helicopters and five AW169 helicopters.  The AW189 helicopters are scheduled to be 
delivered in 2019 and 2020.  Delivery dates for the AW169 helicopters have not been determined.  In addition, we have outstanding 
options to purchase up to an additional ten AW189 helicopters.  If these options were exercised, the helicopters would be delivered 
in 2020 and 2021. 

As of December 31, 2018, 82 of our helicopters were located in the U.S. and 26 were located in foreign jurisdictions. 
We own and control all 108 of our helicopers.

The following table identifies the types of helicopters that comprise our fleet and the number of those helicopters in our 
fleet as of December 31, 2018.

Helicopters
Max.

Pass.(1)
Cruise
Speed

Approx.
Range

Average
Age

(mph) (miles) (years)

Heavy:
S92 4 19 175 620 3
H225 1 19 162 582 11
AW189 4 16 173 490 2

9

Medium:
AW139 36 12 173 426 9
S76 C+/C++ 5 12 161 348 12
B212 5 11 115 299 40

46

Light—twin engine:
A109 7 7 161 405 13
EC135 13 7 138 288 10
BO105 3 4 138 276 29

23

Light—single engine:
A119 13 7 161 270 12
AS350 17 5 138 361 21

30
Total Fleet 108 13

_______________
(1) In typical configuration for our operations.
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The management of our fleet involves a careful evaluation of the expected demand for helicopter services across global 
markets and the types of helicopters needed to meet this demand.  As offshore oil and gas exploration, development and production 
moves to deeper water, more heavy and medium helicopters and newer technology helicopters may be required.  Our orders and 
options to purchase helicopters are primarily for heavy helicopters.  These capital commitments reflect our effort to meet customer 
demand for helicopters suitable for the deepwater market. 

Heavy and medium helicopters fly longer distances at higher speeds and can carry heavier payloads than light helicopters 
and are usually equipped with sophisticated avionics permitting them to operate in more demanding weather conditions and difficult 
climates.  Heavy and medium helicopters are most commonly used for crew changes on large offshore production facilities and 
drilling rigs servicing the oil and gas industry.

Aviation Operating Certificates 

In the U.S., we provide and operate helicopters under contracts using a Federal Aviation Administration (“FAA”) issued 
Part 135 Air Operator’s Certificate (“AOC”) for a variety of activities, primarily offshore oil and gas exploration, development 
and production, emergency response services and utility services.  For operating contracts, we are required to provide a complete 
support package including flight crews, helicopter maintenance and management of flight operations. 

In international markets, local regulatory requirements may require us to partner with another operator, through an alliance 
or joint venture, who maintains an AOC complaint with the local regulatory requirements.  When we lease helicopters to customers 
that operate them on their own AOC, our customers generally handle all the operational support except where our contracts require 
us to provide limited operational support, which may consist of helicopter maintenance, logistical support, personnel and/or 
training.

Markets

The current principal markets for our transportation and emergency response services to the offshore oil and gas 
exploration, development and production industry are in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico, Brazil and Colombia.  In addition, we currently 
have customers in India, Mexico, Spain, and Suriname.

Demand for helicopters in support of offshore oil and gas exploration, development and production, both in the U.S. and 
internationally, is affected by the level of offshore exploration and drilling activities.  Activity levels in the offshore oil and gas 
industry, in turn, are affected by prevailing oil and gas prices, expectations about future prices, price volatility, long-term trends 
in oil and gas prices and capital spending decisions by oil and gas companies.  Historically, the prices for oil and gas and, 
consequently, the level of activity in the offshore oil and gas industry, have been volatile and subject to wide fluctuations in response 
to changes in the supply of and demand for oil and gas, market uncertainty and a variety of additional factors beyond our control, 
such as:

• customer assessments of offshore drilling prospects compared with land-based opportunities, including oil sands 
and shale formations; 

• customer assessments of cost, geological opportunity and political stability in host countries; 
• worldwide supply of and demand for oil and natural gas; 
• the price and availability of alternative fuels;
• the ability of The Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries (“OPEC”) to set and maintain production levels 

and pricing;
• the level of production of non-OPEC countries; 
• the relative exchange rates for the U.S. dollar; and 
• various U.S. and international government policies regarding exploration and development of oil and gas reserves.

U.S. Markets. We are one of the largest suppliers of helicopter services in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico, which is a major 
offshore oil and gas exploration, development and production region and one of the largest oil and gas aviation markets in the 
world.  We operate from 10 bases in this region.  Our client base in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico consists primarily of international, 
independent and major integrated oil and gas companies and the U.S. government.  In addition to the quality and location of our 
operating bases, our strengths in this region include our advanced proprietary flight-following systems, our maintenance operations 
and our emergency response services.

International Markets. We actively market our services globally and currently have customers in Brazil, Colombia, India, 
Mexico, Spain and Suriname.

Brazil.  Brazil has one of the largest deepwater offshore exploration, development and production areas in the world. In 
2011, we acquired a 50% economic interest and 20% voting interest in Aeróleo.  Aeróleo currently operates from a network of 
three operating bases located strategically in Brazil.  Aeróleo’s main customer is Petrobras.
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Colombia.  In 2015, we acquired a 75% interest in Sicher. Sicher provides helicopter services to Colombia’s existing 
onshore and expanding offshore oil and gas market.

Latin America.  In addition to our operations in Brazil and Colombia, we operate helicopters in Suriname, and we lease 
helicopters and provide logistics and other support to an operator in Mexico.

India.  In India, we lease helicopters and provide logistics and spare parts support to an operator serving the offshore oil 
and gas industry.

Spain.  We lease helicopters and provide logistics and spare parts support to an operator in Spain.

Seasonality

A significant portion of our operating revenues and profits related to oil and gas exploration, development and production 
activity is dependent on actual flight hours.  The fall and winter months have fewer hours of daylight, and flight hours are generally 
lower at these times.  Prolonged periods of adverse weather in the fall and winter months, coupled with the effect of fewer hours 
of daylight, can adversely impact operating results.  In general, the months of December through February in the U.S. Gulf of 
Mexico have more days of adverse weather conditions than the other months of the year.  In the U.S. Gulf of Mexico, June through 
November is tropical storm season.  During a tropical storm, we are unable to operate in the area of the storm.  However, flight 
activity may increase immediately before and after a storm due to the evacuation and return of offshore workers. There is less 
seasonality in our dry-leasing and emergency response services. 

Customers and Contractual Arrangements

Our principal customers in the markets in which we operate are international, independent and major integrated oil and 
gas exploration, development and production companies.  In the U.S. Gulf of Mexico, we also provide helicopter transportation 
services to BSEE.  Our leasing customers are typically other helicopter operators that operate our leased helicopters under their 
AOCs and retain the operating risk.  These companies in turn provide helicopter transportation services primarily to oil and gas 
companies.  As of December 31, 2018, approximately 9% of our helicopters were utilized in support of these leasing activities. 

During the year ended December 31, 2018, our top ten customers accounted for approximately 91% of total revenues. 
During each of the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, each of Anadarko, Petrobras and BSEE accounted for 10% 
or more of our total revenues.

We charter the majority of our helicopters primarily through master service agreements, subscription agreements, day-
to-day charter arrangements, fixed-term noncancelable contracts and dry-leases.  Master service agreements and subscription 
agreements typically require a fixed monthly fee plus incremental payments based on flight hours flown.  These agreements have 
fixed terms ranging from one month to five years and generally may be canceled without penalty upon 30-120 days’ notice. 
Customarily, these contracts do not commit our customers to acquire specific amounts of services or minimum flight hours and 
permit our customers to decrease the number of helicopters under contract with a corresponding decrease in the fixed monthly 
payments without penalty.  Day-to-day charter arrangements require either a rate for each hour flown with a minimum number of 
hours to be charged or a daily fixed fee plus an hourly rate based on hours flown.  The rate structure, as it applies to our contracts 
with oil and gas customers, typically contains terms that limit our exposure to changes in fuel costs. Leases generally run from 
one to five years and may contain early cancellation provisions.  Under these leases, we may provide only the equipment or provide 
additional services such as logistical and maintenance support, training services and flight and maintenance crews.

Competitive Conditions

The helicopter industry is highly competitive.  However, the certification process, capital costs, long-standing customer 
relationships and limited operational sites help our competitive position.  Customers tend to rely heavily on existing relationships 
and seek operators with established safety records and knowledge of the operating environment.  In most instances, an operator 
must have an acceptable safety record, demonstrated reliability and suitable equipment to bid for work.  Upon bidders meeting 
these criteria, customers typically make their final choice based on helicopter preference, aircraft availability, the quality and 
location of operating bases, customer service and price.

In the U.S. Gulf of Mexico, we have many competitors, including, among others, Bristow Group Inc. (“Bristow”), PHI, 
Inc. (“PHI”) and Rotorcraft Leasing Company LLC.  Some oil and gas customers in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico operate their own 
helicopter fleets, in addition to smaller companies that offer services similar to ours.  In international markets, we have several 
major competitors depending on the region.  Our primary competitors in Brazil, among others, include, Lider Aviação Holding 
S.A., OMNI Táxi Aéreo Ltda., and Brazilian Helicopter Services Taxi Aéreo Ltda.
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Our leasing business competes against financial leasing companies such as Lease Corporation International (Aviation) 
Limited (“LCI”), Lobo Leasing Limited (“Lobo”), Macquarie Rotocraft Leasing Limited (“Macquarie”), Milestone Aviation Group 
Limited (“Milestone”) and Waypoint Leasing Limited (“Waypoint”).

Government Regulation

Regulatory Matters.  Our operations are subject to significant federal, state and local regulations in the U.S., as well as 
international treaties and conventions and the laws of foreign jurisdictions where we operate our equipment or where the equipment 
is registered or operated.  Our results of operations are dependent upon our ability to maintain compliance with all applicable laws 
in the jurisdictions in which we operate.

In the U.S., we hold the status of an air carrier under the relevant provisions of Title 49 of the United States Transportation 
Code (“Transportation Code”) and engage in the operating and leasing of helicopters in the U.S. and, as such, we are subject to 
various statutes and regulations.  We are governed principally by the regulations of the United States Department of Transportation 
(“DOT”), including Part 298 registration as an On-Demand Air Taxi Operator, and the regulations of the FAA applicable to an 
FAA Part 135 Air Taxi certificate holder.  Among other things, the DOT regulates our status as an air carrier, including our U.S. 
citizenship.  The FAA regulates our flight operations and, in this respect, has jurisdiction over our personnel, helicopters, ground 
facilities and certain technical aspects of our operations.  In addition to the FAA, the National Transportation Safety Board is 
authorized to investigate our helicopter accidents (if any) and to recommend improved safety standards.  We are also subject to 
the Communications Act of 1934, as amended, because of the use of radio facilities in our operations. 

Helicopters operating in the U.S. are subject to registration, and their owners are subject to citizenship requirements under 
the Federal Aviation Act.  This Act generally requires that before a helicopter may be legally operated in the U.S., it must be owned 
by citizens of the U.S., which, in the case of a corporation, means a corporation: (i) organized under the laws of the U.S. or of a 
state, territory or possession thereof, (ii) of which at least 75% of its voting interests are owned or controlled by persons who are 
“U.S. citizens” (as defined in the Federal Aviation Act and regulations promulgated thereunder), and (iii) of which the president 
and at least two-thirds of the board of directors and managing officers are U.S. citizens.  We have adopted provisions in our 
amended and restated Certificate of Incorporation to ensure compliance with the regulations of the FAA.

In Brazil, an operator must be licensed by the National Agency for Civil Aviation.  The aviation licensing requirements 
in Brazil are in a period of transition because of action undertaken by the President of the Republic through the enactment of 
Provisional Measure No. 863 (“PM 863/18”).  PM 863/18 revoked the long-existing limitation in Brazil, which prohibited foreign 
investors from owning more than twenty percent (20%) of the voting capital of a Brazilian aviation operator.  Given the provisional 
nature of PM 863/18, the National Congress of Brazil is required to vote and approve such measure within sixty (60) days after 
its publication for it to remain effective in the Brazilian Aeronautical Code.  However, if not approved in such time period, the 
relaxing of the ownership requirements for an aviation license set forth in PM 863/18, shall cease to exist, and impose the 20% 
voting ownership restrictions outlined above.  

Despite the potential changes in the ownership requirements outlined above, the Company’s current operations in Brazil 
are structured to comply with the 20% voting ownership restrictions imposed under the Brazilian Aeronautical Code.  As such, 
the majority holder of voting shares in Aeróleo is a Brazilian national, and therefore this subsidiary is currently controlled by 
Brazilian nationals within the meaning of Brazil licensing requirements.  Our ability to conduct our helicopter operating business 
in Brazil is dependent on our ability to maintain Aeróleo’s AOC.

In Colombia, the Civil Aviation Authority, Aerocivil, is the governmental entity which regulates the air transportation in 
the country.  Operators must be approved by this entity and regulated under the RAC (Colombian Aviation Regulations). Operators 
must have an Operations Certificate issued by the Aerocivil complying with all the regulatory matters and subject to frequent 
revisions and monitoring. Sicher operates under its Operations Certificate, issued in August 2008.

We are subject to state and local laws and regulations including, but not limited to, significant state regulations for our 
emergency response services.  In addition, our international operations, primarily helicopter leasing and our joint ventures, are 
required to comply with the laws and regulations in the jurisdictions in which they conduct business. 

Environmental Compliance.  Our business is subject to international and U.S. federal, state and local laws and regulations 
relating to environmental protection and occupational safety and health, including laws and regulations that govern the discharge 
of oil and pollutants into navigable waters.  If we fail to comply with these environmental laws and regulations, administrative, 
civil and criminal penalties may be imposed, and we may become subject to regulatory enforcement actions in the form of 
injunctions and cease and desist orders. We may also be subject to civil claims arising out of a pollution event. These laws and 
regulations may expose us to strict, joint and several liability for the conduct of or conditions caused by others or for our own acts 
even though these actions were in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations at the time they were performed. To date, 
such laws and regulations have not had a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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These laws include the federal Water Pollution Control Act, also known as the Clean Water Act, which imposes restrictions 
on the discharge of pollutants to the navigable waters of the U.S.  In addition, because our operations generate and, in some cases, 
involve the transportation of hazardous wastes, we are subject to the federal Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, which 
regulates the use, generation, transportation, treatment, storage and disposal of certain hazardous and non-hazardous wastes.  Under 
the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act, referred to as CERCLA or the Superfund law, and 
certain comparable state laws, strict, joint and several liability can be imposed without regard to fault or the legality of the original 
conduct on certain classes of persons that contributed to the release of a hazardous substance into the environment. These persons 
include the owner and operator of a contaminated site where a hazardous substance release occurred and any company that 
transported, disposed of or arranged for the transport or disposal of hazardous substances, even from inactive operations or closed 
facilities that have been released into the environment. In addition, neighboring landowners or other third parties may file claims 
for personal injury, property damage and recovery of response cost. We own, lease, or operate properties and facilities that, in 
some cases, have been used for industrial activities for many years. Hazardous substances, wastes, or hydrocarbons may have 
been released on or under the properties owned or leased by us, or on or under other locations where such substances have been 
taken for disposal. In addition, some of these properties have been operated by third parties or by previous owners whose treatment, 
storage and disposal or release of such substances was not under our control. These properties and the substances disposed or 
released on them may be subject to CERCLA and analogous state laws. Under such laws, we could be required to remove previously 
disposed substances and wastes, remediate contaminated property, or perform remedial activities to prevent future contamination.

In addition, our customers in the oil and gas exploration, development and production industry are affected by 
environmental laws and regulations that restrict their activities and may result in reduced demand for our services.

We believe that our operations are currently in material compliance with all environmental laws and regulations.  We do 
not expect that we will be required to make capital expenditures in the near future that are material to our financial position or 
operations to comply with environmental laws and regulations; however, because such laws and regulations are frequently changing 
and may impose stricter requirements, we cannot predict the ultimate cost of complying with these laws and regulations.

We manage exposure to losses from the above-described laws and regulations through our efforts to use only well-
maintained, well-managed and well-equipped facilities and equipment and our development of safety and environmental programs, 
including our insurance program.  We believe these efforts will be able to accommodate all reasonably foreseeable environmental 
regulatory changes.  There can be no assurance, however, that any future laws, regulations or requirements, or that any discharge 
or emission of pollutants by us will not have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position or our results of operations.

Safety, Industry Hazards and Insurance

The safety of our passengers and the maintenance of a safe working environment for our employees is our number one 
operational priority and core value.  We have a strong safety culture throughout our organization that is sponsored by our President 
and Chief Executive Officer, who is responsible for setting the tone at the top.  We strive to exceed the stringent safety and 
performance audit standards set by aviation regulatory bodies and our customers, and we are a founding member of HeliOffshore, 
a collective group of industry participants who seek to promote safer operations.

Our safety, legal and compliance departments oversee our compliance with government regulations, customer safety 
requirements and safety standards within our organization, the standardization of our base operating procedures and the proper 
training of our employees.  A key to maintaining our strong safety record is having highly qualified, experienced and well trained 
employees.  We conduct extensive training and develop, implement, monitor and continuously improve our safety programs to 
promote a safe working environment and minimize hazards.

We target zero accidents and injuries in the workplace.  Helicopter operations are potentially hazardous and may result 
in incidents or accidents.  Hazards such as adverse weather conditions, collisions, fires and mechanical failures may result in death 
or injury to personnel, damage to equipment and other environmental or property damage.

We have implemented a safety program that includes, among many other features, (i) transition and recurrent training 
using full-motion flight simulators and other flight training devices, (ii) an FAA approved flight operational quality assurance 
program (“FOQA”) and (iii) health and usage monitoring systems (“HUMS”), which automatically monitor and report on vibrations 
and other anomalies on key components of certain helicopters in our fleet.
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Employees

As of December 31, 2018, we employed 693 individuals, including 181 pilots and 190 mechanics.  We consider our 
relations with our employees to be good.  Certain of our employees in Brazil (approximately 28% of our total workforce) are 
covered by union or other collective bargaining agreements.  If we are involved in any disputes over the terms of these collective 
bargaining agreements and are unable to negotiate acceptable contract terms with the unions that represent our employees, it could 
result in strikes, work stoppages or other slowdowns, higher labor costs or other conditions that could materially adversely affect 
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Where You Can Find More Information

We are required to file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the U.S. 
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”).  Unless otherwise stated herein, these filings are not deemed to be incorporated 
by reference in this report.  All of our filings with the SEC will be available once filed, free of charge, on our website, including 
our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, Proxy Statements on Form 
DEF-14A and any amendments to those reports.  These reports and amendments will be available on our website as soon as 
reasonably practicable after we electronically file the reports or amendments with the SEC.  The reference to our website is not 
intended to incorporate the information on the website into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  In addition, our Corporate Governance 
Guidelines and other policies, and the Board of Directors’ Audit Committee, Compensation Committee and Nominating and 
Corporate Governance Committee charters are available, free of charge, on our website or in print for stockholders. 

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Our business, results of operations, financial condition, liquidity, cash flow and prospects may be materially and adversely 
affected by numerous risks and uncertainties. Although it is not possible to predict or identify all such risks and uncertainties, they 
may include, but are not limited to, the risks and uncertainties described below.  These risks and uncertainties represent some of 
the more critical risk factors that affect us, in addition to the other information that has been provided in this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K. Our business operations or actual results could also be similarly impacted by additional risks and uncertainties that 
are not currently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial to our operations.

Risk Factors Related to Our Customers and Contracts

Demand for many of our services is impacted by the level of activity in the offshore oil and gas exploration, development and 
production industry.

In the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, approximately 95%, 91% and 88%, respectively, of our operating 
revenues were generated by providing services to companies primarily engaged in offshore oil and gas exploration, development 
and production activities.  Additionally, our leasing customers typically provide services to oil and gas companies in their respective 
local markets.  As a result, demand for our services and utilization of our fleet, and thereby our revenue, profitability and results 
of operations, are significantly impacted by levels of activity in the offshore oil and gas industry.  These levels of activity have 
historically been volatile, and the volatility is likely to continue in future periods.  To varying degrees, activity levels in the offshore 
oil and gas industry are affected by prevailing oil and gas prices, expectations about future prices, price volatility and long-term 
trends in oil and gas prices.  Historically, the prices for oil and gas, and consequently, the levels of activity in the offshore oil and 
gas exploration, development and production sectors, have been subject to wide fluctuations in response to changes in the supply 
of and demand for oil and gas, market uncertainty and a variety of additional factors beyond our control, such as: 

• general economic conditions;
• actions of the OPEC and other oil producing countries to control prices or change production levels;
• the price and availability of alternative fuels;
• assessments of offshore drilling prospects compared with land-based opportunities that do not generally require our

services;
• the costs of exploration, development and production and delivery of oil and natural gas offshore;
• expectations about future supply and demand for oil and gas;
• availability and rates of discovery of new oil and natural gas reserves in offshore areas, as well as on land;
• federal, state, local and international political conditions, and policies including those with respect to local content

requirements and the exploration and development of oil and gas reserves;
• uncertainty or instability resulting from an escalation or additional outbreak of armed hostilities or other crises in

the Middle East or other geographic areas, or further acts of terrorism in the U.S. or elsewhere;
• technological advancements affecting exploration, development and production of oil and gas and energy

consumption;
• weather conditions;
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• government regulation, including environmental regulation and drilling regulation, permitting and concessions;
• regulation of drilling activities and the availability of drilling permits and concessions and environmental regulation;

and
• the ability of oil and natural gas companies to generate funds or otherwise obtain capital required for offshore oil

and gas exploration, development and production and their capital expenditures budgets.

Beginning in mid-2014, oil and natural gas prices decreased, and they remain well below levels realized prior to the 
market downturn that began in 2014.  This prolonged period of depressed  oil and gas prices and significant volatility reduced the 
demand for our services and utilization of our fleet, which has adversely affected our business, financial condition and results of 
operations.  We cannot predict future oil and gas price movements.  Any continuation of the lower oil and gas price environment 
or exacerbation thereof could further depress the level of helicopter activity in support of exploration and, to a lesser extent, 
production activity, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.  No 
assurance can be given that the recent decline of oil and gas prices will not continue to adversely affect offshore exploration or 
production operations, or that our operations will not continue to be adversely affected.

Additionally, the level of activity in offshore oil and gas exploration, development and production is affected by the 
relative economics of and resultant level of activity in land-based oil and gas exploration, development and production.  In recent 
years, there has been a significant focus on and increase in production from North American shale reservoirs, which has been 
facilitated by hydraulic fracturing and other technologies.  The availability of more economical oil and gas reserves, including, if 
applicable, North American shale reservoirs, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results 
of operations.

The offshore helicopter services industry is cyclical.

The offshore helicopter services industry has historically been cyclical and is affected by the volatility of oil and gas price 
levels, fluctuations in government programs and spending and general economic conditions.  There have been, and in the future 
may continue to be, periods of high demand followed by periods of low demand for our services.  Changes in commodity prices 
can have a significant effect on demand for our services, and periods of low activity intensify price competition in the industry 
and could result in our helicopters being idle, or operating at reduced margins, for long periods of time.  A prolonged significant 
downturn in oil and natural gas prices, or increased regulation containing onerous compliance requirements is likely to cause a 
substantial decline in expenditures for exploration, development and production activity, which could result in a decline in demand 
and lower rates for our services. Similarly, the government agencies with which we do business could face budget cuts, funding 
deficits or limit spending, which would also result in a decline in demand and lower rates for our services. These changes could 
materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The implementation by our customers of cost-saving measures could reduce the demand for our services.

Companies in the oil and gas exploration and production industry are continually seeking to implement measures aimed 
at cost savings, especially during times of depressed oil and gas pricing. In addition to curtailing exploration and development 
activities, measures taken by our customers to improve efficiencies and reduce costs may include reducing headcount, finding 
less expensive means for moving personnel offshore, changing rotations for personnel working offshore, pooling helicopter services 
among operators and requesting rate reductions or pricing concessions. Such measures are some, but not all, of the possible cost-
saving initiatives that could result in reduced demand for, or pricing of, our helicopter transport services. In addition, customers 
may choose to establish their own helicopter operations or utilize other transportation alternatives, such as marine transport. The 
continued implementation of these kinds of cost-saving measures could reduce the demand or prevailing prices for our services 
and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We rely on a limited number of customers for a significant share of our revenues, the loss of any of which could materially 
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

We derive a significant portion of our revenues from a limited number of oil and gas exploration, development and 
production companies and government agencies.  Specifically, services provided to Anadarko, Petrobras and U.S. government 
agencies accounted for approximately 31%, 23% and 15% of our revenues, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2018. 
The portion of our revenues attributable to any single customer may change over time, depending on the level of activity by any 
such customer, our ability to meet the customer’s needs and other factors, many of which are beyond our control.  The loss or 
reduction of business from any of our significant customers, if not offset by sales to new or existing customers, could have a 
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Further, to the extent any of our customers or the customers of companies to whom we lease helicopters experience an 
extended period of operational or financial difficulty, we could face significant counterparty credit risk or such customers could 
terminate our services generally with the requirement to pay little or no liquidating damages.  The occurrence of either of these 
events could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.  
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Consolidation of and asset sales affecting our customer base could materially adversely affect demand for our services and 
reduce our revenues.

Many of our customers are international, independent and major integrated oil and gas exploration, development and 
production companies.  In recent years, these companies have undergone substantial consolidation and engaged in sales of specific 
assets, and additional consolidation and asset sales are possible.  In addition, since 2014 a number of oil and gas exploration, 
development and production companies have filed for bankruptcy or similar protections in the U.S. and other jurisdictions and/
or have restructured by acquiring, selling or otherwise disposing of assets resulting in further industry consolidation.  Consolidation 
results in fewer companies to charter or contract for our services.  In the event one of our customers combines with, or sells assets 
to, a company that is using the services of one of our competitors, the combined or successor company could decide to use the 
services of that competitor or another provider. Further, merger activity among both major and independent oil and natural gas 
companies affects exploration, development and production activity as the consolidated companies often put projects on hold 
while integrating operations.  Consolidation may also result in an exploration and development budget for a combined company 
that is lower than the total budget of both companies before consolidation.  Reductions in the budgets of oil and gas companies 
could adversely affect demand for our services that could result in a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition 
and results of operations.

Our customers include U.S. government agencies that are dependent on budget appropriations, which may fluctuate and, as 
a result, limit their ability to use our services.

U.S. government agencies, consisting primarily of BSEE, are among our key customers and accounted for approximately 
15% of our revenues for the year ended December 31, 2018.  Government agencies receive funding through budget appropriations, 
which are determined through the political process, and as a result, funding for the agencies with which we do business may 
fluctuate.  In recent years, there has been increased Congressional scrutiny of discretionary program spending by the U.S. 
government in light of concerns over the size of the national debt and lawmakers have discussed the need to cut or impose caps 
on discretionary spending, which could result in budget cuts to federal agencies to which we provide services.  If any of these 
agencies, and in particular BSEE, experience reductions in their budgets or if they change their spending priorities, their ability 
or willingness to spend on helicopter services may decline, and they may substantially reduce or cease using our services, which 
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.  In addition, a prolonged 
shutdown of the federal government would, in turn, cause a shutdown of these agencies which could have an adverse effect on 
our business and results of operations.

Our industry is subject to intense competition.

The helicopter industry is highly competitive.  Contracting for helicopter services is often done through a competitive 
bidding process among those operators having an acceptable safety record, demonstrated reliability, requisite equipment for the 
job and sufficient resources to provide coverage when primary equipment comes out of service for maintenance.  Customers 
typically make their final choice based on aircraft availability, quality and location of facilities, customer service and price.  If we 
are unable to satisfy the criteria to participate in bids or are otherwise unable to compete effectively, our business, financial condition 
and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

In certain of our international markets where foreign regulations may require that contracts be awarded to local companies 
owned or controlled by nationals, we participate as a non-controlling equity owner in the entity responding to the bid.  These third 
party local bidding companies may not be able to win these bids for reasons unrelated to us, our safety record, reliability, or 
equipment.  Accordingly, we may lose potential business, which may be significant, for reasons beyond our control.

We compete against a number of helicopter operators, including other major global helicopter operators such as Bristow 
and CHC Group Ltd.  In the U.S., we face competition for business in the oil and gas industry from various operators, including: 
Bristow, PHI and Rotorcraft Leasing Company, LLC.  In our international markets, we also face competition from local operators 
in countries where foreign regulations may require that contracts be awarded to local companies owned or controlled by nationals 
or from operators that are more recognized in some of those markets.  There can be no assurance that our competitors will not be 
successful in capturing a share of our present or potential customer base.  We also face potential competition from customers that 
establish their own flight departments and smaller operators with access to capital that can expand their fleets and operate more 
sophisticated and costly equipment. In addition, helicopter leasing companies, such as LCI, Lobo, Macquarie, Milestone and
Waypoint, provide offerings that compete with, and could capture a share of, our leasing opportunities to third parties.  Our 
competitors with lower capital costs, including those that may enter bankruptcy and emerge with a more efficient capital structure 
and lower operating costs, may benefit from a competitive advantage permitting them to offer lease rates for helicopters and/or 
services that are more attractive than those we can offer.  We also compete with other providers of emergency response and utility 
services in various markets.
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Certain customer contracts are awarded through competitive processes that may require us to expend significant resources 
with no guaranty of recoupment.

Certain customers award contracts helicopter services through an aggressive competitive bidding process and intense 
negotiations.  Customers typically make their final choice based on the best price for the required helicopter model that is available 
within the time frame mandated by their needs.  In order to successfully compete in such processes and facilitate timely 
commencement of operations in compliance with customer requirements, we may invest substantial time, money, and effort, 
including proposal development and marketing activities, required to prepare bids and proposals for contracts that may not be 
awarded to us or for processes that may be canceled prior to the execution of contracts.

Due to the intense competition in our markets and increasing customer demand for shorter delivery periods, even in cases 
where customers are not utilizing a competitive bidding process, we might be required to begin implementation of a project before 
the corresponding contract has been finalized.  If we do not succeed in winning a bid or securing an opportunity for any reason, 
we may obtain little or no benefit from the expenditures associated with pursuing such opportunity and may be unable to recoup 
expended resources on future projects.

The company has limited flexibility to negotiate terms in certain operating contracts

Many of our operating contracts and charter arrangements contain provisions permitting early termination by the customer 
for any reason, generally without penalty, and with limited notice requirements.  In addition, many of our contracts do not commit 
our customers to acquire specific amounts of services and permit them to decrease the number of helicopters under contract with 
a corresponding decrease in the fixed monthly payments without penalty.  These contract provisions may facilitate customer 
requests for rate reductions, pricing concessions and other favorable revisions to negotiated terms that may be available from our 
competitors, especially during a market downturn such as the one we are currently experiencing.  As a result, you should not place 
undue reliance on the strength of our customer contracts or the terms of those contracts.  The termination or modification of 
contracts by our significant customers or the decrease in such customers’ usage of our helicopter services could have a material 
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our operating agreements contain indemnity provisions relating to liabilities caused or assumed by us in connection with 
our operations.  Our customers’ changing views on risk allocation may cause us to accept greater risk to win new business or may 
result in our losing business if we are not prepared to assume such risks.  To the extent that we accept such additional risk, and 
seek to insure against it, if possible, our insurance premiums could rise.  If we cannot insure against such additional risks or 
otherwise choose not to do so, we could be exposed to catastrophic losses in the event such risks are realized that could have a 
materially adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our fixed operating expenses and long-term customer contracts could adversely affect our business, financial condition and 
results of operations under certain circumstances.

Our profitability is directly related to demand for our services.  A significant portion of our operating expenses that are 
related to crew wages and benefits, insurance and maintenance programs are fixed and must be paid even when our helicopters 
are not actively servicing customers and generating income.  A decrease in our revenues could therefore result in a disproportionate 
decrease in our earnings, as a substantial portion of our operating expenses would remain unchanged.  Similarly, the discontinuation 
of any rebates, discounts or preferential financing terms offered to us by manufacturers or suppliers would have the effect of 
increasing our fixed expenses, and without a corresponding increase in our revenues, could have a material adverse effect on our 
business, financial condition and results of operations.

Increases in supplier, fuel, labor, insurance, and other costs are typically passed through to our customers through rate 
increases where possible, including as a component of contract escalation charges.  However, certain of our contracts are long-
term in nature and may not have escalation provisions or escalation may be tied to an index, which may not commensurate with 
the associated costs.  These escalations may not be sufficient or we may not be able to realize the full benefit therefrom during a 
market downturn to enable us to recoup increased costs in full thereby resulting in lower margins.  There can be no assurance that 
we will be able to estimate costs accurately or recover increased costs by passing such costs on to our customers.  Further, we may 
not be successful in identifying or securing cost escalations for other costs that may escalate during the applicable customer contract 
term.  During a prolonged market downturn such as the one we are currently experiencing, we may not be able to realize the benefit 
of any such escalations as a result of customer pricing sensitivities, which could adversely affect the profitability of such contracts.  
In the event that we are unable to fully recover material costs that escalate during the terms of our customer contracts, the profitability 
of our customer contracts and our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affected.
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Risk Factors Related to Our Operations

Our operations involve a degree of inherent risk that may not be adequately covered by our insurance and may increase our 
costs and limit our ability to obtain insurance on commercially reasonable terms or at all.

The operation of helicopters is subject to various risks, including catastrophic disasters, crashes, collisions, adverse 
weather conditions, mechanical failures or damage to our facilities, which may result in loss of life, personal injury to employees 
and third parties, damage to property or equipment owned by us or others, loss of revenues, termination of customer contracts, 
fines, penalties, suspension  of operations, restrictions on conducting business, increased insurance costs, and damage to our 
reputation and customer relationships.  Our helicopters have been involved in accidents in the past, some of which included loss 
of life, personal injury and property damage.  We, or third parties operating our helicopters, may experience accidents or damage 
to our assets in the future.  These risks could endanger the safety of both our and our customers’ personnel, equipment, cargo and 
other property, as well as the environment.  If any of these events were to occur with equipment that we operate or lease to third 
parties, we could experience loss of revenue, termination of charter contracts, higher insurance rates and damage to our reputation 
and customer relationships.  In addition, to the extent an accident occurs with a helicopter we operate or by assets supporting our 
operations, we could be held liable for resulting damages.  The occurrence of any such incident could have a material adverse 
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, other operators may experience accidents or safety issues with a particular model of helicopter that we operate 
or lease. Where such an accident or safety issue with a particular model occurs, our customers, their employees or the unions to 
which our customer’s employees belong may refuse to use such model, a regulatory body may ground that particular model of 
helicopter or we may be forced to take such model out of service until the cause of the accident or concern is adequately addressed, 
any of which may result in a reduction of revenues and a loss of customers.  Further the market value of a helicopter model may 
be permanently reduced if such model were to be considered less desirable for future service, in which case the book value of 
inventory for such aircraft may be impaired.  

We carry insurance, including hull and liability, liability and war risk, general liability, workers’ compensation and other 
insurance customary in the industry in which we operate.  Our insurance coverage is subject to deductibles and maximum coverage 
amounts, the aggregate impact of which could be material.  Our insurance policies are also subject to compliance with certain 
conditions, the failure of which could lead to a denial of coverage as to a particular claim or the voiding of a particular insurance 
policy.  We cannot ensure that our existing coverage will be sufficient to protect against all potential liabilities or the total amount 
of insured claims and liabilities, that we will be able to maintain our existing coverage in the future, or that our existing coverage 
can be renewed at commercially reasonable rates without a substantial increase in premium.  In addition, future terrorist activity, 
risk of war, accidents or other events could increase our insurance premiums.  Even in cases where insurance covers the costs of 
repair due to damage to a helicopter, there may be a diminution in the value of the helicopter as result of it being less desirable 
for future service, which would likely not be covered by insurance.  Furthermore, we are not generally insured for loss of profit, 
loss of use of helicopters, business interruption or loss of flight hours.  The loss, or limited availability, of our liability insurance 
coverage, inadequate coverage from our liability insurance or substantial increases in future premiums could have a material 
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.  Any material liability not covered by insurance or 
for which third-party indemnification is not available, would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition 
and results of operations.

Failure to maintain an acceptable safety record and level of reliability may have an adverse impact on our ability to attract 
and retain customers.

Our customers consider safety and reliability as two of the primary attributes in selecting a helicopter service provider.  
We must maintain a record of safety and reliability that is acceptable to, and in certain instances is contractually required by, our 
customers.  In an effort to maintain an appropriate standard, we incur considerable costs to maintain the quality of our safety and 
training programs and our fleet of helicopters.  For example, we have implemented a safety program that includes, among many 
other features, (i) transition and recurrent training using full-motion flight simulators and other flight training devices, (ii) an FAA 
approved flight operational quality assurance program and (iii)  HUMS, which automatically monitors and reports on vibrations 
and other anomalies on key components of certain helicopters in our fleet.  In addition, many of our customers regularly conduct 
audits of our operations and safety programs.  We cannot be assured that our safety program or our other efforts will provide an 
adequate level of safety, an acceptable safety record or satisfactory customer audit results.  If we fail to maintain standards of 
safety and reliability that are satisfactory to our customers, our ability to retain current customers and attract new customers may 
be adversely affected. 
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We may not be able to obtain work on acceptable terms covering some of our new helicopters, and some of our new helicopters 
may replace existing helicopters already under contract, which could adversely affect the utilization of our existing fleet.

As of December 31, 2018, we had placed orders for eight new helicopters and have options to purchase an additional ten
helicopters.  Many of our new helicopters may not be covered by customer contracts when they are placed into service, and we 
cannot assure you as to when we will be able to utilize these new helicopters or on what terms.  The ability to place new helicopters 
into service is highly dependent on the level of activity in the offshore oil and gas market, which in turn is affected by oil and gas 
prices.  To the extent our helicopters are covered by a customer contract, the typical duration of such contracts is generally too 
short to recover our full cost of purchasing the helicopter, requiring us to seek frequent renewals and subjecting us to the risk that 
we will be unable to recoup our investment in the helicopter.  Once a new helicopter is delivered to us, we generally spend between 
one and three months installing equipment and configuring the helicopter to our specifications before we place it into service.  As 
a result, there can be a significant delay between the delivery date for a new helicopter and the time at which it begins to generate 
revenues for us.  We also expect that some of our customers may request new helicopters in lieu of our existing helicopters, which 
could adversely affect the utilization of our existing fleet.  Our inability to profitably deploy our aircraft could have a material 
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operation.

Our fleet’s excess helicopters include those that are not otherwise under customer contracts, undergoing maintenance, 
dedicated for charter activity or subject to operational suspension or other restrictions.  Although we take actions to minimize 
excess capacity, we expect a certain level of excess capacity at any given time in an aviation logistics business as a result of the 
evolving nature of customers’ needs.  In general, there may be some lag time before helicopters that are not under customer 
contracts are placed with other customers.  If we are not successful in securing sufficient new contracts, we could experience a 
decline in the near-term utilization of our helicopters that could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition 
and results of operations.

Our dependence on a small number of helicopter manufacturers poses a significant risk to our business and prospects.

Although our fleet includes equipment from all four of the major helicopter manufacturers, our current fleet expansion 
and replacement needs rely on three manufacturers.  If any of the manufacturers with whom we contract face production delays 
due to, for example, natural disasters, labor strikes or unavailability of skilled labor, we may experience a significant delay in the 
delivery of previously ordered helicopters.  During these periods, we may not be able to obtain additional helicopters with acceptable 
pricing, delivery dates or other terms.  Delivery delays or our inability to obtain acceptable helicopters or parts and components 
could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations and jeopardize our ability to meet the demands 
of our customers and execute our business strategy.  Furthermore, we may be required by regulatory authorities or voluntarily 
decide to temporarily or permanently remove certain helicopter models from service following certain incidents or accidents, 
thereby increasing our reliance on other models.  The lack of availability of new helicopters resulting from a backlog in orders or 
unavailability of certain helicopter models for service could result in an increase in prices for certain types of used helicopters.

A shortfall in availability of aircraft components, parts and subsystems required for maintenance and repairs of our helicopters 
could adversely affect us.

In connection with required repairs and maintenance that we perform or are performed by others on our helicopters, we 
rely on six key vendors (Masco Service Corporation, Safran Helicopters Engines, Agusta Westland Corporation,  Eagle Copters 
Maintenance, Ltd., Sikorsky Aircraft Corporation and J. D. Manufacturing, Inc.) for the supply and overhaul of components on 
our helicopters. Consolidations involving suppliers could further reduce the number of alternative suppliers for us and increase 
the cost of components. These vendors have historically been the manufacturers of helicopter components and parts, and their 
factories tend to work at or near full capacity supporting the helicopter production lines for new equipment. This leaves little 
capacity for the production of parts requirements for maintenance of our helicopters. The tight production schedules, as well as 
new regulatory requirements, the availability of raw materials or commodities, or the need to upgrade parts or product recalls, can 
add to backlogs, resulting in key parts being in limited supply or available on an allocation basis. To the extent that these suppliers 
also supply parts for helicopters used by the U.S. military, parts delivery for our helicopters may be delayed during periods in 
which there are high levels of military operations.  Our inability to perform timely repair and maintenance could result in our 
helicopters being underutilized and cause us to lose opportunities with existing or potential customers, each of which could have 
an adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Furthermore, our operations in remote or foreign 
locations, where delivery of these components and parts could result in additional costs or take a significant period of time, may 
also impact our ability to repair and maintain our helicopters. Although every effort is made to mitigate such impact by attempting 
to maintain a sufficient amount of key, integral parts in inventory, a delay in delivery may pose a risk to our results of operations. 
In addition, supplier cost increases for critical helicopter components and parts may also adversely impact our results of operations. 
In addition, as many of our helicopters are manufactured by two European-based companies, the cost of spare parts could be 
impacted by changes in currency exchange rates.

The operation of our fleet requires us to carry spare parts and other inventory to perform scheduled and unscheduled 
maintenance activity.  Changes in the aircraft model types or the timing of exit from model types of our fleet may result in spare 
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parts and inventory levels in excess of those required to support our fleet over its remaining life.  Additionally, certain spare parts 
or inventory may become obsolete or dormant as a result of changes in the use of such parts on aircraft and maintenance needs.  
These fleet changes or other external factors can result in impairment of spare part or inventory balances where we expect that 
excess, dormant or obsolete spare parts or inventory will not recover its carrying value through sales to third parties or disposal.

Our operations depend on facilities we use throughout the world that are subject to physical and other risks that could disrupt 
operations.

Our facilities could be damaged or our operations could be disrupted by a natural disaster, labor strike, war, political 
unrest, terrorist activity or a pandemic. We operate numerous bases in and along the U.S. Gulf of Mexico and we are particularly 
exposed to risk of loss or damage from hurricanes in that region. Although we have obtained property damage insurance, a major 
catastrophe such as a hurricane, earthquake or other natural disaster at any of our sites, or significant labor strikes, work stoppages, 
political unrest, war or terrorist activities in any of the areas where we conduct operations, could result in a prolonged interruption 
or stoppage of our business or material sub-parts of it. Any disruption resulting from these events could result in a loss of sales 
and customers. Our insurance may not adequately compensate us for any of these events, and, if not so covered, it could have a 
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We rely on the secondary helicopter market to dispose of our used aircraft and parts as an element of our on-going fleet 
management efforts.

We manage our fleet by evaluating expected demand for helicopter services across global markets and the type of 
helicopters needed to meet this demand. As offshore oil and gas drilling and production globally moves to deeper water, more 
heavy and medium aircraft and newer technology aircraft may be required. As helicopters come off of current contracts or are 
replaced by newer models, our management evaluates our future needs for such helicopters against our ability to recover our 
remaining investments in these aircraft through secondary market sales. We are dependent upon the secondary helicopter and parts 
market to dispose of our helicopters as our fleet continues to evolve to address changes in demand driven by customer needs.  The 
number of helicopter sales and the amount of gains and losses recorded on these sales is unpredictable.  The loss of our ability to 
dispose of helicopters and related equipment in the secondary market could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition, and results of operations.

The book value of our owned helicopters as reflected on our balance sheet is based on our practice of depreciating our 
helicopters over their expected useful life to the expected salvage value to be received for such helicopter at the end of that life.  
From time to time, we disclose our net asset value, which is based, in large part, on the fair market value of our helicopters derived 
from a combination of available market data, estimates, application of significant judgment and assistance of valuation specialists, 
including values obtained from third party analysts. There is no assurance that either the book value or net asset value of any 
helicopter represents the amount that we could obtain from an unaffiliated third party in an arm’s length sale of the aircraft, and 
market factors will impact the need for any write-downs of the book value, any recorded gains or losses on helicopter sales and 
our ability to realize the estimated fair market value of our fleet.  

Any changes in the supply of, or demand for, helicopters could impact the secondary market.  There may be limited or 
no demand for certain types of used helicopters, especially older medium or heavy helicopters.  Industry conditions, including the 
global oil and gas market downturn we are currently experiencing, could result in a decline in demand for helicopters in that end 
market and a corresponding increase in idle helicopters.  A global competitor filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy protection in May 
2016, and subsequently returned approximately 80 helicopters to lessors as part of its restructuring, resulting in an increased supply 
of helicopters available for sale and/or lease. This change in supply has adversely impacted helicopter rates and pricing of our 
helicopters and could undermine our ability to dispose of our helicopters in the secondary market.

The market value of our helicopter fleet is dependent on a number of external factors. 

The fair market value of each of our helicopters is dependent upon a variety of factors, including: 

• general economic and market conditions affecting the oil and gas industry, including the price of oil and gas and the 
level of oil and gas exploration, development and production;

• the number of comparable helicopters servicing the market; 
• the types and sizes of comparable helicopters available for sale or lease; 
• historical issues with helicopters of the same model;
• the specific age and attributes of the helicopter; 
• demand for the helicopter in different industries; and 
• changes in regulation or competition from other air transport companies and other modes of transportation. 

Due to the market downturn that the oil and gas industry experienced in recent years, the fair market value of our helicopters 
has declined in recent periods and may decline further in the future.  A decline in helicopter values could result in asset impairment 
charges, breaches of loan covenants or lower proceeds upon helicopter sales, any of which could have a material adverse effect 
on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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The concentration of certain helicopter models in our fleet could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition 
and results of operations should any problems specific to these particular models occur.

As of December 31, 2018, the AW139 medium helicopter model comprised approximately 50% of the net book value of 
our helicopter fleet.   If the market demand for this model declines, if this model experiences technical difficulties or if this model 
is involved in an operational incident, it could cause a diminution in value of the affected model.  In addition, the bankruptcy or 
shutdown of a helicopter operator or lessor with a large fleet of such helicopter models may result in an oversupply of such model 
being made available to the market, which could reduce the rates earned by, and/or the value of, such helicopter model.  Due to 
the high concentration of this model in our fleet, a significant decline in value of this model that is other than temporary could 
result in an impairment to the carrying value of our helicopter fleet. The occurrence of any of these events could materially adversely 
affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.

We derive revenue from non-wholly owned entities.  If we are unable to maintain good relations with the other owners of such 
non-wholly owned entities, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affected.

Local regulatory requirements may require us to conduct our international operations using another operator’s AOC 
through non-wholly owned entities with local shareholders or through strategic alliances with foreign partners.  We have in the 
past, and may in the future continue to, derive significant amounts of revenue from these entities.  We depend to some extent upon 
good relations with our local partners that are shareholders in these entities to ensure profitable operations of our non-wholly 
owned entities. These shareholders may have interests that are not always aligned with ours and may not be required to provide 
any funding that these entities may require or may disagree with us as to the proper timing of cash distributions to us and our 
shareholder partners. Furthermore, certain shareholders’ agreements with local shareholders contain call arrangements that allow 
the local shareholder to elect to purchase our shares and/or require us to bear all of the losses of such entities. The calls are 
exercisable in certain circumstances, including liquidation and events of default. In the event shareholder disputes arise or we lose 
our interest in our non-wholly owned entities and/or find other local partners, it could negatively impact our revenues and profit 
sharing from such entities, and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We are highly dependent upon the level of activity in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico, which is a mature exploration, development and 
production region.

For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, our operating revenues derived from services provided to 
customers primarily engaged in oil and gas activities in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico represented approximately 69%, 62% and 62%, 
respectively, of our total operating revenues. The U.S. Gulf of Mexico is a mature exploration, development and production region 
that has undergone substantial seismic survey and exploration activity for many years. We cannot predict the levels of activity in 
this area. A large number of oil and gas properties in the region have already been drilled, and additional prospects of sufficient 
size and quality could be more difficult to identify. Generally, the production from these mature oil and gas properties is declining 
and future production may decline to the point that such properties are no longer economically viable to operate, in which case 
our services with respect to such properties may no longer be needed. Oil and gas companies may not identify sufficient additional 
drilling sites to replace those that become depleted. If activity in oil and gas exploration, development and production in the U.S. 
Gulf of Mexico materially declines, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely 
affected. 

Any significant development impacting deepwater drilling in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico could materially adversely affect us.

We are highly dependent on offshore oil and gas activities in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico.  As a result of the well-publicized 
sinking of the Deepwater Horizon, a semi-submersible deepwater drilling rig operating in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico after an apparent 
blowout and fire resulting in a significant flow of hydrocarbons from the BP Plc. Macondo well, the U.S. Department of Interior 
temporarily imposed a moratorium on offshore drilling operations and issued new rules designed to improve drilling and workplace 
safety in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico.  While the moratorium was quickly lifted, BSEE, the Office of National Resources Revenue 
and other regulatory agencies may issue new safety and environmental guidelines and regulations for drilling in the U.S. Gulf of 
Mexico and other geographic regions, the result of which may increase the costs and regulatory burden of exploration, development 
and production, reduce the area of operations for offshore oil and gas activities and result in permitting delays. We are monitoring 
legislation and regulatory developments; however, it is difficult to predict the ultimate impact of any new guidelines, regulations 
or legislation. A prolonged suspension of drilling activity or permitting delays in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico and other geographic 
locations in which we operate, new regulations and/or increased liability for companies operating in the offshore oil and gas sector, 
whether or not caused by a new incident in any region, could result in reduced demand for our services and could have a material 
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

We are subject to political, economic and regulatory risks associated with our international operations and the expansion 
thereof.

We operate and lease helicopters in international markets. During the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, 
approximately 29%, 34% and 31%, respectively, of our operating revenues were derived from our international operations. Our 
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strategy contemplates growth in our international operations in the future. Our international operations are subject to a number of 
risks, including: 

• political conditions and events, including embargoes; 
• uncertainties concerning import and export restrictions, including the risk of fines or penalties assessed for violating 

export restrictions by the Office of Foreign Assets Controls of the U.S. Department of Treasury;
• restrictive actions by U.S. and foreign governments, including those in Brazil, Colombia, and Suriname which could 

limit our ability to provide services in those countries; 
• the imposition of withholding or other taxes on foreign income, tariffs or restrictions on foreign trade and 

investment; 
• adverse tax consequences; 
• limitations on repatriation of earnings or currency exchange controls and import/export quotas; 
• nationalization, expropriation, asset seizure, blockades and blacklisting; 
• limitations in the availability, amount or terms of insurance coverage; 
• loss of contract rights and inability to adequately enforce contracts; 
• the lack of well-developed legal systems in some countries that could make it difficult for us to enforce contractual 

rights;
• political, social and economic instability, war and civil disturbances or other risks that may limit or disrupt markets, 

such as terrorist attacks, piracy and kidnapping;
• fluctuations in currency exchange rates, hard currency shortages and controls on currency exchange that affect 

demand for our services and our profitability;  
• potential noncompliance with a wide variety of laws and regulations, such as the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act 

of 1977 (the “FCPA”), and similar non-U.S. laws and regulations, including the U.K. Bribery Act 2010 (the “UKBA”) 
and Brazil’s Clean Companies Act (the “BCCA”); 

• labor strikes; 
• changes in general economic conditions; 
• adverse changes in foreign laws or regulatory requirements, including those with respect to flight operations and 

environmental protections; and 
• challenges in staffing and managing widespread operations, including logistical and communication challenges. 

If we are unable to adequately address these risks, it may impact our ability to operate in certain international markets 
and our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affected.

Our results could be impacted by U.S. and foreign social, political, regulatory and economic conditions as well as by changes 
in tariffs, trade agreements or other trade restrictions imposed by the U.S. government.

Changes in U.S. political, regulatory and economic conditions or in laws and policies governing foreign trade (including 
the U.S. trade agreements and U.S. tariff policies), travel to and from the United States, immigration, manufacturing, development 
and investment in the territories and countries in which we operate, and any negative sentiments or retaliatory actions towards the 
United States as a result of such changes, could adversely affect the industry, which could adversely affect our business, financial 
position, results of operations, cash flows and growth prospects.  The current administration, along with Congress, has created 
significant uncertainty about the future relationship between the United States and other countries with respect to the trade policies, 
treaties, taxes, government regulations and tariffs that would be applicable. It is unclear what changes might be considered or 
implemented and what response to any such changes may be by the governments of other countries. These changes have created 
significant uncertainty about the future relationship between the United States and China, as well as other countries, including 
with respect to the trade policies, treaties, government regulations and tariffs that could apply to trade between the United States 
and other nations. Changes in these policies may have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial position, 
results of operations, cash flows and growth prospects.

On June 23, 2016, the citizens of the United Kingdom voted to leave the European Union (“Brexit”). In March 2017, the 
British government invoked Article 50 of the Treaty on European Union, which formally triggered a negotiation process with the 
European Union. In March 2018, the parties agreed to a transition period of 21 months - from March 29, 2019 until the end of 
2020 - before the United Kingdom leaves the European Union completely, assuming approval of the negotiated withdrawal 
agreement.  The uncertainty surrounding the results of the Brexit referendum may cause disruptions to and create uncertainty 
surrounding the Company’s business, including affecting the Company’s relationships with its existing and future customers, 
suppliers and employees.

Our diversification efforts into other aviation services may prove unsuccessful.

Our business has traditionally been significantly dependent upon the level of offshore oil and gas exploration, development 
and production activity. The prolonged market downturn in the oil and gas industry that we are currently experiencing has adversely 
affected, our financial condition and results of operations and could continue to negatively impact our financial results in future 
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periods. We consistently look for opportunities to diversify our operations.  While diversification into other aviation services is 
intended to grow the business and offset the cyclical nature of oil and gas activities, we cannot be certain that the associated 
diversification benefits related to other services that we may offer in the future will be realized.

In order to support or grow our business, we may require additional capital in the future that may not be available to us.

Our business is capital intensive, and to the extent we do not generate sufficient cash from operations, we will need to 
raise additional funds through bank financing and other public or private debt or equity financing to execute our strategy and make 
the capital expenditures required to operate our business. Adequate sources of capital funding may not be available when needed, 
or may not be available on favorable terms. The availability of financing may also be affected by oil and gas prices and exploration, 
development and production activity levels. If we raise additional funds by issuing equity or certain types of convertible debt 
securities, the holdings of our existing stockholders may be diluted.  Further, if we raise additional debt financing, we will incur 
additional interest expense, the terms of such debt may be less favorable than our existing debt and we may be required to pledge 
our assets as security or be subjected to financial and/or operating covenants that affect our ability to conduct our business. Our 
ability to engage in any capital raising activities are subject to the restrictions in our existing debt instruments.  If our levels of 
funding are insufficient at any time in the future, or we are unable to conduct capital raising activities for any reason, we may be 
unable to acquire additional helicopters, take advantage of business opportunities or respond to competitive pressures, any of 
which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

There are risks associated with our debt structure.

As of December 31, 2018, our indebtedness consisted of $144.8 million aggregate principal amount of our 7.750% senior 
unsecured notes due 2022 (the “7.750% Senior Notes”), $20.0 million of aggregate indebtedness outstanding under two promissory 
notes and $0.4 million of installment payments due to taxing authorities in Brazil.  In addition, we had the ability to borrow up to 
$124.1 million under our Revolving Credit Facility, after taking into account the financial ratios we are required to maintain under 
the facility as discussed in more detail below.

The agreements governing our Revolving Credit Facility contain various covenants that limit our ability to, among other 
things:

• make investments; 
• incur or guarantee additional indebtedness; 
• incur liens or pledge the assets of certain of our subsidiaries; 
• pay dividends or make investments; 
• keep excess cash amounts;
• maintain a maximum senior secured leverage ratio;
• maintain a minimum interest coverage ratio;
• maintain a minimum ratio of the sum of their fair market value of mortgaged helicopters, accounts receivable and 

inventory to total funded and committed debt;
• enter into transactions with affiliates; and 
• enter into certain sales of all or substantially all of our assets, mergers and consolidations. 

Failure to comply with these covenants is an event of default under the Revolving Credit Facility, and therefore, our 
ability to borrow under our Revolving Credit Facility is dependent on and limited by our ability to comply with such covenants.  
In addition, the indenture governing our 7.750% Senior Notes contains similar incurrence based negative covenants.  Refer to 
Note 7 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information.

If we experience reduced operating revenues, our ability to utilize our Revolving Credit Facility may be limited or we 
may require additional investments in our capital stock to maintain our financial ratio within applicable limits. Any inability to 
borrow under our Revolving Credit Facility could have a material adverse effect on our ability to make capital expenditures and 
our business, financial condition and results of operations. Further, failure to maintain the financial ratios or other covenants 
required under our Revolving Credit Facility would constitute an event of default, allowing the lenders under our Revolving Credit 
Facility to declare the entire balance of any and all sums payable under the facility immediately due and payable, which in turn 
would permit the holders of our 7.750% Senior Notes to accelerate maturity of the 7.750% Senior Notes.

Our ability to meet our debt service obligations and refinance our indebtedness, including any future debt that we may 
incur, will depend upon our ability to generate cash in the future from operations, financings or asset sales, which are subject to 
general economic conditions, industry cycles, seasonality and other factors, some of which may be beyond our control. If we 
cannot repay or refinance our debt as it becomes due, we may be forced to sell assets or take other disadvantageous actions, 
including reducing financing in the future for working capital, capital expenditures and general corporate purposes or dedicating 
an unsustainable level of our cash flow from operations to the payment of principal and interest on our indebtedness. Any failure 
to repay or refinance may also permit the lenders who hold such debt to accelerate amounts due, which would potentially trigger 
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default or acceleration of our other debt. In addition, our ability to withstand competitive pressures and to react to changes in our 
industry could be impaired. 

Our future debt levels and the terms of any future indebtedness we may incur may contain restrictive covenants and limit 
our liquidity and our ability to obtain additional financing and pursue acquisitions and joint ventures or purchase new helicopters. 
Tight credit conditions could limit our ability to secure additional financing, if required, due to difficulties accessing the credit 
and capital markets.

Any downgrade in the credit ratings for our public debt securities could limit our ability to obtain future financing, increase 
our borrowing costs and adversely affect the market price of our outstanding debt securities, or otherwise impair our business, 
financial condition and results of operations. 

Credit rating agencies continually review our corporate ratings and ratings for our public debt securities. Credit rating 
agencies also evaluate the industries in which we and our affiliates operate as a whole and may change their credit rating for us 
based on their overall view of such industries. In March 2016, Moody’s conducted a review of oilfield services companies in the 
United States and downgraded our corporate family rating to B3 from B1, with a negative outlook which is where it remains today. 
There can be no assurance that any rating assigned to our currently outstanding public debt securities will remain in effect for any 
given period of time or that any such ratings will not be lowered, suspended or withdrawn entirely by a rating agency if, in that 
rating agency’s judgment, circumstances so warrant. 

A further downgrade of our credit ratings could, among other things: 

• limit our access to the capital markets or otherwise adversely affect the availability of other new financing on 
favorable terms, if at all;

• result in more restrictive covenants in agreements governing the terms of any future indebtedness that we may 
incur;  

• increase our cost of borrowing;
• adversely affect the market price of our 7.750% Senior Notes; and
• impair our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Upon a change of control, holders of our 7.750% Senior Notes will have the right to require us to purchase their notes, 
which could have certain adverse ramifications. 

Upon a “Change of Control Trigger Event” (as defined in the indenture governing our 7.750% Senior Notes), each holder 
of our 7.750% Senior Notes will have the right to require us to purchase any or all of that holder’s notes at a price of 101% of the 
principal amount of their notes plus accrued and unpaid interest. If, due to lack of cash, legal or contractual impediments, or 
otherwise, we fail to discharge these obligations, such failure could constitute an event of default under such notes, which could 
in turn constitute a default under our other outstanding debt agreements, including our Revolving Credit Facility. Moreover, the 
existence of these purchase obligations may, in certain circumstances, discourage a sale or takeover of us or the removal of our 
incumbent directors. 

We are exposed to credit risks.

We are exposed to credit risk on trade receivables and the unexpected loss of cash and earnings when a customer cannot 
meet its obligation to us or when the value of security provided declines.  Customer credit risk is exacerbated during times of 
depressed oil prices, like that we are currently experiencing. In addition to collection risk, we are exposed to the risk of potential 
contractual termination in the event that a customer voluntarily or involuntarily seeks relief from creditors upon becoming insolvent 
or unable to repay its debts as they become due and the risk of customers seeking to renegotiate contracts on terms more beneficial 
to the customer.  To mitigate trade credit risk, we have developed credit policies and procedures that are designed to monitor and 
limit exposure to credit risk on our receivables. Such policies include the review, approval and monitoring of new customers, 
annual credit evaluations and credit limits. However, there can be no assurance that such procedures will effectively limit our 
credit risk and avoid losses, and, if not effective, such credit risks could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition and results of operations.

In addition, we are exposed to credit risk on our financial investments and instruments that are dependent upon the ability 
of our counterparties to fulfill their obligations to us. We manage credit risk by entering into arrangements with established 
counterparties that possess investment grade credit ratings and by monitoring our concentration risk with counterparties on an 
ongoing basis and through the establishment of credit policies and limits, which are applied in the selection of counterparties.

Our global operations are subject to foreign currency, interest rate, fixed-income, equity and commodity price risks.

We are exposed to currency fluctuations and exchange rate risks. A significant portion of our unfunded capital purchase 
obligations are denominated in foreign currencies and, although some of these risks may be hedged, fluctuations could significantly 
impact our cost of purchase and, as a result, our business, financial condition and results of operation. We purchase some of our 
helicopters and helicopter parts from foreign manufacturers and maintain operations in foreign countries, which results in portions 
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of our revenues and expenses being denominated in foreign currencies. We attempt to minimize our exposure to currency exchange 
risk by contracting the majority of our services in U.S. dollars. As a result, a strong U.S. dollar may increase the local cost of our 
services that are provided under the U.S. dollar denominated contracts, which may reduce demand for our services in foreign 
countries. Generally, we do not enter into hedging transactions to protect against exchange risks related to our gross revenue or 
operating expenses.  

In addition, currency fluctuations could result in particular helicopter models becoming less expensive for our competitors, 
which could lead to excess helicopter capacity and increased competition, in turn jeopardizing both pricing and utilization of our 
equipment.  Such currency fluctuations could also impact residual values for certain helicopters priced in foreign currencies.

Because we maintain our financial statements in U.S. dollars, our financial results are vulnerable to fluctuations in the 
exchange rate between the U.S. dollar and foreign currencies, primarily the euro and the Brazilian real.  Changes in exchange 
rates could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.

We operate in countries with foreign exchange controls, including Brazil and India. These controls may limit our ability 
to repatriate funds from our international operations or otherwise convert local currencies into U.S. dollars. These limitations could 
adversely affect our ability to access cash from these operations and our liquidity.

Difficult economic and financial conditions could have a material adverse effect on us.

The financial results of our business are both directly and indirectly dependent upon economic conditions throughout the 
world, which in turn can be impacted by conditions in the global financial markets. These factors are outside our control and 
changes in circumstances are difficult to predict. Uncertainty about global economic conditions may lead businesses to postpone 
spending in response to tighter credit and reductions in income or asset values, which may lead many lenders and institutional 
investors to reduce, and in some cases, cease to provide, funding to borrowers. Weak economic activity may lead government 
customers to cut back on services. Factors such as interest rates, availability of credit, inflation rates, economic uncertainty, 
regulatory and tax changes, trade barriers, commodity prices, currency exchange rates and controls, national and international 
political circumstances (including wars, terrorist acts or security operations) and the failure of lenders participating in our Revolving 
Credit Facility to fulfill their commitments and obligations under such facility could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition and results of operations.

A slowdown in economic activity can reduce worldwide demand for energy and result in an extended period of lower 
oil and natural gas prices.  A prolonged reduction in oil and natural gas prices may depress the activity levels of oil and gas 
companies, which could adversely impact the financial position of our customers and the customers of those operators to whom 
we lease helicopters.  As a result, there could be a corresponding decline in demand for our services, an increase in the volatility 
of our stock price and an inability of our customers to pay amounts owed to us in a timely manner or at all.  Perceptions of a long-
term depression of oil and natural gas prices may also further reduce or defer major expenditures by oil and gas companies given 
the long-term nature of many large-scale development projects.  These conditions could have a material adverse effect on our 
business, financial condition and results of operations.

Weather and seasonality can impact our results of operations.

A significant portion of our revenues is dependent on actual flight hours, which may be impacted by prolonged periods 
of adverse weather conditions. During the fall and winter months, weather conditions are generally more extreme, with periods 
of poor visibility, high winds and heavy precipitation in some areas. As a result, oil and gas exploration, development and production 
activity decreases in winter months. In addition, although some of our helicopters are equipped to fly at night, operations servicing 
offshore oil and gas transport of passengers and other non-emergency operations are generally conducted during daylight hours. 
During winter months, there are fewer daylight hours. As a result of adverse weather conditions and lack of daylight, our flight 
hours, and therefore revenues, tend to decline in the winter months. 

Our operations in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico may also be adversely affected by weather. Tropical storm season runs from 
June through November. Tropical storms and hurricanes limit our ability to operate our helicopters in the proximity of a storm, 
reduce oil and gas exploration, development and production activity, could result in the incurrence of additional expenses to secure 
equipment and facilities and may require us to evacuate our aircraft, personnel and equipment out of the path of a storm. In addition, 
a significant portion of our facilities are located along the coast of the U.S. Gulf of Mexico and extreme weather may cause 
substantial damage to such properties.  Despite our efforts to prepare for storms and secure our equipment, we may suffer damage 
to our helicopters or our facilities, which may impact our ability to provide our services.  Any negative impact as a result of adverse 
weather conditions or the seasonality of our operations may materially affect our business, financial condition and results of 
operations. 
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We may undertake one or more significant corporate transactions that may not achieve their intended results, may result in 
unforeseeable risks to our business and may materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of 
operations.

We continuously evaluate the acquisition of operating businesses and assets and may in the future undertake one or more 
significant transactions. Any such transaction could be material to our business and could take any number of forms, including 
mergers, joint ventures and the purchase of equity interests. The consideration for such transactions may include, among other 
things, cash, common stock or equity interests in us or our subsidiaries, or a contribution of equipment to obtain equity interests. 
Further, if we were to complete such an acquisition, disposition, investment or other strategic transaction, we may require additional 
debt or equity financing, which could result in a significant increase in our amount of debt and our debt service obligations or the 
number of outstanding shares of our Common Stock, thereby diluting holders of our Common Stock outstanding prior to such 
acquisition. We also routinely evaluate the benefits of disposing of certain of our assets. Such dispositions could take the form of 
asset sales, mergers or sales of equity interests.

These strategic transactions may not achieve their intended results and may present significant risks, such as insufficient 
revenues to offset liabilities assumed, potential loss of significant revenues and income streams, increased or unexpected expenses, 
inadequate return of capital, regulatory or compliance issues, impairment of intangible assets such as goodwill that may be acquired, 
the triggering of certain covenants in our debt instruments (including accelerated repayment) and unidentified issues not discovered 
in due diligence. In addition, such transactions could distract management from current operations. As a result of the risks inherent 
in such transactions, we cannot guarantee that any such transaction will ultimately result in the realization of its anticipated benefits 
or that it will not have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Our failure to attract and retain qualified personnel could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and 
results of operations.

Loss of the services of key management personnel at our corporate and regional headquarters without being able to attract 
personnel of equal ability could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.  
Further, Title 49 of the Transportation Code and other statutes require that our President and two-thirds of our board of directors 
and other managing officers be U.S. citizens, which limits the potential pool of new candidates. The skills, experience and industry 
contacts of our senior management significantly benefit our operations and administration. The failure to attract, retain and properly 
motivate the members of our senior management team and other key employees, or to find suitable replacements for them in the 
event of death, ill health or their desire to pursue other professional opportunities, could have a material adverse effect on business, 
financial condition and results of operations.

Our ability to attract and retain qualified pilots, mechanics and other highly trained personnel is likewise an important 
factor in determining our future success.  For example, many of our customers require pilots with very high levels of flight 
experience.  In addition, the maintenance of our helicopters requires mechanics that are trained and experienced in servicing 
particular makes and models of helicopters.  The market for these highly trained personnel is competitive and we cannot be certain 
that we will be successful in attracting and retaining qualified personnel in the future.  Some of our pilots, mechanics and other 
highly trained personnel, as well as those of our competitors, are members of the U.S. military reserves who have been, or could 
be, called to active duty. If significant numbers of such personnel are called to active duty, it would reduce the supply of such 
workers and likely increase our labor costs.  In addition, the certification of our pilots is within the purview of the U.S. federal 
government, and a prolonged shutdown of the federal government could adversely affect our ability to add qualified pilots to our 
workforce in a timely fashion.

Labor problems could adversely affect us.

All of our employees in Brazil (representing approximately 28% of our employees) are represented under collective 
bargaining or union agreements. Any disputes over the terms of these agreements or our potential inability to negotiate acceptable 
contracts with the unions that represent our employees under these agreements could result in strikes, work stoppages or other 
slowdowns by the affected workers. Our U.S. employees are not currently represented by a collective bargaining agreement. 
However, we cannot assure you that our employees will not unionize in the future. Periodically, certain groups of our employees 
may consider entering into such an agreement.

If our unionized workers engage in a strike, work stoppage or other slowdown, other employees elect to become unionized, 
existing labor agreements are renegotiated, or future labor agreements contain terms that are unfavorable to us, we could experience 
a disruption of our operations or higher ongoing labor costs, which could materially adversely affect our business, financial 
condition and results of operations.

Adverse results of legal proceedings could have a material adverse effect on us.

We are subject to, and may in the future be subject to a variety of legal proceedings and claims that arise out of the 
ordinary conduct of our business. Results of legal proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty. Irrespective of their merits, legal 
proceedings may be both lengthy and disruptive to our operations and may cause significant expenditure and diversion of 
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management attention. We may face significant monetary damages or injunctive relief that could have a material adverse effect 
on our business, financial condition and results of operations should we not prevail in certain matters.

Negative publicity may materially adversely affect us.

Media coverage and public statements that insinuate improper actions by us or relate to accidents or other issues involving 
the safety of our helicopters or operations, regardless of their factual accuracy or truthfulness, may result in negative publicity, 
litigation or governmental investigations by regulators. Specifically, accidents involving any aircraft operated by us or another 
operator could cause material adverse publicity affecting us or our industry generally and could lead to the perception that our 
aircraft are not safe or reliable.

Addressing negative publicity and any resulting litigation or investigations may distract management, increase costs and 
divert resources. Further, negative publicity may have an adverse impact on our reputation, our customer relationships and the 
morale of our employees, which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Failure to develop or implement new technologies could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results 
of operations.

Many of the helicopters that we operate, and the demand for such helicopters, are subject to changing technology, 
introductions and enhancements of models of helicopters and services and shifting customer demands, including technology 
preferences. Our future growth and financial performance will depend in part upon our ability to develop, market and integrate 
new services and to accommodate the latest technological advances and client preferences. In addition, the introduction of new 
services or technologies, such as unmanned aerial vehicles and new vertical take-off and landing aircraft, that compete with our 
services could result in our revenues decreasing over time. If we are unable to upgrade our operations or fleet with the latest 
technological advances in a timely manner, or at all, our business, financial condition and results of operations could suffer.  
Furthermore, any disruption to computers, communication systems or other technical equipment used by us and our fleet could 
significantly impair our ability to operate our business efficiently and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition and results of operations.

We rely on information technology, and if we are unable to protect against service interruptions, system failures, data corruption, 
cyber-based attacks or network security breaches, our operations could be disrupted, our reputation could be harmed and our 
business could be materially adversely affected.

We rely on information technology networks and systems to process, transmit and store electronic and financial 
information; to capture knowledge of our business; to coordinate our business across our operation bases and to communicate 
with our employees and externally with customers, suppliers, partners and other third parties. These information technology 
systems, some of which are managed by third parties, may be susceptible to damage, disruptions or shutdowns, hardware or 
software failures, power outages, computer viruses, cyber attacks, telecommunication failures, user errors, lack of support or 
catastrophic events and we may experience such damages, interruptions, malfunctions or security breaches in the future. Our 
systems may also be older generations of software which are unable to perform as effectively as, and fail to communicate well 
with, newer systems. 

Cybersecurity incidents could materially affect our business

Our information technology systems are becoming increasingly integrated. If our information technology systems were 
to suffer severe damage, disruption or shutdown and our business continuity plans do not effectively resolve the issues in a timely 
manner, we could experience business disruptions, which would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition 
and results of operations and on the ability of management to align and optimize technology to implement business strategies. In 
addition, cyber-attacks, including successful breaches, employee malfeasance, or human or technological error could result in, for 
example, unauthorized access to, disclosure, modification, misuse, loss, or destruction of company, customer, or other third party 
data or systems; theft of sensitive, regulated, or confidential data including personal information and intellectual property; the loss 
of access to critical data or systems through ransomware, destructive attacks or other means; and business delays, service or system 
disruptions or denials of service. There is no assurance that we will not experience these service interruptions or cyber attacks in 
the future.  Further, as the frequency, scope and sophistication of cyber attacks continue to evolve, we may be required to expend 
additional resources to continue to modify or enhance our protective measures or to investigate and remediate any vulnerabilities 
to cyber attacks. A security breach may also lead to potential claims from third parties or employees. Any such incident can also 
cause significant reputational harm to our business and our partners.
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Risk Factors Relating to Regulations

If we do not restrict the amount of foreign ownership of our Common Stock, we may fail to remain a U.S. citizen, lose our 
status as a U.S. air carrier and be prohibited from operating helicopters in the U.S., which would adversely impact our business, 
financial condition and results of operations.

Since we hold the status of a U.S. air carrier under the regulations of both the U.S. DOT and the FAA and we engage in 
the operating and leasing of helicopters in the U.S., we are subject to regulations pursuant to the Transportation Code and other 
statutes (collectively, “Aviation Acts”). The Transportation Code requires that certificates to engage in air transportation be held 
only by citizens of the U.S. as that term is defined in the relevant section of the Transportation Code. That section requires: (i) 
that our president and two-thirds of our board of directors and other managing officers be U.S. citizens; (ii) that at least 75% of 
our outstanding voting stock be owned by U.S. citizens; and (iii) that we must be under the actual control of U.S. citizens. Further, 
our helicopters operating in the U.S. must generally be registered in the U.S. In order to register such helicopters under the Aviation 
Acts, we must be owned or controlled by U.S. citizens. Although our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended 
and restated bylaws contain provisions intended to ensure compliance with the provisions of the Aviation Acts, failure to maintain 
compliance would result in the loss of our air carrier status prohibiting us from operating helicopters in the U.S. during any period 
in which we did not comply with these regulations, and would thereby adversely affect our business, financial condition and results 
of operations.

We are subject to non-U.S. governmental regulation that limits foreign ownership of helicopter companies.

We are subject to governmental regulation outside of the U.S. that limits foreign ownership of helicopter companies in 
favor of domestic ownership. Failure to comply with regulations and requirements for local ownership in the various markets in 
which we operate, and may operate in the future, may subject our helicopters to deregistration or impoundment. If required levels 
of local ownership are not met or maintained, joint ventures in which we have significant investments could also be prohibited 
from operating within these countries. Deregistration of our helicopters or helicopters operated by our joint venture partners for 
any reason, including foreign ownership in excess of permitted levels, would have a material adverse effect on our ability to 
conduct operations within these markets. We cannot assure you that there will be no changes in aviation laws, regulations, required 
levels of local ownership, or administrative requirements or the interpretations thereof, that could restrict or prohibit our ability 
to operate in certain regions. Any such restriction or prohibition on our ability to operate may have a material adverse effect on 
our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

The Outer Continental Shelf Lands Act, as amended, provides the federal government with broad discretion in regulating the 
leasing of offshore resources for the production of oil and gas.

We currently derive a significant portion of our revenues from services we provide in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico in support 
of offshore oil and gas exploration, development and production activity. As such, we are subject to the U.S. government’s exercise 
of authority under the provisions of the Outer Continental Shelf Lands Act. The Outer Continental Shelf Lands Act restricts the 
availability of offshore oil and gas leases by requiring certain lease conditions, such as the implementation of safety and 
environmental protections, the preparation of spill contingency plans and air quality standards for certain pollutants, the violation 
of any of which could result in a potential court injunction curtailing operations and lease cancellations. The Outer Continental 
Shelf Lands Act also requires that all pipelines operating on or across the outer continental shelf provide open and nondiscriminatory 
access to shippers. These provisions could adversely impact exploration and production activity in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico. If 
activity in oil and gas exploration, development and production in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico declines, our business, financial 
condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affected.

We are subject to tax and other legal compliance risks, including anti-corruption statutes, the violation of which may materially 
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

As a global business, we are subject to complex laws and regulations in the U.S. and other countries in which we operate. 
These laws and regulations relate to a number of aspects of our business, including import and export controls, the payment of 
taxes, employment and labor relations, fair competition, data privacy protections, securities regulation, anti-money laundering, 
anti-corruption, economic sanctions and other regulatory requirements affecting trade and investment. The application of these 
laws and regulations to our business is often unclear and may sometimes conflict. Compliance with these laws and regulations 
may involve significant costs or require changes in our business practices that result in reduced revenue and profitability.  A failure 
to comply could also result in significant fines, damages and other criminal sanctions against us, our officers, employees, joint 
venture partners or strategic partners, prohibitions or additional requirements on the conduct of our business and damage to our 
reputation. Further, we could be charged with wrongdoing for any violation of such laws and regulations by our agents, local 
partners or joint ventures, even though such parties may not be subject to the applicable statutes or may not operate under our 
control. Failure by us or one of our agents, joint ventures or strategic partners to comply with applicable export and trade practice 
laws could result in civil or criminal penalties and suspension or termination of export privileges. Certain violations of law could 
also result in suspension or debarment from government contracts. We incur additional legal compliance costs associated with our 
global regulations and the changes in laws or regulations and related interpretations and other guidance could result in higher 
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expenses and payments. Uncertainty relating to such laws or regulations, including how they affect a business or how we are 
required to comply with the laws, may also affect how we conduct our operations and structure our investments and could limit 
our ability to enforce our rights.

In many foreign countries, particularly those with developing economies, it may be customary for others to engage in 
business practices that are prohibited by laws such as the FCPA, the U.K. Bribery Act and the BCCA in Brazil, an anti-bribery 
law that is similar to the FCPA and U.K. Bribery Act.  Although we have implemented policies and procedures designed to ensure 
compliance with these laws, there can be no assurance that all of our employees, contractors, agents and business partners will 
not take action in violation of our internal policies and applicable law and any such violation could have a material adverse effect 
on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Environmental regulation and liabilities, including new or developing laws and regulations, may increase our costs of operations 
and materially adversely affect us.

Our operations are subject to international and U.S. federal, state and local environmental laws and regulations, including 
those that impose limitations on the discharge of pollutants into the environment and establish standards for the treatment, storage, 
recycling and disposal of toxic and hazardous wastes. The nature of our business requires that we use, store and dispose of materials 
that are subject to environmental regulation. Environmental laws and regulations change frequently, which makes it difficult for 
us to predict their cost or impact on our future operations. Liabilities associated with environmental matters could have a material 
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Further, we could be exposed to strict, joint and several 
liability for cleanup costs, natural resource damages and other damages as a result of our conduct that was lawful at the time it 
occurred or the conduct of, or conditions caused by, prior operators or other third parties. Any failure by us to comply with applicable 
environmental laws and regulations may result in governmental authorities taking action against us that could adversely impact 
our operations and financial condition. Such actions may include the:

• issuance of administrative, civil and criminal penalties;
• denial or revocation of permits or other authorizations;
• imposition of limitations on our operations; and
• performance of site investigatory, remedial or other corrective actions.

In addition, our customers in the oil and gas exploration, development and production industry are affected by 
environmental laws and regulations that restrict their activities (and have become stricter as a result of the Deepwater Horizon 
incident) and may result in reduced demand for our services.

Environmental laws and regulations change frequently, requiring us to devote a substantial amount of capital and other 
resources for compliance. In recent years, governments have increasingly focused on climate change, carbon emissions and energy 
use. Laws and regulations that curb the use of conventional energy, or require the use of renewable fuels or renewable sources of 
energy-such as wind or solar power, could result in a reduction in demand for hydrocarbon-based fuels such as oil and natural gas. 
In addition, governments could pass laws, regulations or taxes that increase the cost of such fuels, thereby decreasing demand for 
our services and also increasing the costs of our operations. More stringent environmental laws, regulations or enforcement policies 
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Actions taken by government agencies, such as the Department of Commerce, the Department of Transportation and the FAA, 
and similar agencies in the other jurisdictions in which we operate, could increase our costs and prohibit or reduce our ability 
to operate successfully.

Our industry is regulated by various laws and regulations in the jurisdictions in which we operate. The scope of such 
regulation includes infrastructure and operational issues relating to helicopters, maintenance, spare parts and route flying rights 
as well as safety and security requirements. We cannot fully anticipate all changes that might be made to the laws and regulations 
to which we are subject or the possible impact of such changes. These changes could subject us to additional costs and restrictions.

U.S.  Our operations are highly regulated by several U.S. government regulatory agencies.  For example, as a certified 
air carrier, we are subject to regulations promulgated by the DOT and the FAA. The FAA regulates our flight operations and 
imposes requirements with respect to personnel, aircraft, ground facilities and other aspects of our operations, including:

• certification and reporting requirements; 
• inspections; 
• maintenance standards; 
• personnel training standards; and 
• maintenance of personnel and aircraft records.   

The Department of Transportation can review our economic fitness to continue our operations, both presently and if a 
substantial change occurs to our management, ownership or capital structure, among other things.  The Department of Commerce, 
through its International Traffic in Arms Regulations, regulates our imports and exports of aircraft (through leases and sales) as 
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well as parts sales to international customers and the use of certain regulated technology in domestic and international airspace.  
If we fail to comply with these laws and regulations, or if these agencies develop concerns over our operations, we could face 
administrative, civil and/or criminal penalties.   In addition, we may become subject to regulatory actions that could suspend, 
curtail or significantly modify our operations.  A suspension or substantial curtailment of our operations or any substantial 
modification of our current operations may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of 
operations.

Brazil.  Aeróleo, a Brazilian company in which we own a 50% economic interest and a 20% voting interest, operates in 
Brazil. To operate helicopters in Brazil, an operator must be licensed by the National Agency for Civil Aviation. Under applicable 
Brazilian law, in order to maintain its license, an operator must have Brazilian officers and be “controlled” by nationals of Brazil, 
meaning that at least 80% of such operator’s voting shares are held by Brazilian nationals. The majority holder of voting shares 
in Aeróleo is a Brazilian national and therefore Aeróleo is considered “controlled” within the meaning of Brazil licensing 
requirements. Any change in the national status of the majority shareholder in Aeróleo and/or in the nationality of the officers of 
this subsidiary could affect the licenses of Aeróleo. Our ability to conduct our helicopter operating business in Brazil is dependent 
on our ability to maintain Aeróleo’s licenses and AOC. If we are unable to maintain such licenses and AOC, we will be prevented 
from performing flying operations in Brazil.

Other Countries and Regulations.  Our operations in other jurisdictions are regulated to various degrees by the governments 
of such jurisdictions and must be conducted in compliance with those regulations and, where applicable, in accordance with our 
air service licenses and AOC. Such regulations may require us to obtain a license to operate in that country, favor local companies 
or require operating permits that can only be obtained by locally registered companies and may impose other nationality 
requirements. In such cases, we partner with local persons, but there is no assurance regarding which foreign governmental 
regulations may be applicable in the future to our helicopter operations and whether we would be able to comply with them.

The revocation of any of the licenses discussed above or the termination of any of our relationships with local parties 
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Changes in effective tax rates, taxation of our foreign subsidiaries or adverse outcomes resulting from examination of our tax 
returns could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our future effective tax rates could be adversely affected by changes in tax laws, both domestically and internationally, 
or the interpretation or application thereof.  From time to time, the U.S. Congress and foreign, state and local governments consider 
legislation that could increase our effective tax rate or the effective tax rates of our consolidated affiliates. We cannot determine 
whether, or in what form, legislation will ultimately be enacted or what the impact of any such legislation would have on our 
profitability. If these or other changes to tax laws are enacted that increase our effective tax rate, such changes could have a material 
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operation.

Our future effective tax rates could also be materially adversely affected by changes in the valuation of our deferred tax 
assets and liabilities, changes in the mix of earnings in countries with differing statutory tax rates, the ultimate repatriation of 
earnings from foreign subsidiaries to the U.S., or by changes in tax treaties, regulations, accounting principles or interpretations 
thereof in one or more countries in which we operate. In addition, we are subject to the potential examination of our income tax 
returns by the Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) and other tax authorities where we file tax returns. We regularly assess the 
likelihood of adverse outcomes resulting from these examinations to determine the adequacy of our provision for income taxes. 
There can be no assurance that such examinations will not have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and 
results of operations.

We are subject to many different forms of taxation in various jurisdictions throughout the world, which could lead to 
disagreements with tax authorities regarding the application of tax laws.

We are subject to many different forms of taxation in the jurisdictions throughout the world in which we operate including, 
but not limited to, income tax, withholding tax and payroll-related taxes. Tax law and administration are extremely complex and 
often require us, together with our advisors, to make subjective determinations. The tax authorities in the various jurisdictions 
where we conduct business might not agree with the determinations that we make with our advisors with respect to the application 
of tax law. Such disagreements could result in lengthy legal disputes and, ultimately, in the payment of substantial funds to the 
government authorities of foreign and local jurisdictions where we carry on business or provide goods or services, which could 
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our estimate of tax related assets, liabilities, recoveries and expenses incorporates significant assumptions. These 
assumptions include, but are not limited to, the tax laws in various jurisdictions, the effect of tax treaties between jurisdictions, 
taxable income projections, and the benefits of various restructuring plans. To the extent that such assumptions differ from actual 
results, we may have to record additional income tax expenses and liabilities.

Recently enacted tax reform legislation, informally known as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (the “Tax Act”), adopted 
significant changes to the Internal Revenue Code (the “Code”), including, among other things, significantly reducing the statutory 
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corporate U.S. federal income tax rate, imposing limitations on the ability to deduct interest expense and net operating losses and 
making changes to the way a U.S. multinational’s foreign operations are taxed, including a one-time mandatory tax on deferred 
foreign earnings and the imposition of the “base erosion anti-abuse tax.”  Because the Tax Act was adopted in December 2017, 
we have made estimates of the effects of the Tax Act on our financial results and condition that we believe are reasonable and 
have recorded provisional amounts in our financial statements as of December 31, 2017. However, we may make adjustments to 
the provisional amounts as we continue to assess the impact the Tax Act will have on us and such adjustments may materially 
impact our provision for income taxes and effective tax rate in the period in which the adjustments are made.

Risk Factors Relating to Our Common Stock

Our stock price may fluctuate significantly.

The trading price of our Common Stock may be volatile and subject to wide price fluctuations in response to various 
factors, including:

• market conditions in the broader stock market;
• commodity prices, including oil and gas prices and the perceived level of off-shore oil and gas activities;
• actual or anticipated fluctuations in our and our competitors’ quarterly financial condition and results of

operations;
• introduction of new equipment or services by us or our competitors;
• grounding of all or a portion of our fleet;
• issuance of new or changed securities analysts’ reports or recommendations;
• sales, or anticipated sales, of large blocks of our stock;
• business or asset acquisitions or dispositions;
• additions or departures of key personnel;
• regulatory or political developments including those related to budget appropriations;
• litigation and governmental investigations; and
• changing economic conditions.

The market for our Common Stock has historically experienced and may continue to experience significant price and
volume fluctuations similar to those experienced by the broader stock market in recent years. Generally, the fluctuations experienced 
by the broader stock market have affected the market prices of securities issued by many companies for reasons unrelated to their 
operating performance and may adversely affect the price of our Common Stock. In addition, our announcements of our quarterly 
operating results, changes in general conditions in the economy or the financial markets and other developments affecting us, our 
affiliates or our competitors could cause the market price of our Common Stock to fluctuate substantially.

If securities analysts or industry analysts downgrade our Common Stock, publish negative research or reports or fail to publish 
reports about our business, the price and trading volume of our Common Stock could decline.

The trading market for our Common Stock will be influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities 
analysts publish about us, our business and our market. If one or more analysts adversely change their recommendation regarding 
our Common Stock or our competitors’ stock, our share price would likely decline. If one or more analysts cease coverage of us 
or fail to publish reports on us regularly, we could lose visibility in the financial markets which in turn could cause our share price 
or trading volume to decline.

We limit foreign ownership of our company, which could reduce the price of our Common Stock and cause owners of our 
Common Stock who are not U.S. persons to lose their voting rights.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that persons or entities that are not “citizens of the U.S.” (as 
defined in the Federal Aviation Act of 1958) shall not collectively own or control more than 24.9% of the voting power of our 
outstanding capital stock (the “Permitted Foreign Ownership Percentage”) and that, if at any time persons that are not citizens of 
the U.S. nevertheless collectively own or control more than the Permitted Foreign Ownership Percentage, the voting rights of our 
outstanding voting capital stock in excess of the Permitted Foreign Ownership Percentage owned by stockholders who are not 
citizens of the U.S. shall automatically be reduced. These voting rights will be reduced pro rata among the holders of voting shares 
who are not citizens of the U.S. to equal the Permitted Foreign Ownership Percentage based on the number of votes to which the 
underlying voting securities are entitled. Shares held by persons who are not citizens of the U.S. may lose their associated voting 
rights and be redeemed as a result of these provisions. These restrictions may also have a material adverse impact on the liquidity 
or market value of our Common Stock because stockholders may be unable to transfer our Common Stock to persons who are not 
citizens of the U.S.
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We have not paid dividends on our Common Stock historically and may not pay any cash dividends on our Common Stock 
for the foreseeable future.

We have not paid cash dividends historically, nor do we expect to pay cash dividends on our Common Stock in the 
foreseeable future.

Risk Factors Relating to Our Operation as a Public Company

The cost of compliance or failure to comply with the Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the NYSE requirements 
may materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We are subject to the reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) 
and certain provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act as well as the reporting and corporate governance requirements of the NYSE. 
For instance, for the first time since our spin-off from SEACOR Holdings in 2013, we are required to provide an auditor’s attestation 
report on management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our system of internal controls over financial reporting. This and other 
similar public company requirements impose significant compliance obligations upon us and may place a strain on our systems 
and resources. The Exchange Act requires that we file annual and current reports with respect to our business and financial condition. 
The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over financial 
reporting. The failure to comply with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act may result in investors losing confidence in the 
reliability of our financial statements (which may result in a decrease in the trading price of our Common Stock), prevent us from 
providing the required financial information in a timely manner (which could materially adversely affect our business, financial 
condition, results of operations, the trading price of our Common Stock and our ability to access capital markets, if necessary), 
prevent us from otherwise complying with the standards applicable to us as an independent, publicly-traded company and subject 
us to adverse regulatory consequences.

Provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, amended and restated bylaws and Delaware law may 
discourage, delay or prevent a change of control of our Company or changes in our management.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and  amended and restated bylaws include certain provisions that 
could have the effect of discouraging, delaying or preventing a change of control of our Company or changes in our management. 
Such provisions include, among other things:

• restrictions on the ability of our stockholders to fill a vacancy on the board of directors;
• restrictions related to the ability of non-U.S. citizens owning our Common Stock;
• our ability to issue preferred stock with terms that the board of directors may determine, without stockholder approval,

which could be used to significantly dilute the ownership of a hostile acquirer;
• the absence of cumulative voting in the election of directors which may limit the ability of minority stockholders to

elect directors; and
• advance notice requirements for stockholder proposals and nominations, which may discourage or deter a potential

acquirer from soliciting proxies to elect a particular slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of
us.

These provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws may discourage, delay or prevent 
a transaction involving a change in control of our Company that is in the best interest of our stockholders. Even in the absence of 
a takeover attempt, the existence of these provisions may materially adversely affect the prevailing market price of our Common 
Stock if they are viewed as discouraging future takeover attempts.

An investor’s percentage of ownership in the Company may be diluted in the future

As with any publicly traded company, an investor’s percentage ownership in us may be diluted in the future because of 
equity issuances for acquisitions, capital market transactions or otherwise, including equity awards that we have and will continue 
to grant to directors, officers and employees.  Under the Era Group Inc. 2012 Share Incentive Plan, we are permitted to issue 
awards of up to 4,000,000 shares of our Common Stock, of which 1,764,621 shares have already been issued as of December 31, 
2018.  Any substantial issuance of our Common Stock could significantly affect the trading price of our Common Stock.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

19_0410_Era_2018 10-K.indd   28 4/10/19   9:47 PM



29 30

29

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our executive offices are located in Houston, Texas, and we maintain our U.S. Gulf of Mexico regional headquarters in 
Lake Charles, Louisiana, where we coordinate operations for the entire U.S. Gulf of Mexico, manage the support of our worldwide 
operations, and house our primary maintenance facility and training center. We maintain additional bases in the U.S. Gulf of 
Mexico near key offshore development sites as well.  Additionally, we maintain a regional headquarters in Rio de Janeiro and 
multiple operating bases in Brazil and a regional headquarters in Bogotá and multiple operating bases in Colombia. The majority 
of the bases from which we operate are leased, with remaining terms of between one and sixty years. 

Our principal physical properties are helicopters, which are more fully described in Item 1, - “Business - Equipment and 
Services” above.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In the normal course of our business, we become involved in various litigation matters including, among other things, 
claims by third parties for alleged property damages and personal injuries.  Management has used estimates in determining our 
potential exposure to these matters and has recorded reserves in our financial statements related thereto as appropriate.  It is possible 
that a change in our estimates related to these exposures could occur, but we do not expect any such changes in estimated costs 
would have a material effect on our consolidated financial position or results of operations.  See Item 7, Management’s Discussion 
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Contingencies for a discussion of certain legal proceedings that 
we are party to and Note 8 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE COMPANY

Officers of Era Group serve at the pleasure of the Board of Directors.  The name, age and offices held by each of the 
executive officers of Era Group as of March 5, 2019 were as follows: 

Name Age Position
Christopher Bradshaw 42 President and Chief Executive Officer since November 2014 and Chief Financial 

Officer from October 2012 to September 2015.  Mr. Bradshaw was appointed a director 
of the Company in February 2015.  He served as the Company’s Acting Chief 
Executive Officer from August 2014 to November 2014.  From 2009 until 2012, Mr. 
Bradshaw served as Managing Partner and Chief Financial Officer of U.S. Capital 
Advisors LLC, an independent financial advisory firm.  Prior to co-founding U.S. 
Capital Advisors, he was an energy investment banker at UBS Securities LLC, Morgan 
Stanley & Co., and PaineWebber Incorporated.  Additionally, Mr. Bradshaw is an 
officer and director of certain Era Group joint ventures and subsidiaries.

Crystal Gordon 40 Senior Vice President, General Counsel & Chief Administrative Officer since joining 
the Company in January 2019. From 2011 through 2018, Ms. Gordon served as the 
Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary of Air Methods 
Corporation, an emergency air medical company operating over 400 aircraft 
throughout the U.S.  At Air Methods Corporation, she oversaw the company’s legal, 
compliance, government affairs, risk management and real estate departments.  
During her tenure, she led the company through various strategic initiatives, advising 
senior management and the board of directors on numerous mergers and acquisitions 
and joint ventures, ultimately leading Air Methods through its $2.5 billion take-private 
transaction in 2017.  Prior to her appointment at Air Methods Corporation, Ms. Gordon 
worked in private practice as a corporate and securities lawyer.  Her practice involved 
representing public and private companies on a variety of corporate transactions, 
including mergers, acquisitions and dispositions, public offerings and private 
placements of debt and equity securities.   Ms. Gordon served in several compliance 
roles in the financial services industry prior to attending law school.

Jennifer Whalen 45 Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer since February 2018. From June 2017 
to February 2018, Ms. Whalen served as the Company’s Vice President, Acting Chief 
Financial Officer, from August 2013 to June 2017, served as Vice President and Chief 
Accounting Officer, and from April 2012 to August 2013, served as the Company’s 
Controller.  From August 2007 to March 2012, Ms. Whalen served in several capacities 
at nLIGHT Photonics Corporation, including as Director of Accounting.  Prior to these 
roles, Ms. Whalen served as the Manager of Accounting at InFocus Corporation for 
just over two years.  Ms. Whalen started her career in the assurance practice with 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.

Stuart Stavley 46 Senior Vice President, Operations and Fleet Management since October 2014.  From 
October 2012 to October 2014, Mr. Stavley served as the Company’s Senior Vice 
President - Fleet Management, and from October 2010 to October 2012, he served as 
Vice President - Fleet Management.  From September 2008 through October 2010, 
he served as the Company’s Director of Technical Services and from September 2005 
through September 2008 as the Company’s Director of Maintenance.  He began with 
the Company in 1993 and prior to September 2005 also served as Chief Inspector and 
Field AMT.

Paul White 43 Senior Vice President, Commercial since October 2014.  From October 2012 to 
October 2014, Mr. White served as the Company’s Senior Vice President - Domestic, 
and from August 2010 to October 2012, he served as Vice President, General Manager 
Gulf of Mexico.  Mr. White served as the Company’s General Manager of Era Training 
Center LLC from September 2008 to August 2010 and the Company’s Director of 
Training from 2007 to 2010.  Previously Mr. White served in various roles for the 
Company including Pilot, Check Airman, Senior Check Airman and Assistant Chief 
Pilot CFR Part 135.

Grant Newman 41 Senior Vice President, Strategy & Corporate Development since September 2018. 
From 2008 until 2018, Mr. Newman was an investment banker in the Industrials group 
at Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., where he most recently served as a Director covering 
aviation and commercial aerospace. Mr. Newman began his professional career at 
General Electric, in the GE Plastics division where he held several corporate finance 
positions from 2001 to 2006 including roles in FP&A, manufacturing, sourcing and 
commercial finance as well as project leadership. During his tenure, he completed 
GE’s rigorous Financial Management Program and was certified as a Lean Six Sigma 
Black Belt.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information for Common Stock

Our Common Stock is listed on the NYSE under the trading symbol “ERA.” On March 5, 2019, the closing price per share of 
our Common Stock as reported on the NYSE was $11.33. 

Holders of Record

As of March 5, 2019, there were 166 holders of record of our Common Stock.

Dividend Policy 

We have never declared or paid any cash dividend on our Common Stock. We do not expect to pay any cash dividends in the 
foreseeable future.

Company Purchases of Equity Securities

The following table presents information regarding our repurchases of shares of our Common Stock on a monthly basis 
during the fourth quarter of 2018:

Total Number
of Shares

Repurchased

Average Price
Paid Per

Share

Total Number of
Shares Purchased
as Part of Publicly
Announced Plans

or Programs

Maximum Value of 
Shares that May 
Yet be Purchased 

Under the Plans or 
Programs(1)

October 1, 2018 - October 31, 2018 — $ — — $ 22,934,076
November 1, 2018 - November 30, 2018 — $ — — $ 22,934,076
December 1, 2018 - December 31, 2018 — $ — — $ 22,934,076

_______________
(1) On August 14, 2014, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to $25.0 million in value of our Common Stock from time to time at the

discretion of a committee of our Board of Directors.  As of December 31, 2018, $22.9 million of authority remained unutilized and available for
purchases of our Common Stock at the discretion of a committee of our Board of Directors comprised of the Non-Executive Chairman, the Audit
Committee Chairman and our President and Chief Executive Officer.
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Performance Graph

The following graph shows a comparison from December 31, 2013 through December 31, 2018 of the cumulative total 
return for our Common Stock, the Standard & Poor’s 500 Stock Index (“S&P 500 Index”), the Standard & Poor’s Oil & Gas 
Equipment Select Industry Index and our peer group(1). The graph assumes that $100 was invested at the market close on December 
31, 2013.

_______________
(1) Index of Bristow Group Inc. and PHI Inc.

This performance graph shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or otherwise subject
to liabilities under that Section, and shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing of Era Group under the 
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act, except as shall be expressly set forth by specific reference in such filing.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, our selected historical consolidated financial data (in thousands, 
except per share data).  Such financial data should be read in conjunction with “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K.

Years Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Statements of Operations Data:
Revenues $ 221,676 $ 231,321 $ 247,228 $ 281,837 $ 331,222
Operating income (loss) 28,070 (136,464) (3,369) 24,294 42,651
Net income (loss) attributable to Era Group Inc. 13,922 (28,161) (7,978) 8,705 17,117

Earnings (Loss) Per Common Share:
Basic $ 0.64 $ (1.36) $ (0.39) $ 0.42 $ 0.84
Diluted $ 0.64 $ (1.36) $ (0.39) $ 0.42 $ 0.84

Statement of Cash Flows Data – provided by
(used in):
Operating activities $ 54,354 $ 20,096 $ 58,504 $ 44,456 $ 78,286
Investing activities 22,826 (6,574) (9,116) (22,616) (93,872)
Financing activities (43,509) (27,497) (32,986) (46,026) 26,127
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash, cash 
equivalents and restricted cash 249 81 (236) (2,120) (1,009)
Capital expenditures (9,216) (16,770) (39,200) (60,050) (106,732)

Balance Sheet Data (at period end):
Cash and cash equivalents $ 50,753 $ 13,583 $ 26,950 $ 14,370 $ 40,867
Total assets 764,863 792,097 955,173 1,004,351 1,017,174
Long-term debt, less current portion 160,217 202,174 230,139 264,479 282,118
Total equity 463,436 445,681 468,417 471,303 460,364

19_0410_Era_2018 10-K.indd   33 4/10/19   9:47 PM



33 34

34

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

The following is a discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations for the fiscal years ended 
December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016. You should read this discussion and analysis together with our Consolidated Financial 
Statements and related notes and the other financial information included elsewhere in this Annual Report. This discussion contains 
forward-looking statements that involve significant risks and uncertainties. As a result of many factors, such as those set forth 
under “Item 1.A. Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Annual Report, our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated 
in these forward-looking statements.

Overview

We are one of the largest helicopter operators in the world and the longest serving helicopter transport operator in the 
U.S., which is our primary area of operations.  Our helicopters are primarily used to transport personnel to, from and between
offshore oil and gas production platforms, drilling rigs and other installations.  In the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and
2016, approximately 71%, 66% and 69%, respectively, of our total operating revenues were earned in the U.S.  In the years ended
December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, approximately 29%, 34% and 31%, respectively, of total operating revenues were earned in
international locations.  In addition to the U.S., we currently have customers in Brazil, Colombia, India, Mexico, Spain and
Suriname.

The primary users of our helicopter services are international, independent and major integrated oil and gas exploration, 
development and production companies, national oil companies and BSEE.  In the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 
2016, approximately 95%, 91% and 88%, respectively, of our operating revenues were derived from helicopter services, including 
emergency response services, provided to customers primarily engaged in offshore oil and gas exploration, development and 
production activities or regulatory agencies that monitor such activities.  Additionally, our leasing customers typically provide 
services to oil and gas companies in their respective local markets.  As such, our results are tied to the level of activity in the 
offshore oil and gas industry.  In addition to serving the oil and gas industry, we provide emergency response services and utility 
services, among other activities.  

As of December 31, 2018, we owned a total of 108 helicopters, consisting of nine heavy helicopters, 46 medium 
helicopters, 23 light twin engine helicopters and 30 light single engine helicopters.  As of December 31, 2018, we had commitments 
to purchase an additional eight new helicopters consisting of three heavy helicopters and five light twin helicopters.  The heavy 
helicopters are scheduled to be delivered in 2019 and 2020, and the delivery dates for the light twin helicopters have not been 
determined.  In addition, we had outstanding options to purchase up to an additional 10 heavy helicopters.  If these options were 
exercised, the helicopters would be scheduled for delivery in 2020 and 2021. 

Lines of Service 

Offshore Oil and Gas.  The offshore oil and gas market is highly cyclical with demand highly correlated to the price of 
oil and gas, which tends to fluctuate depending on many factors, including global economic activity, levels of inventory and overall 
demand.  In addition to the price of oil and gas, the availability of acreage and local tax incentives or disincentives and requirements 
for maintaining interests in leases affect activity levels in the oil and gas industry.  Price levels for oil and gas by themselves can 
cause additional fluctuations by inducing changes in consumer behavior. 

For the last 12 years, we have provided transportation services to government inspectors of offshore installations, drilling 
rigs and platforms.  This contract was renewed in October 2016 for a term of one year with four one-year options to extend, and 
is expected to run through September 2021.

Brazil is among the most important markets for offshore oil and gas exploration, development and production activity 
world-wide.  We participate in this market through our consolidated joint venture, Aeróleo.

Dry-Leasing.  We enter into lease arrangements for our helicopters with operators primarily located in international 
markets such as Mexico, India and Spain.  The helicopters are contracted to local helicopter operators, which often prefer to lease 
helicopters rather than purchase them.  Leasing affords us the opportunity to access new markets without significant initial 
infrastructure investment and generally without ongoing operating risk.

Other Activities and Services.  In order to diversify sources of our earnings and cash flow, we deploy a number of 
helicopters in support of other industries and activities, such as emergency response services and until recently flightseeing tours. 
In the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, 4%, 7% and 12% of our operating revenues were generated by these other 
activities and services. We have also provided inland utility services in Alaska such as firefighting, mining, power line and pipeline 
survey activities.  In addition, we hold a 50% interest in Dart, an international sales and manufacturing organization focused on 
after-market helicopter parts and accessories. 
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Market Outlook

The offshore oil and gas market is highly cyclical with demand linked to the price of oil and gas.  The prices of oil and 
gas are critical factors in our customers’ investment and spending decisions.  The price of crude oil declined significantly beginning 
mid- 2014, which negatively impacted the cash flow of our customers and has led them to reduce capital and operational expenditures 
from prior levels, including reductions related to offshore exploration, development and production activities. We experienced 
customer contract cancellations and decreased fleet utilization as some of our customers decreased the number of helicopters on 
contract or canceled their contract upon limited notice.  While the price of crude oil has now recovered to more favorable levels, 
our customers’ spending on offshore exploration, development and production activities remains depressed.

We generate a vast majority of our operating revenue from contracts supporting our oil and gas customers’ offshore 
production operations, which have long-term transportation requirements.  Production activities are typically less cyclical than 
the exploration and development activities because production platforms remain in place over the long-term and are relatively 
unaffected by economic cycles, as the marginal cost of lifting a barrel of oil once a platform is in operation is low.  If there are 
additional declines in the price of oil and gas, there could be a delay or cancellation of planned offshore projects impacting our 
operations in future periods. 

The remainder of our oil and gas revenues primarily comes from transporting personnel to and from offshore drilling 
rigs.  Deepwater activity continues to be a significant segment of the global offshore oil and gas markets and typically involves 
significant capital investment and multi-year development plans.  Such projects are generally underwritten by the oil and gas 
companies using relatively conservative assumptions relating to oil and gas prices.  Although these projects are considered to be 
less susceptible to short-term fluctuations in the price of oil and gas compared to shorter cycle projects, persistently low crude oil 
prices over the last four years caused these companies to reevaluate their future capital expenditures in regards to deepwater 
projects and resulted in the rescaling, delay or cancellation of planned offshore projects, which could continue to impact our 
operations in future periods.

We are exposed to foreign currency exchange risk primarily through our euro-denominated capital commitments and our 
Brazilian operations, where we receive a portion of our revenues and incur expenses in the Brazilian real.  Two of the large 
helicopter OEMs are headquartered in Europe and price many of their helicopters in euros.  Fluctuations in the value of the U.S. 
dollar against the euro affects the amount of our unfunded commitments in U.S. dollar terms.  Although the strength of the U.S. 
dollar has made the acquisition of euro-denominated helicopter models less expensive for us in recent years, the weakness of the 
euro also makes such acquisitions less expensive for our competitors and potential competitors, which could lead to excess 
helicopter capacity and increased competition and jeopardize both pricing and utilization of our equipment.  Fluctuations in the 
value of the euro could also destabilize residual values for certain euro-denominated helicopters.

We believe that we are well positioned to address near-term market and industry challenges.  Our liquidity levels provide 
a stable foundation in the current market environment, which together with operational efficiency improvements will permit us 
to maintain and improve our customer relationships and competitive position.

Recent Developments 

Sale of Dart Joint Venture 

On March 7, 2019, the Company in conjunction with its 50% joint venture partner entered into an agreement to sell Dart 
for $75 million.  The transaction is expected to close in the second quarter of 2019, subject to the satisfaction or waiver of customary 
closing conditions.  At closing, the Company expects to receive cash proceeds, including repayment of a related party note 
receivable, of approximately $40 million.  The Company’s tax basis in Dart was $23.6 million as of December 31, 2018.

Fleet Developments and Capital Commitments 

We focus on the modernization of our fleet and the standardization of equipment.  Oil and gas companies typically require 
modern helicopters that offer enhanced safety features and greater performance.  In response to this demand, we have transformed 
our fleet significantly.  Since the beginning of 2005, we have added 141 helicopters, disposed of 149 helicopters and reduced the 
average age of our owned fleet from 17 years to 13 years.  We spent $9.2 million, $16.8 million and $39.2 million to acquire 
helicopters and other equipment in the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively, primarily for heavy and 
medium helicopters, spare helicopter parts and facility improvements. 

As of December 31, 2018, we had unfunded commitments of $81.1 million, primarily stemming from agreements to 
purchase eight helicopters, consisting of three AW189 heavy helicopters and five AW169 light twin helicopters.  We also had $1.3 
million of deposits paid on options that have not yet been exercised.  The AW189 helicopters are scheduled to be delivered in 
2019 and 2020.  Delivery dates for the AW169 helicopters have not been determined.  In addition, we had outstanding options to 
purchase up to an additional ten AW189 helicopters.  If these options were exercised, the helicopters would be delivered in 2020
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and 2021.  Approximately $82.4 million of these commitments (inclusive of deposits paid on options not yet exercised) may be 
terminated without further liability other than aggregate liquidated damages of $2.1 million. 

Components of Revenues and Expenses 

We derive our revenues primarily from operating and leasing our equipment, and our profits depend on our cost of capital, 
the acquisition costs of assets, our operating costs and our reputation.

Operating revenues recorded under U.S. Gulf of Mexico and International are primarily generated from offshore oil and 
gas exploration, development and production activities.  These revenues are typically earned through a combination of fixed 
monthly fees plus an incremental charge based on flight hours flown.  Charter revenues are typically earned through either a 
combination of a daily fixed fee plus a charge based on hours flown or an hourly rate with a minimum number of hours to be 
charged daily.

Operating revenues recorded under dry-leasing are generated from leases to third-party operators where we are not 
responsible for the operation of the helicopters.  For certain of these leases, we also provide crew training, management expertise, 
and logistical and maintenance support.  Leases typically call for a fixed monthly fee only, but may also include an additional 
charge based on flight hours flown and/or the level of personnel support.  The majority of our dry-leasing revenues have been 
generated by helicopters deployed internationally.

Operating revenues for emergency response services are earned through a fixed monthly fee plus an incremental charge 
for flight hours flown, and charter revenues are typically earned through an hourly rate with a minimum number of hours to be 
charged daily. 

The aggregate cost of our operations depends primarily on the size and asset mix of the fleet.  Our operating costs and 
expenses are grouped into the following categories:

• personnel (includes wages, benefits, payroll taxes, savings plans, subsistence and travel);

• repairs and maintenance (primarily routine activities and hourly charges for power-by-the-hour (“PBH”) maintenance
contracts that cover helicopter refurbishments and engine and major component overhauls that are performed in
accordance with planned maintenance programs);

• insurance (including the cost of hull and liability insurance premiums and loss deductibles);

• fuel;

• leased-in equipment (includes the cost of leasing helicopters and equipment); and

• other (primarily base expenses, property, sales and use taxes, communication costs, freight expenses, and other).

We engage a number of third-party vendors to maintain the engines and certain components on some of our helicopter
models under PBH maintenance contracts.  These programs require us to pay for the maintenance service ratably over the contract 
period, typically based on actual flight hours.  PBH providers generally bill monthly based on hours flown in the prior month, the 
costs being expensed as incurred.  In the event we place a helicopter in a program after a maintenance period has begun, it may 
be necessary to pay an initial buy-in charge based on hours flown since the previous maintenance event.  This buy-in charge is 
normally recorded as a prepaid expense and amortized as an operating expense over the remaining PBH contract period.  If a 
helicopter is sold or otherwise removed from a program before the scheduled maintenance work is carried out, we may be able to 
recover part of our payments to the PBH provider, in which case we record a reduction to operating expense.  We also incur repairs 
and maintenance expense through vendor arrangements whereby we obtain repair quotes and authorize service through a repair 
order process.  

Our policy of expensing all repair costs as incurred may result in operating expenses varying substantially when compared 
with a prior year or prior quarter if a disproportionate number of repairs, refurbishments or overhauls are undertaken.  This variation 
can be exacerbated by the timing of entering or exiting third-party PBH programs and the timing of vendor credits.

For helicopters that we lease to third parties under arrangements whereby the customer assumes operational responsibility, 
we often provide maintenance and parts support, but generally we incur no other material operating costs.  In most instances, our 
leases require clients to procure adequate insurance, but we purchase contingent hull and liability coverage to mitigate the risk of 
a client’s coverage failing to respond.  In some instances, we provide training and other services to support our lease customers. 
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Results of Operations

2018 2017 2016
(in thousands) % (in thousands) % (in thousands) %

Operating revenues:
United States $ 157,267 71 $ 152,187 66 $ 171,121 69
Foreign 64,409 29 79,134 34 76,107 31

Total operating revenues 221,676 100 231,321 100 247,228 100
Costs and expenses:

Operating:
Personnel 55,304 25 62,380 27 69,889 28
Repairs and maintenance 48,604 22 54,325 23 45,875 19
Insurance and loss reserves 5,018 2 4,594 2 6,253 3
Fuel 14,720 7 12,386 5 12,860 5
Leased-in equipment 627 — 1,107 — 1,091 —
Other 27,250 12 32,654 14 33,895 14

Total operating expenses 151,523 68 167,446 71 169,863 69
Administrative and general 45,126 20 42,092 18 36,206 15
Depreciation and amortization 39,541 18 45,736 20 49,315 20

Total costs and expenses 236,190 106 255,274 109 255,384 104
Gains on asset dispositions 1,575 1 4,507 2 4,787 2
Litigation settlement proceeds 42,000 19 — — — —
Loss on impairment (991) — (117,018) (51) — —
Operating income (loss) 28,070 14 (136,464) (58) (3,369) (2)
Other income (expense):

Interest income 2,042 1 760 — 741 —
Interest expense (15,131) (7) (16,763) (7) (17,325) (7)
Foreign currency gains (losses), net (1,018) — (226) — 7 —
Gain on debt extinguishment 175 — — — 518 —
Other, net 54 — (12) — 69 —

Total other income (expense) (13,878) (6) (16,241) (7) (15,990) (7)
Income (loss) before income tax expense and equity

earnings 14,192 8 (152,705) (65) (19,359) (9)
Income tax expense (benefit), net 2,940 1 (122,665) (53) (3,357) (1)
Income (loss) before equity earnings 11,252 7 (30,040) (12) (16,002) (8)
Equity earnings, net of tax 2,206 1 1,425 1 1,092 —
Net income (loss) 13,458 8 (28,615) (11) (14,910) (8)
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest in

subsidiary 464 — 454 — 6,932 3
Net income (loss) attributable to Era Group Inc. $ 13,922 8 $ (28,161) (11) $ (7,978) (5)
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Operating Revenues by Service Line. The following table sets forth our operating revenues by service line for the 
years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016.

2018 2017 2016
(in thousands) % (in thousands) % (in thousands) %

Operating revenues
Oil and gas:(1)

U.S. $ 143,654 65 $ 134,010 58 $ 139,750 57
International 56,800 25 64,344 28 63,089 25

Total oil and gas 200,454 90 198,354 86 202,839 82
Dry-leasing(2) 11,482 6 16,394 7 13,701 6
Emergency response(3) 9,740 4 11,502 5 24,973 10
Flightseeing — — 5,071 2 5,715 2

Total operating revenues $ 221,676 100 $ 231,321 100 $ 247,228 100
_______________

(1) Primarily oil and gas activities, but also includes revenues from utility services such as firefighting.
(2) Includes property rental income for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, of approximately, $0.3 million and $0.5 million, respectively, that 

was previously included in emergency response services and oil and gas service lines.
(3) Includes search and rescue and air medical services.

Year Ended December 31, 2018 compared with Year Ended December 31, 2017

Operating Revenues.  Operating revenues were $9.6 million lower in the twelve months ended December 31, 2018 (the 
“Current Year”) compared to the twelve months ended December 31, 2017 (the “Prior Year”). 

Operating revenues from oil and gas operations in the U.S. were $9.6 million higher in the Current Year. Operating 
revenues from heavy and medium helicopters were $13.0 million and $3.5 million higher, respectively, primarily due to higher 
utilization.  Operating revenues from single engine and light twin helicopters were $3.7 million and $2.9 million lower, respectively, 
primarily due to lower utilization.  Miscellaneous revenues were $0.3 million lower in the Current Year.

Operating revenues from international oil and gas operations were $7.5 million lower in the Current Year. Operating 
revenues in Brazil were $4.1 million lower primarily due to the weakening of the Brazilian real relative to the U.S. dollar and 
lower utilization. Operating revenues in Suriname were $2.8 million lower due to the end of contracts. Operating revenues in 
Colombia were $0.7 million lower primarily due to a short-term offshore contract in the Prior Year.

Revenues from dry-leasing activities were $4.9 million lower in the Current Year primarily due to $4.0 million of lease 
return charges on helicopters returned to the Company upon the conclusion of lease contracts in the Prior Year and contracts that 
have ended. These decreases were partially offset by the recognition of a bankruptcy settlement during the Current Year.

Operating revenues from emergency response services were $1.8 million lower primarily due to a $1.4 million reduction 
related to the end of air medical contracts during the Prior Year and a $0.4 million reduction related to fewer search and rescue 
(“SAR”) subscribers in the Current Year.

Operating revenues from flightseeing activities were $5.1 million lower due to the sale of the Company’s flightseeing 
assets in the Current Year.

Operating Expenses.  Operating expenses were $15.9 million lower in the Current Year. Personnel costs were $7.1 million
lower primarily due to a reduction in headcount. Repairs and maintenance expenses were $5.7 million lower primarily due to a 
$5.1 million decrease related to the timing of repairs, a $0.9 million net increase in vendor credits, and a $0.4 million credit related 
to the return of leased-in helicopters in the Current Year, partially offset by a $0.6 million increase in power-by-the-hour (“PBH”) 
expense. Other operating expenses were $5.4 million lower primarily due to accounting for a Tax Special Regularization Program 
(“PERT”) in Brazil in the Prior Year, the absence of costs related to flightseeing activities, and the reversal of previously reserved 
deposits following a favorable decision on Brazilian customs and tax disputes in the Current Year. These decreases were partially 
offset by an increase in fuel expense of $2.3 million primarily due to a higher average fuel price.

Administrative and General.  Administrative and general expenses were $3.0 million higher in the Current Year primarily 
due to an increase of $4.5 million in professional services fees related to litigation that has now been settled. This increase was 
partially offset by a decrease of $0.7 million in other taxes related to the correction of immaterial accounting errors in the Prior 
Year, a $0.3 million decrease in personnel costs primarily due to lower headcount and a $0.5 million decrease in other administrative 
and general costs.
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Depreciation and Amortization.  Depreciation and amortization expense was $6.2 million lower in the Current Year 
primarily due to a decrease in depreciation on the Company’s H225 helicopters following their impairment in the Prior Year, the 
subsequent sale of most of these helicopters during the Current Year, and certain assets becoming fully depreciated subsequent to 
the Prior Year.

Gains on Asset Dispositions, Net.  In the Current Year, the Company sold  or otherwise disposed of its flightseeing assets 
in Alaska (which consisted of eight single engine helicopters, two operating facilities, and related property and equipment), thirteen 
other helicopters (including six on sales-type leases), and other equipment for net gains of $1.6 million. In the Prior Year, the 
Company sold or otherwise disposed of a hangar in Alaska, three helicopters, capital parts and non-aircraft assets for gains of $4.5 
million.

Litigation Settlement Proceeds. Litigation settlement proceeds of $42.0 million related to a settlement in the Current 
Year.

Loss on Impairment.  The Company recorded losses on impairment of $1.0 million in the Current Year and $117.0 million
in the Prior Year related to its H225 helicopters.

Operating Income (Loss).  Operating income as a percentage of revenues was 13% in the Current Year compared to 
operating loss as a percentage of revenues of 58% in the Prior Year.  Excluding gains on asset dispositions, operating income as 
a percentage of revenues was 12% in the Current Year compared to operating loss as a percentage of revenues of 61% in the Prior 
Year. The increase in operating income as a percentage of revenues was primarily due to the recognition of litigation settlement 
proceeds in the Current Year and a decrease in losses recognized on impairment.

Interest Income. Interest income was $1.3 million higher in the Current Year primarily due to interest earned on sales-
type leases of H225 helicopters.

Interest Expense.  Interest expense was $1.6 million lower in the Current Year primarily due to accounting for PERT in 
the Prior Year and lower outstanding debt balances in the Current Year.

Foreign Currency Gains (Losses), net.  Foreign currency losses were $1.0 million in the Current Year primarily due to 
the weakening of the Brazilian real relative to the U.S. dollar.

Income Tax Benefit (Expense).  Income tax expense was $2.9 million in the Current Year primarily due to the recognition 
of litigation settlement proceeds. Income tax benefit was $122.7 million in the Prior Year primarily due to the impact of changes 
in U.S. income tax legislation and the impairment of the Company’s H225 helicopters, capital parts and inventory during the Prior 
Year.

Equity Earnings. Equity earnings, net of tax, were $0.8 million higher in the Current Year primarily due to higher earnings 
at our Dart Holding Company Ltd. (“Dart”) joint venture.

Year Ended December 31, 2017 compared with Year Ended December 31, 2016

Operating Revenues.  Operating revenues were $15.9 million lower in the twelve months ended December 31, 2017
compared to the twelve months ended December 31, 2016. 

Operating revenues from oil and gas operations in the U.S. were $5.9 million lower in 2017.  Operating revenues from 
light twin and single engine helicopters were $8.7 million and  $6.2 million lower, respectively, primarily due to lower utilization. 
Operating revenues from medium and heavy helicopters were $7.2 million and $2.7 million higher, respectively, primarily due to 
higher utilization. Miscellaneous revenues were $0.8 million lower primarily due to the recognition of a contract termination fee 
in 2016. 

Operating revenues from international oil and gas operations were $1.3 million higher. Operating revenues in Colombia 
increased by $1.7 million primarily due to a short-term contract and higher utilization. Operating revenues in Brazil increased by 
$0.6 million primarily due to the strengthening of the Brazilian real relative to the U.S. dollar, partially offset by lower utilization. 
These increases were partially offset by a $1.0 million decrease in Suriname primarily due to lower utilization. 

Operating revenues from emergency response services were $13.5 million lower in 2017 primarily due to a $5.6 million 
decrease as a result of fewer SAR subscribers and fewer SAR flight hours and a $7.9 million decrease as a result of the end of air 
medical contracts during 2017. 

Revenues from dry-leasing activities were $2.8 million higher in 2017 primarily due to $4.0 million of lease return charges 
on helicopters returned to the Company upon the conclusion of lease contracts, partially offset by leases that ended subsequent to 
2016. 

Operating revenues from flightseeing activities were $0.6 million lower in 2017 primarily due to lower utilization. 
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Operating Expenses.  Operating expenses were $2.4 million lower in 2017. Personnel costs were $7.5 million lower 
primarily due to a reduction in headcount. Insurance and loss reserves were $1.7 million lower primarily due to a reduction in 
premiums.  Fuel expense was $0.5 million lower primarily due to reduced flight hours. Other operating expenses were $1.2 million 
lower primarily due to reduced activity, partially offset by indirect tax expense of $2.0 million related to the PERT Program in 
Brazil in 2017. These decreases were partially offset by an increase in repairs and maintenance expense of $8.5 million primarily 
due to a $2.3 million increase in power-by-the-hour (“PBH”) expense, a net reduction in vendor credits of $2.4 million and a $3.8 
million increase related to the timing of repairs. The increased PBH expense was primarily due to the recognition of $7.1 million 
of credits in 2016 related to the removal of helicopters from PBH programs, partially offset by the recognition of credits and fewer 
flight hours in 2017.  

Administrative and General.  Administrative and general expenses were $5.9 million higher in 2017 primarily due to 
increases of $6.3 million in professional services fees and $0.7 million due to the recognition of a bad debt recovery in Brazil in 
2016. These increases were partially offset by a decrease of $0.8 million in compensation and employee costs as a result of lower 
headcount and a decrease of $0.3 million in other administrative and general costs. 

Depreciation and Amortization.  Depreciation and amortization expense was $3.6 million lower in 2017 primarily due 
to certain assets becoming fully depreciated and asset dispositions subsequent to 2016 and a decrease in depreciation on the 
Company’s H225 helicopters following their impairment during 2017, partially offset by new heavy helicopters placed in service. 

Gains on Asset Dispositions, Net.  In 2017, we sold or otherwise disposed of a hangar in Alaska, three helicopters, capital 
parts and other assets for gains of $4.5 million. In 2016, we sold or otherwise disposed of two hangars in Alaska, nine helicopters 
and related equipment for gains of $4.8 million. 

Loss on Impairment.  We recorded a loss on impairment of $117.0 million in 2017 related to a decline in the value of 
our H225 helicopters.  

Operating Income (Loss).  Operating loss as a percentage of revenues was 58% in 2017 compared to 2% in 2016. 
Excluding gains on asset dispositions, operating loss as a percentage of revenues was 61% in 2017 compared to 3% in 2016.  The 
increase in operating loss as a percentage of revenues in 2017 was primarily due to the loss on impairment and increased professional 
services fees and repairs and maintenance expenses as described above. 

Interest Expense.  Interest expense was $0.6 million lower in 2017 primarily due to lower outstanding debt balances and 
the resumption of the capitalization of interest on certain helicopter deposits in 2017 compared to the expensing of interest on 
these deposits in 2016 due to the refund of helicopter deposits. This was partially offset by $0.8 million of additional accrued 
interest resulting from the correction of immaterial accounting errors.

Gain on Debt Extinguishment. Gain on debt extinguishment was $0.5 million in 2016 due to the repurchase of $5.0 
million of our 7.750% Senior Notes. 

Income Tax Benefit.  Income tax benefit was $119.3 million higher in 2017 primarily due to approximately $70.0 million 
related to the impact of the Tax Act, as well as the tax impact of the impairment of our H225 helicopters, capital parts and inventory 
during 2017.

Equity Earnings. Equity earnings, net of tax, were $0.3 million higher in 2017 primarily due to higher earnings at our 
Dart Holding Company Ltd. (“Dart”) joint venture.

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

Our ongoing liquidity requirements arise primarily from working capital needs, meeting our capital commitments 
(including the purchase of helicopters and other equipment) and the repayment of debt obligations.  In addition, we may use our 
liquidity to fund acquisitions or to make other investments.  Sources of liquidity are cash balances, cash flows from operations 
and borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility, and, from time to time, we may secure additional liquidity through the issuance 
of equity or debt, as well as the sale of assets. 
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Summary of Cash Flows 

2018 2017 2016
(in thousands)

Cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities $ 54,354 $ 20,096 $ 58,504
Investing activities 22,826 (6,574) (9,116)
Financing activities (43,509) (27,497) (32,986)

Effect of exchange rates on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 249 81 (236)
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 33,920 $ (13,894) $ 16,166

Operating Activities

The components of cash flows provided by operating activities during the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 
2016 were as follows: 

2018 2017 2016
(in thousands)

Operating income before depreciation, gains on asset dispositions and
impairments, net $ 67,027 $ 21,493 $ 41,159

Changes in operating assets and liabilities before interest and income taxes (3,630) 8,795 21,040
Interest paid, excluding capitalized interest of $97, $497 and $46 in 2018, 2017

and 2016, respectively (13,581) (15,315) (15,268)
Income taxes refunded (paid) (283) (426) 5,978
Other 4,821 5,549 5,595

Total cash flows provided by operating activities $ 54,354 $ 20,096 $ 58,504

Operating income before depreciation and gains on asset dispositions and impairments, net was $45.5 million higher for 
the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the year ended December 31, 2017, primarily due to the recognition of $42.0 
million of litigation settlement proceeds in the Current Year and a $15.9 million decrease in operating expenses related to personnel 
reductions, decreased repairs and maintenance expenses and the absence of certain other operating expenses incurred in the Prior 
Year. The litigation settlement proceeds and the decrease in operating expenses were partially offset by a $9.6 million decrease in 
revenues and a $3.0 million increase in administrative and general expenses.

Operating income before depreciation and gains on asset dispositions and impairments, net was $19.7 million lower for 
the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the year ended December 31, 2016, due to a $15.9 million decrease in revenues 
resulting from reduced utilization of our helicopter fleet and dry-leasing contracts that ended during and subsequent to 2016 and 
a $5.9 million increase in administrative and general expenses. This decrease in revenues and increase in G&A was partially offset 
by a $2.4 million decrease in operating expenses primarily due to a reduction in activity and cost-cutting measures.

Changes in operating assets and liabilities before interest and income taxes resulted in cash outflows of $3.6 million for 
the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to inflows of $8.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, primarily due to 
a decrease in payables.

Changes in operating assets and liabilities before interest and income taxes resulted in cash inflows of $8.8 million for 
the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to inflows of $21.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2016, primarily due to 
a decrease in trade receivables and other assets.

Interest paid, excluding capitalized interest, was $1.7 million lower for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to 
the year ended December 31, 2017, primarily due to lower debt balances in the Current Year.

Income taxes paid were consistent for the year ended December 31, 2018 and the year ended December 31, 2017. 

Income taxes paid were $0.4 million as a result of operations in Suriname for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared 
to  income taxes refunded of $6.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2016.

Investing Activities

During the year ended December 31, 2018, net cash provided by investing activities was $22.8 million primarily as 
follows:

• Proceeds from the disposition of property and equipment were $29.6 million.
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• Net principal payments on notes due from third-parties and equity investees were $1.5 million.

• Dividends received from equity investees were $1.0 million.

• Capital expenditures were $9.2 million, which consisted primarily of helicopter acquisitions, spare helicopter parts,
and leasehold improvements.

During the year ended December 31, 2017, net cash used in investing activities was $6.6 million primarily as follows: 

• Capital expenditures were $16.8 million, which consisted primarily of helicopter acquisitions and deposits on future
helicopter deliveries.

• Proceeds from the disposition of property and equipment were $9.4 million.

• Net principal payments on notes due from third-parties and equity investees were $0.9 million.

• Investments in and advances to equity investees were $0.1 million.

During the year ended December 31, 2016, net cash used in investing activities was $9.1 million primarily as follows:

• Capital expenditures were $39.2 million, which consisted primarily of helicopter acquisitions, deposits on future
helicopter deliveries and a base expansion project.

• Proceeds from the disposition of property and equipment were $28.6 million.

• Net principal payments on notes due from third-parties and equity investees were $0.9 million.

• Return of helicopter deposits were $0.5 million.

Financing Activities

During the year ended December 31, 2018, net cash used in financing activities was $43.5 million primarily as follows:

• Principal payments on long-term debt, including our Revolving Credit Facility were $41.9 million.

• Issuance costs related to the amendment to our Revolving Credit Facility were $1.3 million.

• Extinguishment of long-term debt was $1.2 million.

• Proceeds from share-based award plans were $0.9 million.

During the year ended December 31, 2017, net cash used in financing activities was $27.5 million primarily as follows:

• Net principal payments on short and long-term debt were $45.3 million.

• Borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility were $17.0 million.

• Proceeds from share-based award plans were $0.8 million.

During the year ended December 31, 2016, net cash used in financing activities was $33.0 million primarily as follows:

• Net principal payments on long-term debt were $40.4 million.

• Borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility were $12.0 million.

• Cash used for the repurchase of a portion of our 7.750% Senior Notes was $4.3 million

• Issuance costs related to the amendment to our Revolving Credit Facility were $0.9 million

• Proceeds from share-based award plans were $0.8 million.

• Cash used for the repurchase of treasury shares was $0.2 million
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Future Cash Requirements

Debt Obligations

Total debt (excluding unamortized discounts and debt issuance costs) as of December 31, 2018 was $165.2 million, of 
which $2.1 million was classified as current. The following table summarizes the maturity dates for our significant debt as of 
December 31, 2018:

Debt Maturity Date
7.750% Senior Notes (excluding unamortized discount) December 2022
Senior secured revolving credit facility March 2021
Promissory notes December 2020
Other July 2019

On March 31, 2014, Era Group entered into the amended and restated senior secured revolving credit facility (the 
“Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Facility”).  On March 7, 2018, Era Group entered into a Consent and Amendment No. 
4 to the Amended and Restated Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility Agreement (the “Amendment No. 4” and the Amended 
and Restated Revolving Credit Facility, as amended by Amendment No. 4, is referred to herein as the “Revolving Credit Facility”) 
that, among other things, (a) reduced the aggregate principal amount of revolving loan commitments from $200.0 million to $125.0 
million, (b) extended the agreement’s maturity until March 31, 2021, (c) revised the definition of EBITDA to permit an add-back 
for certain litigation expenses related to the H225 helicopters, and (d) adjusted the maintenance covenant requirements to maintain 
an interest coverage ratio of not less than 1.75:1.00 and a senior secured leverage ratio of not more than 3.25:1.00.  As of 
December 31, 2018, we were in compliance with these maintenance covenants.

For further discussion of outstanding debt as of December 31, 2018, including a discussion of the market terms or our 
debt obligations, and our debt issuance costs and other details see Note 7 in the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” 
included in this Annual Report.  

Unfunded Capital Commitments

As of December 31, 2018, we had unfunded capital commitments of $81.1 million, primarily pursuant to agreements to 
purchase eight helicopters.  Approximately $70.2 million is payable in 2019, with the remaining commitments payable through 
2020.  We also had $1.3 million of deposits paid on options not yet exercised.  We may terminate $82.4 million of these commitments 
(inclusive of deposits paid on options not yet exercised) without further liability to us other than aggregate liquidated damages of 
$2.1 million.  In addition, we had outstanding options to purchase up to an additional ten AW189 helicopters.  If these options 
were exercised, the helicopters would be delivered in 2020 and 2021.  We expect to finance the remaining acquisition costs through 
a combination of cash on hand, cash provided by operating activities and borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility.

Short and Long-Term Liquidity Requirements

We anticipate that we will generate positive cash flows from operations and that these cash flows will be adequate to 
meet our working capital requirements.  During the year ended December 31, 2018, our cash provided by operations was $54.4 
million.  To support our capital expenditure program and/or other liquidity requirements, we may use any combination of operating 
cash flow, cash balances or proceeds from sales of assets, issue debt or equity, or borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility. 
As of December 31, 2018, we had the ability to borrow an additional $124.1 million under the Revolving Credit Facility, subject 
to our compliance with the financial ratios discussed above.

Our availability of long-term liquidity is dependent upon our ability to generate operating profits sufficient to meet our 
requirements for working capital, debt service, capital expenditures and a reasonable return on investment.  Management will 
continue to closely monitor our liquidity and the credit markets.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

On occasion, we and our partners will guarantee certain obligations on behalf of our joint ventures. As of December 31, 
2018, we had no such guarantees in place.  As of December 31, 2018, we had standby letters of credit totaling $0.9 million.  

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations and other commercial commitments and their aggregate 
maturities as of December 31, 2018 (in thousands):

Payments Due By Period

Total
Less Than 1

Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years
More Than

5 Years
Contractual obligations:

Long-term debt(1) $ 210,695 $ 14,164 $ 41,694 $ 154,837 $ —
Capital purchase obligations(2) 81,144 70,207 10,937 — —
Operating leases(3) 13,099 1,573 2,517 1,057 7,952
Purchase obligations(4) 5,991 5,991 — — —

$ 310,929 $ 91,935 $ 55,148 $ 155,894 $ 7,952
_______________

(1) Maturities of our borrowings, interest payments pursuant to such borrowings and a capital commitment fee on our Revolving Credit Facility are based 
on contractual terms.  Interest amounts represent the expected cash payments for interest on our long-term debt based on the interest rates in place and 
amounts outstanding as of December 31, 2018.  Installment payments on settled tax disputes in Brazil include interest calculated using rates in effect
as of December 31, 2018.

(2) Capital purchase obligations as of December 31, 2018 represent commitments for the purchase of eight new helicopters, consisting of five AW169 light 
twin helicopters and three AW189 heavy helicopters.  Of the total unfunded capital commitments, all may be terminated without further liability other
than liquidated damages of $2.1 million in the aggregate.  These commitments are not recorded as liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet as we 
had not yet received the goods or taken title to the property.

(3) Operating leases primarily include leases of facilities that have a remaining term in excess of one year.
(4) Purchase obligations primarily include purchase orders for helicopter inventory and maintenance.  These commitments are for goods and services to 

be acquired in the ordinary course of business and are fulfilled by our vendors within a short period of time.

Effects of Inflation

Our operations expose us to the effects of inflation.  In the event that inflation becomes a significant factor in the world 
economy, inflationary pressures could result in increased operating and financing costs.

Contingencies

Brazilian Tax Disputes

In connection with our ownership of Aeróleo and its operations in Brazil, we have several ongoing legal disputes 
related to the local, municipal and federal taxation requirements in Brazil, including assessments associated with the import and 
re-export of our helicopters in Brazil.  The legal disputes are related to: (i) municipal tax assessments arising under the 
authorities in Rio de Janeiro (for the period between 2000 and 2005) and Macaé (for the period between 2001 to 2006) 
(collectively, the “Municipal Tax Disputes”); (ii) social security contributions that one of our customers was required to remit 
from 1995 to 1998; (iii) penalties assessed due to our alleged failure to comply with certain deadlines related to the helicopters 
we import and export in and out of Brazil; and (iv) fines sought by taxing authorities in Brazil related to our use of certain tax 
credits used to offset certain social tax liabilities (collectively, the “Tax Disputes”). 

The aggregate amount at issue for the Tax Disputes is $14.5 million. The Municipal Tax Disputes are the largest contributor 
to the total amount being sought from Aeróleo, with approximately $10.1 million at issue.  

In addition to the foregoing Tax Disputes (and unrelated thereto), Aeróleo is engaged in two additional civil litigation 
matters relating to: (i) a dispute with its former tax consultant who has alleged that $0.5 million is due and payable as a 
contingency fee related to execution of certain tax strategies; and (ii) a fatal accident that occurred in 1983 and was previously 
settled with the plaintiffs’ in the U.S. (the “Civil Disputes”).  With respect to the fatal accident, the plaintiffs are seeking to 
collect additional amounts in Brazil despite the previous settlement agreed upon by the parties in the U.S. 

We continue to evaluate and assess various legal strategies for each of the Tax Disputes and the Civil Disputes.  As is 
customary for certain legal matters in Brazil, Aeróleo has already deposited amounts as security into an escrow account to 
pursue further legal appeals in several of the Tax Disputes and the Civil Disputes.  As of December 31, 2018, we have 
deposited $5.4 
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million into escrow accounts controlled by the court with respect to the Tax Disputes and the Civil Disputes, and we have fully 
reserved such amounts subject to final determination and the judicial release of such escrow deposits. These estimates are based 
on our assessment of the nature of these matters, their progress toward resolution, the advice of legal counsel and outside experts 
as well as management’s intentions and experience.  Aeróleo plans to defend the cases vigorously.  As of December 31, 2018, it 
is not possible to determine the outcome of the Tax Disputes or the Civil Disputes, but we do not expect that an outcome would 
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position or results of operations.

Airbus Lawsuit

On November 21, 2016, we filed a lawsuit in the District Court of Dallas County, Texas against Airbus Helicopters, Inc. 
and Airbus Helicopters S.A.S. (collectively, “Airbus”) alleging breaches of various contracts between us, fraudulent inducement 
and unjust enrichment in connection with the Airbus marketing and sale of H225 model helicopters to us. On October 26, 2017, 
we added claims against Airbus for fraud and negligent misrepresentation, and on December 28, 2017, we amended our complaint 
to seek damages attributable to the impact of Airbus’ unlawful acts on the value of a H225 that we purchased from another helicopter 
operator.

On July 3, 2018, the Company entered into a litigation settlement agreement (the “Settlement Agreement”) with Airbus 
to settle all claims made by the Company against Airbus related to Airbus' marketing and sale, and the Company's purchase, of 
eleven H225 model helicopters. Pursuant to the Settlement Agreement, Airbus has agreed to pay the Company $42.0 million in 
cash and provide it with certain trade account credits that the Company may use for up to five years. The Company has agreed to 
release Airbus from any and all liabilities, claims, counterclaims, demands, complaints, costs, losses and expenses relating to the 
action and to dismiss the action with prejudice without any party admitting fault.

General Litigation and Disputes 

In the normal course of our business, we become involved in various litigation matters including, among other things, 
claims by third parties for alleged property damages and personal injuries.  In addition, from time to time, we are involved in 
tax and other disputes with various government agencies.  Management has used estimates in determining our potential 
exposure to these matters and has recorded reserves in our financial statements related thereto as appropriate.  It is possible that 
a change in our estimates related to these exposures could occur, but we do not expect such changes in estimated costs would 
have a material effect on our business, consolidated financial position or results of operations.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of our financial statements is in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). 
In many cases, the accounting treatment of a particular transaction is specifically dictated by GAAP, whereas, in other circumstances, 
GAAP requires us to make estimates, judgments and assumptions that we believe are reasonable based upon information available. 
We base our estimates and judgments on historical experience, professional advice and various other sources that we believe to 
be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions and conditions. 
We believe that of our significant accounting policies, as discussed in Note 1 to our Consolidated Financial Statements included 
in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the following involve a higher degree of judgment and complexity.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts.  We establish allowances for doubtful accounts on a case-by-case basis when we 
believe the payment of amounts owed to us is unlikely to occur.  In establishing these allowances, we consider a number of factors, 
including our historical experience and changes in our client’s financial position.  Such estimates involve significant judgment by 
management.

We derive a significant portion of our revenue from services to international, independent and major integrated oil and 
gas companies and government agencies. Our receivables are concentrated primarily in the Gulf of Mexico. We generally do not 
require collateral or other security to support client receivables.

Inventory Reserve.  We maintain inventory that primarily consists of spare parts to service our helicopters. We establish 
an allowance to distribute the cost of spare parts expected to be on hand at the end of a fleet’s life over the service lives of the 
related equipment, taking into account the estimated salvage value of the parts. Also, we periodically review the condition and 
continuing usefulness of the parts to determine whether the realizable value of our inventory is lower than its book value. Parts 
related to helicopter types that our management has determined will no longer be included in our fleet or will be substantially 
reduced in our fleet in future periods are specifically reviewed. If our valuation of these parts is significantly lower than the book 
value of the parts, an additional provision may be required.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets.  We review our property and equipment for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value of such assets may not be recoverable.  Our long-lived assets are grouped at the 
lowest level for which there are identifiable cash flows that are largely independent of the cash flows of other groups of assets, 
which, for us, is generally at the fleet group level. In the third quarter of 2017, we determined that we will not utilize the H225 
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helicopters in our operations and concluded that the cash flows associated with our H225 heavy helicopters are largely independent 
from the cash flows associated with the remainder of the fleet. As such, we determined our H225 heavy helicopters should be 
evaluated as a separate asset group for impairment. If an impairment is indicated for an asset group classified as held and used, 
an impairment evaluation will be performed. Asset impairment evaluations are based on estimated undiscounted cash flows over 
the remaining useful life for the assets being evaluated. If the sum of the expected future cash flows is less than the carrying amount 
of the asset group, we would be required to recognize an impairment loss. When determining fair value, we utilize various 
assumptions, including projections of future cash flows. A change in these underlying assumptions could cause a change in the 
results of the tests and, as such, could cause fair value to be less than the carrying amounts. In such event, we would then be 
required to record a corresponding charge, which would reduce our earnings. We continue to evaluate our estimates and assumptions 
and believe that our assumptions, which include an estimate of future cash flows based upon the anticipated performance of the 
underlying assets, are appropriate.

Supply and demand are the key drivers of helicopter idle time and our ability to contract our helicopters at economical 
rates. During periods of oversupply, it is not uncommon for us to have helicopters idled for extended periods of time, which could 
be an indication that an asset group may be impaired. In most instances, and over their useful lives, our helicopters could be used 
interchangeably. Due to the mobility of helicopters, we may move them from a weak geographic market to a stronger geographic 
market if an adequate opportunity arises to do so.

Intangible Assets.  We record purchased intangible assets at their respective fair values on the date acquired.  Intangible 
assets with finite lives are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.  Intangible assets with indefinite 
lives are tested for impairment on an annual basis, or more frequently when indicators of impairment are present between annual 
impairment tests.  The impairment analysis uses a discounted future cash flow approach to determine fair value and incorporates, 
among other things, projected utilization of our fleet, future oil prices and contract rates.  These estimates are reviewed each time 
we test indefinite lived intangible assets for impairment and are typically developed as part of our routine business planning and 
forecasting process.  While we believe our estimates and assumptions are reasonable, variations from those estimates could produce 
materially different results.

Contingent Liabilities.  We establish reserves for estimated loss contingencies when we believe a loss is probable and 
the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. Our contingent liability reserves relate primarily to potential tax assessments 
for Aeroleo contingencies, litigation and personal injury claims. Income for each reporting period includes revisions to contingent 
liability reserves resulting from different facts or information which becomes known or circumstances which change and affect 
our previous assumptions with respect to the likelihood or amount of loss. Such revisions are based on information which becomes 
known or circumstances that change after the reporting date for the previous period through the reporting date of the current period. 
Reserves for contingent liabilities are based upon our assumptions and estimates regarding the probable outcome of the matter. 
Should the outcome differ from our assumptions and estimates or other events result in a material adjustment to the accrued 
estimated reserves, revisions to the estimated reserves for contingent liabilities would be recognized.

Revenue recognition. We have elected to exercise the right to invoice practical expedient in our adoption of ASC 606. 
We recognize revenue for flight services and emergency response services with the passing of each day as we have the right to 
consideration from our customers in an amount that corresponds directly with the value to our customer of our performance 
completed to date. The right to invoice represents a method for recognizing revenue over time using the output measure of “value 
to the customer” which is an objective measure of an entity’s performance in a contract. We typically invoice our customers on a 
monthly basis for revenues earned during the prior month with payment terms of 30 days. Our customer arrangements do not 
contain any significant financing component for our customers.

Sales-type Leases. We engage in various lease transactions that qualify for treatment as sales-type leases. The initial 
profit or loss on such a transaction is determined as the fair value of the underlying assets (or the sum of the present value of the 
lease receivable and any prepaid lease payments by lessee, if lower) less any deferred initial direct costs incurred by us. Sales-
type leases are subsequently analyzed for impairment purposes. If any of the lessees involved in these transactions encounter credit 
difficulties we will evaluate for impairment. The lessee’s credit risk relating to its ability to pay cash flows, pay lessee-provided 
residual value guarantees, or exercise reasonably certain purchase options is considered along with the mitigating impact of cash 
flows associated with guaranteed and unguaranteed residual values of the leased asset.

Taxes.  Our annual tax provision is based on expected taxable income, statutory rates and tax planning opportunities 
available in various jurisdictions in which we operate. The determination and evaluation of the annual tax provision and tax 
positions involves the interpretation of tax laws and requires significant judgment and the use of estimates and assumptions 
regarding significant future events such as the amount, timing and character of income, deductions and tax credits. Changes in 
tax laws, regulations, agreements, treaties, foreign currency exchange restrictions or our level of operations or profitability in each 
area impacts the tax liability. A number of years may elapse before the ultimate tax liabilities in the various jurisdictions are 
determined.
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We recognize foreign tax credits available to us to offset the U.S. income taxes due on income earned from foreign 
sources. These credits are limited by the total income tax on our U.S. income tax return as well as by the ratio of foreign source 
income in each statutory category to total income. In estimating the amount of foreign tax credits that are realizable, we estimate 
future taxable income in each statutory category. These estimates are subject to change based on changes in the market conditions 
in each statutory category and the timing of certain deductions available to us in each statutory category. We periodically reassess 
these estimates and record changes to the amount of realizable foreign tax credits based on these revised estimates. 

We maintain reserves for estimated tax exposures. Tax exposure items include potential challenges to intercompany 
pricing, disposition transactions and the applicability or rates of various withholding taxes. Exposures are resolved primarily 
through the settlement of audits or by judicial means, but can also be affected by changes in applicable tax law, statute of limitation 
expirations, etc., which may result in a revision of past estimates. We review these liabilities quarterly for determination of whether 
further liability shall be accrued or whether existing liabilities shall be reversed due to expiration of related statutes of limitation, 
settlement of the respective items with the tax authorities, or the issuance of rules, regulations, legislation or court rulings that 
resolve the uncertainty.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

For a description of recent accounting pronouncements that will, or could possibly, have an effect on our financial condition 
and results of operations, see Note 1 to our Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 
10-K.

Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

As of December 31, 2018, we had non-U.S. dollar denominated capital purchase commitments of €70.9 million ($81.1 
million).  An adverse change of 10% in the underlying foreign currency exchange rate would increase the U.S. dollar equivalent 
of the non-hedged purchase commitment by $8.1 million.

As of December 31, 2018, we had $20.0 million of variable rate debt outstanding.  These instruments bear a variable 
interest rate that resets monthly and is computed as the one-month LIBOR rate at the date of each reset plus 181 basis points.  As 
of December 31, 2018, the weighted average interest rate on these borrowings was 4.33%.  A 10% increase in the underlying 
LIBOR would raise the rate to 4.58%, resulting in additional annual interest expense of less than $0.1 million, net of tax.

As of December 31, 2018, we maintained a non-U.S. dollar denominated working capital balance of R$26.4 million ($6.8 
million).  An adverse change of 10% in the underlying foreign currency exchange rate would reduce our working capital balance 
by $0.6 million.  As of December 31, 2018, we maintained a non-U.S. dollar denominated working capital balance of COP$1,778 
million ($0.5 million).  An adverse change of 10% in the underlying foreign currency exchange rate would reduce our working 
capital balance by less than $0.1 million.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The consolidated financial statements and related notes required by this item are included in Part IV, Item 15 of this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K and are presented beginning on page 59 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

With the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, management evaluated the effectiveness 
of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of December 31, 
2018.  Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed or 
submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified under 
Securities Exchange Commission (“SEC”) rules and forms, including ensuring that such material information is accumulated and 
communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow 
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timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well 
designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives.

Based on the evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial 
Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level as of December 31, 
2018.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as 
defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act).

Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2018 based on the updated framework in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee 
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.  This evaluation included a review of the documentation surrounding 
our financial controls, an evaluation of the design effectiveness of these controls, testing of the operating effectiveness of these 
controls and a conclusion on this evaluation.  There are inherent limitations in the effectiveness of any system of internal control 
over financial reporting, including the possibility of the circumvention or overriding of controls. 

Based on management’s evaluation, management concluded that we did maintain effective internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2018.

Remediation of Previously Reported Material Weakness

In order to remediate the material weaknesses in internal control related to tax accounting at our subsidiary in Brazil, 
management implemented additional controls.  These new controls include validation of monthly interest accruals on tax 
installments including review of the terms of any new installment arrangements.  The implementation of the additional controls 
were completed by the end of first quarter 2018.  Accordingly, management concluded this material weakness was remediated as 
of March 31, 2018. 

Management has also remediated the material weakness related to the design and operation of controls over the preparation 
and review of the Company’s tax provision calculation by enhancing the precision of the review and reconciliation controls over 
each significant component of the income tax and other tax accrual processes. Accordingly, management concluded this material 
weakness was remediated as of December 31, 2018.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Except as noted above under “Remediation of Prior Material Weaknesses,” there were no changes in our internal control 
procedures over financial reporting during the year ended December 31, 2018.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this Item will be presented in our 2019 Proxy Statement, which will be filed with the SEC 
no later than 120 days after our fiscal year ended December 31, 2018 and which is incorporated herein by reference.  Information 
about our executive officers can be found after Item 4 in Part I of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item will be presented in our 2019 Proxy Statement, which will be filed with the SEC 
no later than 120 days after our fiscal year ended December 31, 2018 and which is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Item will be presented in our 2019 Proxy Statement, which will be filed with the SEC 
no later than 120 days after our fiscal year ended December 31, 2018 and which is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item will be presented in our 2019 Proxy Statement, which will be filed with the SEC 
no later than 120 days after our fiscal year ended December 31, 2018 and which is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item will be presented in our 2019 Proxy Statement, which will be filed with the SEC 
no later than 120 days after our fiscal year ended December 31, 2018 and which is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) Documents filed as part of this report:

1. Financial Statements
The consolidated financial statements filed as part of this report are listed on the Index to Consolidated Financial
Statements of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

2. Financial Statement Schedules
All financial statement schedules have been omitted here because they are not applicable, not required, or the
information is shown in the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.

3. Exhibits

Exhibit Index Exhibit Description
3.1 * Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Era Group Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to 

Exhibit 3.1 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on November 6, 2018 (File 
No. 001-35701)).

3.2 *

4.1 *

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Era Group Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of the 
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on November 6, 2018 (File No. Form 001-35701)).

4.2 * Indenture, dated as of December 7, 2012, among Era Group Inc., the guarantors named therein and Wells 
Fargo Bank, National Association (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of the 
Company’s Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement on Form 10 filed with the SEC on December 
18, 2012, as amended (File No. 001-35701)).

10.1 * Change in  Era Group Inc. Independent Auditors  (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 16.1 of the 
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 18, 2018 (File No. 001-35701)).

10.2 * + Era Group Inc. 2012 Share Incentive Plan. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the Company’s 
Registration Statement on Form 10 filed with the SEC on October 12, 2012, as amended (File No. 001-35701)).

10.3 * +

10.4 * + Form of Restricted Stock Grant Agreement pursuant to the Era Group Inc. 2012 Share Incentive Plan. 
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed 
with the SEC on March 5, 2013, as amended (File No. 001-35701)).

10.5 * + Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Grant Agreement pursuant to the Era Group Inc. 2012 Share 
Incentive Plan. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 
8-K filed with the SEC on March 5, 2013 (File No. 001-35701)).

10.6 * + Form of Non-Employee Director Restricted Stock Award Agreement pursuant to the Era Group Inc. 2012 
Share Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.7 of the Company’s Quarterly Report 
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2013 filed with the SEC on May 15, 2013 (File No. 001-35701)).

10.7 * + Form of Time-based Restricted Stock Agreement pursuant to the Era Group Inc. 2012 Share Incentive Plan 
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.9 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 
year ended December 31, 2014 filed with the SEC on March 11, 2015 (File No. 001-35701)).

10.8 * + Form of Indemnification Agreement between Era Group Inc. and individual officers and 
directors. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.10 of the Company’s Registration Statement on 
Form 10 filed with the SEC on October 12, 2012, as amended (File No. 001-35701)).

10.9 * + Era Group Inc. Management Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.11 of the 
Company’s Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement on Form 10 filed with the SEC on December 18, 
2012, as amended (File No. 001-35701)).

10.10 * +

10.11 *

Form of Common Stock Certificate of Era Group Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 
of the Company’s Amendment No. 2 to Registration Statement on Form 10 filed with the SEC on 
January 08, 2013, as amended (File No. 001-35701)).

Form of Stock Option Grant Agreement pursuant to the Era Group Inc. 2012 Share Incentive Plan. (incorporated herein 
by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 5, 2013, as 
amended (File No. 001-35701)).

Era Group Inc. 2013 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of the 
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed with the SEC on March 8, 2013 (File No. 333-187166))
Amendment No. 1, dated September 15, 2016, to the Era Group Inc. 2013 Employee Stock Purchase 
Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 99.2 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 
S-8 filed with the SEC on November 2, 2016 (File No. 333-214402)).
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10.12 * Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated March 31, 2014 for a $300,000,000 Senior Secured Revolving 
Credit Facility by and among Era Group Inc., Suntrust Robinson Humphrey, Inc., Wells Fargo Securities, 
LLC, Suntrust Bank, Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., Deutsche Bank AG New 
York Branch, Regions Bank and other financial institutions identified on Schedule A thereto (incorporated 
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter 
ended March 31, 2014 filed with the SEC on May 6, 2014 (File No. 001-35701))

10.13 * Amendment No. 1, dated May 18, 2015 to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated March 31, 
2014 by and among Era Group Inc. and its subsidiaries a security party thereto, Suntrust Bank, as 
Administrative Agent, and the lenders signatories thereto (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.13 
of Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K/A for the year ended December 31, 
2015 filed with the SEC on February 29, 2016 (File No. 001-35701).

10.14 * Consent and Amendment No. 2, dated March 4, 2016 to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement 
dated March 31, 2014 by and among Era Group Inc. and its subsidiaries a security party thereto, Suntrust 
Bank, as Administrative Agent, and the lenders signatories thereto (incorporated herein by reference to 
Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2016 
filed with the SEC on November 1, 2016 (File No. 001-35701).

10.15 * Consent and Amendment No. 3, dated October 27, 2016 to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement 
dated March 31, 2014 by and among Era Group Inc. and its subsidiaries a security party thereto, Suntrust 
Bank, as Administrative Agent, and the lenders signatories thereto (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 
10.2 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2016 filed with 
the SEC on November 1, 2016 (File No. 001-35701).

10.16 * Amendment No. 4, dated March 7, 2018 to the Amended and  Restated Credit Agreement dated March 31, 
2014 by and among Era Group Inc. and its subsidiaries a security party thereto, Suntrust Bank, as 
Administrative Agent, and the lenders signatories thereto (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 
10.16 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017 filed with 
the SEC on March 8, 2018 (File No. 001-35701).

10.17 Amendment No. 5, dated June 8, 2018 to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated March 31, 2014 
by and among Era Group Inc. and its subsidiaries a security party thereto, Suntrust Bank, as Administrative 
Agent, and the lenders signatories thereto.

10.18 * + Era Group Inc. Senior Executive Severance Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the 
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2015 filed with the SEC on 
August 5, 2015 (File No. 001-35701).

10.24 * Promissory note for a $5,933,188 secured note between Era Helicopters, LLC, U.S. Bank Equipment Finance, 
a division of U.S. Bank National Association (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.21 of Amendment 
No. 1 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K/A for the year ended December 31, 2015 filed with 
the SEC on February 29, 2016 (File No. 001-35701).

10.25 * Promissory note for a $19,035,000 secured note between Era Helicopters, LLC, U.S. Bank Equipment 
Finance, a division of U.S. Bank National Association (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.22 
of Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K/A for the year ended December 31, 
2015 filed with the SEC on February 29, 2016 (File No. 001-35701).

10.26 * + Form of Restricted Stock Agreement pursuant to the Era Group Inc. 2012 Share Incentive Plan (incorporated 
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.23 of Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K/
A for the year ended December 31, 2015 filed with the SEC on February 29, 2016 (File No. 001-35701).

10.27 + Form of Time-based Restricted Stock Agreement pursuant to the Era Group Inc. 2012 Share Incentive Plan
10.28 * Settlement Agreement and General Release of Claims, dated July 3, 2018 (incorporated herein by reference 

to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on November 6, 2018 
(File No. 001-35701).

21.1 List of subsidiaries of Era Group Inc.
23.1 Consent of Grant Thornton, LLP, independent registered public accounting firm.
23.2 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, independent registered public accounting firm.
23.3 Consent of KPMG LLP, independent registered public accounting firm.
31.1 Certification by the Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the 

Exchange Act.
31.2 Certification by the Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Exchange 

Act.
32.1 Certification by the Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant 

to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.2 Certification by the Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to 

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
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101.INS XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase

* Incorporated herein by reference as indicated.
+ Management contracts or compensatory plans or arrangements required to be filed as an Exhibit pursuant to Item 15 (b) of the rules governing the

preparation of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this 
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, and in the capacities indicated, thereunto duly authorized.

Era Group Inc.

By: /s/ Jennifer Whalen
Jennifer Whalen, Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer

Date: March 7, 2019

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signer Title Date

/s/ Christopher S. Bradshaw President, Chief Executive Officer and Director March 7, 2019
Christopher S. Bradshaw (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Jennifer D. Whalen Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer March 7, 2019
Jennifer D. Whalen (Principal Accounting and Financial Officer)

/s/ Charles Fabrikant Chairman of the Board and Director March 7, 2019
Charles Fabrikant

Director March 7, 2019
Blaine V. Fogg

/s/ Steven Webster Director March 7, 2019
Steven Webster

/s/ Ann Fairbanks Director March 7, 2019
Ann Fairbanks

/s/ Christopher P. Papouras Director March 7, 2019
Christopher P. Papouras

/s/ Yueping Sun Director March 7, 2019
Yueping Sun
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Era Group Inc.

Opinion on the financial statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Era Group Inc. (a Delaware corporation) and subsidiaries (the 
“Company”) as of December 31, 2018, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, changes in 
equity, and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2018, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial 
statements”). In our opinion, based on our audit and the report of the other auditors, the financial statements present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2018,  and the results of its operations and its cash 
flows for the year ended December 31, 2018, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America.

We did not audit the financial statements of Dart Holding Company Ltd., a corporation in which the Company has a 50% interest. 
In the consolidated financial statements, the Company’s investment in and advances to Dart Holding Company, Ltd. is stated at 
$27.1 million as of December 31, 2018, and the Company’s equity in the earnings of Dart Holding Company Ltd. is stated at $2.5 
million for the year ended December 31, 2018. Those statements were audited by other auditors whose report has been furnished 
to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for Dart Holding Company Ltd., is based solely on the report 
of the other auditors.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) 
(“PCAOB”), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria established in 
the 2013 Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (“COSO”), and our report dated March 7, 2019 expressed an unqualified opinion.

Basis for opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
the Company’s financial statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are 
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable 
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error 
or fraud. Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, 
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting 
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. We believe that our audit provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP 

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2018.

Houston, Texas
March 7, 2019
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Era Group Inc.

Opinion on internal control over financial reporting
We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Era Group Inc. (a Delaware corporation) (and subsidiaries) (the 
“Company”) as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria established in the 2013 Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued 
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”). In our opinion, the Company maintained, 
in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria established 
in the 2013 Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by COSO.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) 
(“PCAOB”), the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of and for the year ended December 31, 2018, and our report 
dated March 7, 2019 expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

Basis for opinion
The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment 
of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal 
Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial 
reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with 
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities 
and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material 
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material 
weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and 
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable 
basis for our opinion.

Definition and limitations of internal control over financial reporting
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability 
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain 
to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets 
of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial 
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are 
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable 
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that 
could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because 
of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP 

Houston, Texas
March 7, 2019
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Dart Holding Company Ltd.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the consolidated balance sheet of Dart Holding Company Ltd. (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2018 and 
the related consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the year then 
ended, and the related notes (collectively the “consolidated financial statements”).  

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company 
as of December 31, 2018 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended, in conformity with U.S. 
generally accepted accounting principles.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on the Company's consolidated financial statements based on our audit.  

We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) 
and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the 
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether 
due to error or fraud.  Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated 
financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audit also 
included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Chartered Professional Accountants,

Licensed Public Accountants

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2011. 

Montréal, Canada
February 27, 2019
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Era Group Inc. 

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Era Group Inc. (the Company) as of December 31, 2017, and 
the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, changes in equity, and cash flows for each of the two 
years in the period ended December 31, 2017, and the related notes (collectively, referred to as the “financial statements”). In our 
opinion, based on our audits and the report of other auditors, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated financial position of the Company at December 31, 2017, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash 
flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2017, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting 
principles. 

We did not audit the 2016 financial statements of Dart Holding Company Ltd., a corporation in which the Company has a 50% 
interest. In the consolidated financial statements, the Company’s equity in the net income of Dart Holding Company Ltd. is stated 
at $1.3 million in 2016. Those statements were audited by other auditors whose report has been furnished to us, and our opinion, 
insofar as it relates to the amounts included for Dart Holding Company Ltd., is based solely on the report of the other auditors.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company 
Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in 
accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission 
and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error 
or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial 
reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.  Accordingly, 
we express no such opinion.  

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, 
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting 
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. We believe that our audits and the report of other auditors provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/Ernst & Young LLP

We served as the Company’s auditor from 2007 to 2018.

Houston, Texas
March 8, 2018,
Except for Note 1 and Note 10, as to which the date is
March  7, 2019
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT OF REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

 To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Dart Holding Company Ltd. 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Dart Holding Company Ltd. as of December 31, 2016, and the 
related consolidated statements of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss), stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the 
year then ended. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility 
is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and in accordance with the standards 
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company 
is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audit included 
consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial 
reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 
amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used 
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that 
our audit provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated 
financial position of Dart Holding Company Ltd. as of December 31, 2016, and its consolidated results of operations and its 
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 

/s/ KPMG LLP

Chartered Professional Accountants,

Licensed Public Accountants

February 27, 2017
Montréal, Canada
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ERA GROUP INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

(in thousands, except share amounts)

December 31,
2018 2017

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents (including $1,745 and $1,699 from VIEs in 2018 and 2017, respectively)(1) $ 50,753 $ 13,583
Receivables:

Trade, operating, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $261 and $1,196 in 2018 and 2017, respectively
(including $5,565 and $5,854 from VIEs in 2018 and 2017, respectively) 33,306 33,840

Trade, dry-leasing 3,803 5,124
Tax receivables (including $3,187 and $2,828 from VIEs in 2018 and 2017, respectively) 3,187 2,829
Other (including $340 and $257 from VIEs in 2018 and 2017, respectively) 2,343 1,623

Inventories, net (including $40 and $39 from VIEs in 2018 and 2017, respectively) 20,673 21,112
Prepaid expenses (including $10 and $40 from VIEs in 2018 and 2017, respectively) 1,807 1,203
Escrow deposits — 3,250

Total current assets 115,872 82,564
Property and equipment:

Helicopters 805,453 824,122
Machinery, equipment and spares (including $750 and $1,512 from VIEs in 2018 and 2017, respectively) 37,487 41,375
Construction in progress 7,086 37,605
Buildings and leasehold improvements (including $154 and $89 from VIEs in 2018 and 2017, respectively) 45,303 43,839
Furniture, fixtures, vehicles and other (including $471 and $350 from VIEs in 2018 and 2017, respectively) 21,832 26,001

Property and equipment, at cost 917,161 972,942
Accumulated depreciation (including $485 and $487 from VIEs in 2018 and 2017, respectively) (317,967) (299,028)

Property and equipment, net 599,194 673,914
Equity investments and advances 27,112 30,056
Intangible assets 1,107 1,122
Other assets (including $96 and $61 from VIEs in 2018 and 2017, respectively) 21,578 4,441
Total assets $ 764,863 $ 792,097

LIABILITIES, REDEEMABLE NONCONTROLLING INTEREST AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (including $1,522 and $1,807 from VIEs in 2018 and 2017,

respectively) $ 13,161 $ 16,421
Accrued wages and benefits (including $1,429 and $1,397 from VIEs in 2018 and 2017, respectively) 9,267 8,264
Accrued interest 569 606
Accrued income taxes 973 28
Current portion of long-term debt (including $395 and $1,073 from VIEs in 2018 and 2017, respectively) 2,058 2,736
Accrued other taxes (including $500 and $600 from VIEs in 2018 and 2017, respectively) 1,268 1,810
Accrued contingencies (including $630 and $858 from VIEs in 2018 and 2017, respectively) 630 859
Other current liabilities (including $0 and $8 from VIEs in 2018 and 2017, respectively.) 878 1,720

Total current liabilities 28,804 32,444
Long-term debt (including $0 and $1,903 from VIEs in 2018 and 2017, respectively) 160,217 202,174
Deferred income taxes 108,357 106,598
Other liabilities 747 1,434

Total liabilities 298,125 342,650
Commitments and contingencies (see Note 8)
Redeemable noncontrolling interest 3,302 3,766
Equity:

Common stock, $0.01 par value, 60,000,000 shares authorized; 21,765,404 and 21,319,150 outstanding in 2018
and 2017, respectively, exclusive of treasury shares 219 215

Additional paid-in capital 447,298 443,944
Retained earnings 18,285 4,363
Treasury shares, at cost, 156,737 and 215,141 shares in 2018 and 2017, respectively (2,476) (2,951)
Accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax 110 110

Total equity 463,436 445,681
Total liabilities, redeemable noncontrolling interest and stockholders’ equity $ 764,863 $ 792,097

(1) Refer to footnote 5 for more detail on variable interest entities (“VIE”)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ERA GROUP INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 

(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Year Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016

Revenues:
Operating revenues $ 210,194 $ 214,927 $ 233,527
Dry-leasing revenues 11,482 16,394 13,701
Total revenues 221,676 231,321 247,228
Costs and expenses:

Operating 151,523 167,446 169,863
Administrative and general 45,126 42,092 36,206
Depreciation and amortization 39,541 45,736 49,315

Total costs and expenses 236,190 255,274 255,384
Gains on asset dispositions 1,575 4,507 4,787
Litigation settlement proceeds 42,000 — —
Loss on impairment (991) (117,018) —
Operating income (loss) 28,070 (136,464) (3,369)
Other income (expense):

Interest income 2,042 760 741
Interest expense (15,131) (16,763) (17,325)
Foreign currency gains (losses), net (1,018) (226) 7
Gain on debt extinguishment 175 — 518
Other, net 54 (12) 69

Total other income (expense) (13,878) (16,241) (15,990)
Income (loss) before income tax expense and equity earnings 14,192 (152,705) (19,359)
Income tax expense (benefit):

Current 1,181 (3,523) 1,235
Deferred 1,759 (119,142) (4,592)

Total income tax expense (benefit) 2,940 (122,665) (3,357)
Income (loss) before equity earnings 11,252 (30,040) (16,002)
Equity earnings, net of tax 2,206 1,425 1,092
Net income (loss) 13,458 (28,615) (14,910)
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest in subsidiaries 464 454 6,932
Net income (loss) attributable to Era Group Inc. $ 13,922 $ (28,161) $ (7,978)

Earnings (loss) per common share:
Basic $ 0.64 $ (1.36) $ (0.39)
Diluted $ 0.64 $ (1.36) $ (0.39)

Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic 21,167,550 20,760,530 20,350,066
Diluted 21,180,490 20,760,530 20,350,066

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ERA GROUP INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(in thousands)
 

Year Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016

Net income (loss) $ 13,458 $ (28,615) $ (14,910)
Other comprehensive income (loss):

Foreign currency translation adjustments — 18 —
Income tax benefit — — —

Total other comprehensive income (loss) — 18 —
Comprehensive income (loss) 13,458 (28,597) (14,910)
Comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrolling interest in subsidiaries 464 454 6,932
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Era Group Inc. $ 13,922 $ (28,143) $ (7,978)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ERA GROUP INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)

For the years ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss) $ 13,458 $ (28,615) $ (14,910)
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 39,541 45,736 49,315
Share-based compensation 2,940 4,623 4,633
Bad debt expense, net 82 144 441
Interest Income (943) — —
Non-cash penalty and interest expenses 607 — —
Gains on asset dispositions, net (1,575) (4,507) (4,787)
Debt discount amortization 253 234 189
Amortization of deferred financing costs 1,410 1,136 1,486
Foreign currency (gains) losses, net 1,027 190 (96)
Gains on debt extinguishment (175) — (518)
Impairment loss 991 117,018 —
Deferred income tax expense (benefit) 1,759 (119,142) (4,592)
Equity earnings, net of tax (2,206) (1,425) (1,092)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Decrease (increase) in receivables 501 (4,889) 13,516
Decrease in prepaid expenses and other assets 278 3,320 9,058
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other

liabilities (3,594) 6,273 5,861
Net cash provided by operating activities 54,354 20,096 58,504

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment (9,216) (16,770) (39,200)
Proceeds from disposition of property and equipment 29,590 9,392 28,609
Return of helicopter deposits — — 544
Investments in and advances to equity investees — (126) —
Dividends received from equity investees 1,000 — —
Principal payments on notes due from equity investees 518 761 723
Principal payments on third party notes receivable 934 169 208

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 22,826 (6,574) (9,116)
Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from Revolving Credit Facility — 17,000 12,000
Long-term debt issuance costs (1,295) — (886)
Payments on long-term debt (41,886) (45,281) (40,444)
Extinguishment of long-term debt (1,221) — (4,331)
Proceeds and tax benefits from share award plans 893 836 836
Purchase of treasury shares — (52) (161)

Net cash used in financing activities (43,509) (27,497) (32,986)
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 249 81 (236)
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 33,920 (13,894) 16,166
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of year 16,833 30,727 14,561
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of year $ 50,753 $ 16,833 $ 30,727

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ERA GROUP INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Nature of Operations.  Era Group Inc. (“Era Group”) and its consolidated subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the 
“Company”) is one of the largest helicopter operators in the world and the longest serving helicopter transport operator in the 
United States (“U.S.”), which is its primary area of operation.  The Company is primarily engaged in transportation services to 
the offshore oil and gas exploration, development and production industry.  Its major customers are international, independent and 
major integrated oil and gas companies and U.S. government agencies.  In addition to serving the oil and gas industry, the Company 
provides emergency response services and utility services including support of firefighting activities.  The Company operates a 
Federal Aviation Administration (“FAA”) approved maintenance repair station in Lake Charles, Louisiana.  The Company has an 
interest in Dart Holding Company Ltd. (“Dart”), a sales and manufacturing organization based in Canada that engineers, 
manufactures and distributes after-market helicopter parts and accessories.

Basis of Consolidation.  The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Era Group Inc., its wholly-owned 
subsidiaries and entities that meet the criteria of VIEs of which the Company is the primary beneficiary.  All significant intercompany 
accounts and transactions are eliminated in consolidation. 

The Company employs the equity method of accounting for investments in business ventures when it has the ability to 
exercise significant influence over the operating and financial policies of the ventures.  The Company reports such investments 
in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as equity investments and advances.  The Company reports its share of earnings 
or losses of equity investees in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations as equity earnings (losses), net of tax. 

Use of Estimates.  The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted 
in the U.S. (“GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of 
revenues and expenses during the reporting periods.  Such estimates include, among other items, those related to allowance for 
doubtful accounts, useful lives of property and equipment, inventories, income tax provisions, impairments, fair values used in 
purchase price allocations and certain accrued and contingent liabilities.  Actual results could differ from those estimates and those 
differences may be material.

Reclassification.  Certain amounts reported for prior periods in the consolidated financial statements have been reclassified 
to conform with the current period’s presentation.

Cash Equivalents.  The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or 
less when purchased to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents consist of overnight investments. 

Supplemental Cash Flow Information.  The following table sets forth the Company’s reconciliation of cash, cash 
equivalents and restricted cash reported within the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2018
(in thousands): 

2018 2017 2016
Cash and cash equivalents $ 50,753 $ 13,583 $ 26,950
Restricted cash (1) — 3,250 3,777
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash shown in the Consolidated

Statement of Cash Flows $ 50,753 $ 16,833 $ 30,727

(1) Restricted cash represents amounts deposited in escrow accounts at the end of each period. Escrow deposits are shown as a separate line item in the 
consolidated balance sheet. 
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Trade Receivables.  Customers are primarily international, independent and major integrated exploration, development 
and production companies, international helicopter operators and U.S. government agencies. Customers are typically granted 
credit on a short-term basis, and related credit risks are considered minimal. The Company routinely reviews its trade receivables 
and makes provisions for probable doubtful accounts; however, those provisions are estimates and actual results could differ from 
those estimates and those differences may be material. Trade receivables are deemed uncollectible and removed from accounts 
receivable and the allowance for doubtful accounts when collection efforts have been exhausted. Allowance for doubtful accounts 
for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 were as follows (in thousands):

2018 2017 2016
Balance at beginning of period $ 1,196 $ 1,219 $ 2,103
Additional allowances charged to expense 82 144 441
Recovery of previously reserved accounts (127) (82) (1,086)
Write-offs (760) (68) (474)
Foreign currency adjustments (130) (17) 235
Balance at end of period $ 261 $ 1,196 $ 1,219

Concentrations of Credit Risk.  The Company is exposed to concentrations of credit risk relating to its receivables due 
from customers in the industries described above.  The Company does not generally require collateral or other security to support 
its outstanding receivables.  The Company minimizes its credit risk relating to receivables by performing ongoing credit evaluations. 
The Company is also exposed to concentrations of credit risk associated with cash and cash equivalents.  The Company minimizes 
its credit risk relating to these positions by monitoring the financial condition of the financial institutions and counterparties 
involved and by primarily conducting business with large, well-established financial institutions and diversifying its counterparties. 
The Company’s two largest customers comprised 52% and 46% of net trade receivables as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, 
respectively.

Inventories.  Inventories are stated at the lower of average cost or net realizable value and consist primarily of spare parts 
and fuel.  The Company establishes an allowance to accrue for the retirement of the cost of spare parts expected to be on hand at 
the end of a fleet’s life over the service lives of the related equipment, taking into account the estimated salvage value of the parts. 
The following table is a roll forward of the allowance related to obsolete and excess inventory for the years ended December 31, 
2018, 2017 and 2016 (in thousands):

2018 2017 2016
Balance at beginning of period $ 3,739 $ 4,012 $ 4,821
Additional allowances, net (1) (493) (273) (809)
Balance at end of period $ 3,246 $ 3,739 $ 4,012

(1) Includes $0.1 million elimination of H225 inventory reserve for 2017.

Property and Equipment.  Property and equipment, stated at cost, is depreciated using the straight-line method over the 
estimated useful life of the asset to an estimated salvage value.  With respect to helicopters, the estimated useful life is typically 
based upon a newly built asset being placed into service and represents the point at which it is typically not justifiable for the 
Company to continue to operate the asset in the same or similar manner.  From time to time, the Company may acquire older assets 
that have already exceeded the Company’s useful life policy, in which case the Company depreciates such assets based on its best 
estimate of remaining useful life.  The Company reviews the estimated useful lives and salvage values of its property and equipment 
on an ongoing basis for any changes in estimates.  There were no such changes during the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017
and 2016.

As of December 31, 2018, the estimated useful life (in years) of the Company’s categories of new property and equipment 
was as follows:

Helicopters (estimated salvage value at 40% of cost) 15
Machinery, equipment and spares 5-7
Buildings and leasehold improvements 10-30
Furniture, fixtures, vehicles and other 3-5

Equipment maintenance and repair costs and the costs of routine overhauls and inspections performed on helicopter 
engines and major components are charged to operating expense as incurred.  Expenditures that extend the useful life or improve 
the marketing and commercial characteristics of equipment, as well as major improvements to other properties, are capitalized. 
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The Company engages a number of third-party vendors to maintain the engines and certain components on some of its 
helicopter models under programs known as power-by-hour (“PBH”) maintenance contracts.  These programs require the Company 
to pay for the maintenance service ratably over the contract period, typically based on actual flight hours.  PBH providers generally 
bill monthly based on hours flown in the prior month, and the costs are expensed as incurred.  In the event the Company places a 
helicopter in a program after a maintenance period has begun, it may be necessary to pay an initial buy-in charge based on hours 
flown since the previous maintenance event.  The buy-in charge is normally recorded as a prepaid expense and amortized as an 
operating expense over the remaining PBH contract period.  If a helicopter is sold or otherwise removed from a program before 
the scheduled maintenance work is carried out, the Company may be able to recover part of its payments to the PBH provider, in 
which case the Company records a reduction to operating expense.  

The Company also incurs repairs and maintenance expense through vendor arrangements whereby the Company obtains 
repair quotes and authorizes service through a repair order process.  Under these arrangements, the Company records the repairs 
and maintenance cost as the work is completed.  As a result, the timing of repairs and maintenance may result in operating expenses 
varying substantially when compared with a prior year or prior quarter if a disproportionate number of repairs, refurbishments or 
overhauls for components that are not covered under PBH arrangements are performed during a period.  

Certain interest costs incurred during the construction of equipment are capitalized as part of the assets’ carrying values 
and are amortized over such assets’ estimated useful lives.  The Company capitalized interest of $0.1 million, $0.5 million and 
less than $0.1 million during the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.  As of December 31, 2018 and 
2017, construction in progress, which is a component of property and equipment, included capitalized interest of $0.7 million and 
$1.9 million, respectively.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets.  The Company performs an impairment analysis on long-lived assets used in operations 
when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of such assets may not be recoverable.  The Company’s 
long-lived assets are grouped at the lowest level for which there are identifiable cash flows that are largely independent of the 
cash flows of other groups of assets, which is generally at the fleet group level. If an impairment is indicated for the asset group 
classified as held and used, an impairment evaluation will be performed. Asset impairment evaluations are based on estimated 
undiscounted cash flows over the remaining useful life for the assets being evaluated. If the sum of the expected future cash flows 
is less than the carrying amount of the asset group, the Company would be required to recognize an impairment loss. During 2017, 
the Company concluded that the cash flows associated with its H225 heavy helicopters are largely independent from the cash 
flows associated with the remainder of the fleet and should be evaluated separately for impairment. The Company performed an 
impairment analysis on the H225 helicopters, capital parts and related inventory and determined that the projected undiscounted 
cash flows over the remaining useful life were less than the carrying amount. In determining the fair value, the Company used a 
cost approach, which begins with the replacement cost of a new asset and adjusts for age and functional and economic obsolescence. 
The inputs used in the Company’s fair value estimate were from Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy discussed in Note 2.  As of 
December 31, 2018 the Company recorded a $1.0 million impairment charge on an H225 helicopter.  In 2017 the Company had 
recorded a $117 million impairment charge on its H225 helicopters.

Impairment of Equity Investees.  The Company performs regular reviews of each investee’s financial condition, the 
business outlook for its products and services, and its present and projected results and cash flows.  When an investee has experienced 
consistent declines in financial performance or difficulties in raising capital to continue operations, and when the Company expects 
the decline to be other-than-temporary, the investment is written down to fair value.  Actual results may vary from estimates due 
to the uncertainty regarding the projected financial performance of investees, the severity and expected duration of declines in 
value and the available liquidity in the capital markets to support the continuing operations of the investees in which the Company 
has investments.  For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Company did not recognize any impairment charges.

Goodwill.  Goodwill is recorded when the purchase price paid for an acquisition exceeds the fair value of net identified 
tangible and intangible assets acquired.  The Company performs an annual impairment test of goodwill and interim tests to the 
extent indicators of impairment develop between annual impairment tests.  The Company tests goodwill at the reporting unit level.  
The Company’s impairment review process compares the fair value of the reporting unit to its carrying value, including goodwill.  
To determine its fair value, the Company uses a discounted future cash flow approach that uses estimates including, among others, 
projected utilization of its fleet and contract rates.  These estimates are reviewed each time the Company tests goodwill for 
impairment and are typically developed as part of the Company’s routine business planning and forecasting process.  While the 
Company believes its estimates and assumptions are reasonable, variations from those estimates could produce materially different 
results.

Intangible Assets.   Intangible assets with indefinite lives are recorded during purchase price accounting in a business 
combination.  The Company performs an annual impairment test of indefinite lived intangible assets and interim tests to the extent 
indicators of impairment develop between annual impairment tests. The Company’s impairment review process compares the fair 
value to the book value.  To determine its fair value, the Company uses a discounted future cash flow approach that uses estimates 
including, among others, projected utilization of its fleet and contract rates.  These estimates are reviewed each time the Company 
tests indefinite lived assets for impairment.  While the Company believes its estimates and assumptions are reasonable, variations 
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from those estimates could produce materially different results. Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized over their 
respective estimated useful lives. As of December 31, 2018, the Company had indefinite lived intangible assets of $1.1 million
and intangible assets with finite lives of less than $0.1 million.

Business Combinations.  The Company recognizes, with certain exceptions, 100 percent of the fair value of assets 
acquired, liabilities assumed, and non controlling interests when the acquisition constitutes a change in control of the acquired 
entity.  Shares issued in consideration for a business combination, contingent consideration arrangements and pre-acquisition loss 
and gain contingencies are all measured and recorded at their acquisition-date fair value.  Subsequent changes to fair value of 
contingent consideration arrangements are generally reflected in earnings.  Acquisition-related transaction costs are expensed as 
incurred, and any changes in an acquirer’s existing income tax valuation allowances and tax uncertainty accruals are recorded as 
an adjustment to income tax expense.  The operating results of entities acquired are included in the accompanying consolidated 
statements of operations from the date of acquisition. 

Deferred Financing Costs.  Deferred financing costs incurred in connection with the issuance of debt are amortized over 
the life of the related debt using the effective interest rate method for term loans and straight line method for revolving credit 
facilities.  Amortization expense for deferred financing costs totaled $1.4 million, $1.1 million and $1.5 million during the years 
ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively, including the write-off of $0.4 million and $0.5 million of debt issuance 
costs in 2018 and 2016, respectively, in connection with an amendment to the Company’s amended and restated senior secured 
revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility”).  Such amortization expense is included in interest expense in the 
consolidated statements of operations.

Revenue Recognition.  The Company recognizes revenues for flight services and emergency response services with the 
passing of each day as the Company has the right to consideration from its customers in an amount that corresponds directly with 
the value to the Company’s customer of the performance completed to date. Therefore, the Company has elected to exercise the 
right to invoice practical expedient in its adoption of ASC 606. The right to invoice represents a method for recognizing revenue 
over time using the output measure of “value to the customer” which is an objective measure of an entity’s performance in a 
contract. The Company typically invoices its customers on a monthly basis for revenues earned during the prior month with 
payment terms of 30 days. The Company’s customer arrangements do not contain any significant financing component for its 
customers. 

Income Taxes.  Era Group and its majority-owned U.S. subsidiaries file a consolidated U.S. federal tax return.  Era 
Group’s foreign consolidated subsidiaries each file tax returns in their applicable jurisdictions.  Deferred income tax assets and 
liabilities have been provided in recognition of the income tax effect attributable to the book and tax basis differences of assets 
and liabilities reported in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.  Deferred tax assets or liabilities are provided using 
the enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the periods in which they are expected to be settled or realized.  Interest 
and penalties relating to uncertain tax positions are recognized in interest expense and administrative and general expense, 
respectively, in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.  The Company records a valuation allowance to reduce 
its deferred tax assets if it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The 
Company has evaluated the newly enacted global intangible low-taxed income (GILTI) provisions, which could subject its foreign 
earnings to a minimum level of tax and has decided to make an election to treat these costs as period costs.

Foreign Currency Transactions.  The functional currency for each of the Company’s foreign entities is the U.S. dollar.  
From time to time, the Company enters into transactions denominated in currencies other than its functional currency.  Gains and 
losses resulting from changes in currency exchange rates between the functional currency and the currency in which a transaction 
is denominated are included in foreign currency gains (losses), net in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations in 
the period which the currency exchange rates change.

Earnings (Loss) Per Common Share.  Basic earnings (loss) per common share of the Company are computed based on 
the weighted average number of common shares issued and outstanding during the relevant periods.  Diluted earnings (loss) per 
common share of the Company are computed based on the weighted average number of common shares issued and outstanding 
plus the effect of potentially dilutive securities through the application of the if-converted method and/or treasury method.

Savings Plan.  The Company provides a defined contribution plan (the “Savings Plan”) for its eligible U.S.-based 
employees.  The Savings Plan provides for qualified, non-elective Company contributions in an amount equal to 3% of each 
employee’s eligible pay plus an amount equal to 100% of an employee’s first 3% of wages invested in the Savings Plan and 
immediate and full vesting in the Company’s contributions.  The Savings Plan is subject to annual review by the Board of Directors 
of Era Group (the “Board of Directors”).  The Company’s Savings Plan costs were $2.3 million, $2.4 million and $2.8 million, 
respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements.  - Adopted.  The Company adopted the provisions of Financial Accounting 
Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers,” and its 
amendments issued by the provisions of ASU No. 2016-08, “Principal versus Agent Considerations (Reporting Revenue Gross 
versus Net),” ASU No. 2016-10, “Identifying Performance Obligations and Licensing,” ASU No. 2016-12, “Narrow-Scope 
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Improvements and Practical Expedients,” and ASU No. 2016-20, “Technical Corrections and Improvements to Topic 606, Revenue 
From Contracts with Customers,” collectively Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) Topic 606 beginning January 1, 2018.  
ASC Topic 606 outlines a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from all contracts with 
customers except where revenues are in scope of another accounting standard.  The ASU superseded the revenue recognition 
requirements in ASC Topic 605, “Revenue Recognition,” and most industry-specific guidance.  ASC Topic 606 sets forth a five-
step model for determining when and how revenue is recognized.  Under the model, an entity will be required to recognize revenue 
to depict the transfer of goods or services to a customer at an amount reflecting the consideration it expects to receive in exchange 
for those goods and services.  The adoption of ASC Topic 606 did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements.  See Note 10 - Revenues for additional information relating to Revenue from Contracts with Customers.  

 The Company adopted the provisions of FASB ASU No. 2016-15, “Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash 
Payments,” beginning January 1, 2018.  This ASU clarifies how certain cash receipts and cash payments should be classified and 
presented in the statement of cash flows.  The Company has made an accounting policy election to classify distributions received 
from equity method investees using the nature of the distribution approach which classifies distributions received from investees 
as either cash inflows from operating activities or cash inflows from investing activities based on the nature of the activities of 
the investee that generated the distribution.  Adoption of this ASU did not have a material impact on the Company’s historical 
financial statements.

In October 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-16 - Income Taxes, which requires entities to recognize income tax 
consequences of intra-entity transfers of assets, other than inventory, when the transfer occurs rather than when the asset is sold 
to a third party as is the case under current GAAP.  ASU 2016-16 will be effective for annual reporting periods beginning after 
December 15, 2017 including interim periods within that period. The Company adopted ASU 2016-16 effective January 1, 2018, 
and such adoption did not have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

 The Company adopted the provisions of FASB ASU No. 2016-18, “Restricted Cash,” beginning January 1, 2018.  This 
ASU requires amounts deemed restricted cash be included with cash and cash equivalents when reconciling the beginning-of-
period and end-of-period total amounts shown on the statement of cash flows, and presentation should permit a reconciliation 
when cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash are presented in more than one line item on the balance sheet.  The Company had 
amounts deposited in escrow accounts as discussed further below in Note 3. These amounts are deemed restricted cash and are 
included in the “Escrow deposits” line of the consolidated balance sheet.  The impact of adopting this ASU has been included as 
adjustments in the prior period statement of cash flows.

In May 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-09 - Compensation - Stock Compensation: Scope of Modification Accounting, 
which is designed to reduce diversity in practice and complexity when accounting for changes in the terms of a share-based payment 
award.  ASU 2017-09 will be effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim periods 
within that period, and early adoption is permitted for any interim period for which financial statements have not yet been issued.  
The Company adopted ASU 2017-09 effective January 1, 2018, and such adoption did not have a material impact on its consolidated 
financial statements.

New Accounting Standards - Not Yet Adopted.  In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, “Leases” (ASU 
No. 2016-02), which establishes comprehensive accounting and financial reporting requirements for leasing arrangements.  This 
ASU supersedes the existing requirements in FASB ASC Topic 840, “Leases,” and requires lessees to recognize substantially all 
lease assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet.  The provisions of this ASU also modify the definition of a lease and outline 
requirements for recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leasing arrangements by both lessees and lessors.  The 
ASU is effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018, and early adoption of the standard is permitted.  
Entities are required to adopt the ASU using a modified retrospective approach, subject to certain optional practical expedients, 
and apply the provisions of  this ASU to leasing arrangements existing at or entered into after the earliest comparative period 
presented in the financial statements. In July 2018 this ASU was further amended by the provisions of ASU No. 2018-11, “Targeted 
Improvements” to Topic 842 whereby the FASB decided to provide an alternate transition method by allowing entities to initially 
apply the new leases standard at the adoption date (such as January 1, 2019, for calendar year-end public business entities) and 
recognize a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings in the period of adoption consistent with 
preparers’ requests. The Company currently plans to adopt this standard in the first quarter of 2019 using the current-period 
adjustment method and will recognize a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings in that period.  
The Company has elected the package of practical expedients permitted under the transition guidance within the new standard, 
which allows us to carry forward the historical accounting related to lease identification and classification for existing leases upon 
adoption.  The Company has made an accounting policy election to keep leases with an initial term of 12 months or less off of the 
consolidated balance sheet.  The Company has identified the relevant lease contracts and the review and evaluation of these is 
substantially complete.  While the Company’s evaluation of this ASU is still ongoing, the Company estimates approximately $7.0 
million to $9.0 million of additional right of use assets and liabilities will be recognized in the consolidated balance sheet upon 
adoption.  The Company expects the initial impact of adopting this new standard on its consolidated statement of operations and 
consolidated statement of cash flows will not be material.
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In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, “Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments” (ASU No. 
2016-13), which sets forth the current expected credit loss model, a new forward-looking impairment model for certain financial 
instruments based on expected losses rather than incurred losses.  The ASU is effective for interim and annual periods beginning 
after December 15, 2019, and early adoption of the standard is permitted.  Entities are required to adopt this ASU using a modified 
retrospective approach, subject to certain limited exceptions.  The Company is evaluating the potential impact of the adoption of 
this ASU on its consolidated financial statements.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU-2018-15,  “Intangibles-Goodwill and Other-Internal-Use Software” (Subtopic 
350-40), providing guidance addressing a customer's accounting for implementation costs incurred in a cloud computing
arrangement (“CCA”) that is considered a service contract. Under the new guidance, implementation costs for a CCA should be
evaluated for capitalization using the same approach as implementation costs associated with internal-use software and should be
expensed over the term of the hosting arrangement, which includes any reasonably certain renewal periods. The new guidance is
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019 for calendar year-end public business entities. Early adoption is
permitted, including adoption in any interim period. The Company is evaluating the potential impact of the adoption of this ASU
on its consolidated financial statements.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU-2018-13, “Fair Value Measurements” (ASU No.2018-13, update to topic 
ASC-820), providing guidance for the changes in unrealized gains and losses for the period included in other comprehensive 
income for recurring Level 3 fair value measurements held at the end of the reporting period, and the range and weighted average 
of significant unobservable inputs used to develop Level 3 fair value measurements. For certain unobservable inputs, an entity 
may disclose other quantitative information (such as the median or arithmetic average) in lieu of the weighted average if the entity 
determines that other quantitative information would be a more reasonable and rational method to reflect the distribution of 
unobservable inputs used to develop Level 3 fair value measurements. ASU-2018-13 will be effective for interim and annual 
periods beginning December 15, 2019. The Company has not adopted this ASU and believes such adoption will not have a material 
impact on its consolidated financial statements.

2. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The fair value of an asset or liability is the price that would be received to sell an asset or transfer a liability (an exit price) 
in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the 
measurement date.  The Company utilizes a fair value hierarchy that maximizes the use of observable inputs and minimizes the 
use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value and defines three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value. 
Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.  Level 2 inputs are observable inputs other than 
quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly, including quoted prices 
for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, quoted prices in markets that are not active, inputs other than quoted prices that 
are observable for the asset or liability, or inputs derived from observable market data.  Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs 
that are supported by little or no market activity and are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.

The estimated fair value of the Company’s other financial assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 were 
as follows (in thousands):

Carrying
Amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

December 31, 2018
LIABILITIES
Long-term debt, including current portion $ 162,275 $ — $ 159,367 $ —

December 31, 2017
LIABILITIES
Long-term debt, including current portion $ 204,910 $ — $ 203,938 $ —

The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, receivables and accounts payable approximate fair value.  The fair value 
of the Company’s long-term debt was estimated using discounted cash flow analysis based on estimated current rates for similar 
types of arrangements.  Considerable judgment was required in developing certain of the fair value estimates, and accordingly, 
the estimates presented herein are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that the Company could realize in a current market 
exchange.
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3. ESCROW DEPOSITS

Prior to the change in the U.S. tax code at the end of 2017, the Company periodically entered into Qualified Exchange 
Accommodation Agreements with third parties to meet the like-kind exchange requirements of Section 1031 of the Internal Revenue 
Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) and the provisions of Revenue Procedure 2000-37. In accordance with these provisions, 
the Company was permitted to deposit proceeds from the sale of assets into escrow accounts for the purpose of acquiring other 
assets and qualifying for the temporary deferral of taxable gains realized.  Consequently, the Company established escrow accounts 
with financial institutions for the deposit of funds received on sales of equipment, which were designated for replacement property 
within a specified period of time.  As of  December 31, 2018, the Company had no deposits in like-kind exchange escrow accounts.  
As of December 31, 2017, the Company had $3.3 million, deposited in like-kind exchange escrow accounts.

During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company sold one light twin helicopter for total cash proceeds of $3.2 
million, net of fees.  The sale transaction was treated as a tax-free like-kind exchange, and the proceeds were deposited with a 
qualified intermediary to be held until a qualifying asset was delivered.

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company used $2.8 million of the balance in these escrow accounts to 
make a final payment on a S92 heavy helicopter which completed the like-kind exchange transaction, and the remaining $0.5 
million was returned to the Company.

4. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSITIONS

Capital Expenditures.  The Company’s capital expenditures were $9.2 million, $16.8 million and $39.2 million in 2018, 
2017 and 2016, respectively, and consisted primarily of helicopter acquisitions, spare helicopter parts, and leasehold improvements.  
The Company records helicopter acquisitions in property and equipment and places helicopters in service once completion work 
has been finalized and the helicopters are ready for use.  The Company sold or otherwise disposed of property and equipment for 
cash proceeds of $29.6 million, $9.4 million and $28.6 million in 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.  Included in the proceeds of 
$29.6 million was $1.2 million related to the sales-type leases of six H225 heavy helicopters, for which a $4.0 million loss was 
recognized at the lease commencement.

A summary of changes to the Company’s owned helicopter fleet during the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 
2016 were as follows: 

Equipment Additions 2018 2017 2016 (1)

Heavy helicopters 1 1 2
1 1 2

_______________
(1) Includes two heavy helicopters that were not yet placed in service as of December 31, 2016.

Equipment Dispositions 2018 (1) 2017 2016

Light helicopters - single engine 10 1 2
Light helicopters - twin engine 2 1 1
Medium helicopters 1 1 6
Heavy helicopters 8 — —

21 3 9

_______________
(1) Includes six H225 heavy helicopters disposed in sales-type leases.

Disposition.  On February 23, 2018, the Company sold all of its flightseeing assets in Alaska, which consisted of eight 
light single engine helicopters, two operating facilities, and related property and equipment for cash proceeds of $10.0 million. 
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5. VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES AND EQUITY INVESTMENTS AND ADVANCES

VIEs

Aeróleo.  On July 1, 2011, the Company acquired a 50% economic interest and a 20% voting interest in Aeróleo, a 
Brazilian entity that provides helicopter transport services to the Brazilian offshore oil and gas industry, for $4.8 million in cash. 
The Company and its partner also each loaned Aeróleo $6.0 million at an interest rate of 6.0% per annum.  On October 1, 2015, 
the Company’s partner completed a transfer of its 50% economic and 80% voting interest in Aeróleo to a third party.  In connection 
with the transfer, the Company entered into a shareholders’ agreement with its new partner that requires supermajority shareholder 
and/or board approval of specified, significant actions, and a put/call option arrangement which gives the Company the right to 
purchase at any time, and the new partner the right to put to the Company after two years, the new partner’s interest in Aeróleo. 
The Company has the ability to direct activities that most significantly affect Aeróleo’s financial performance, making the Company 
the primary beneficiary. As a result, the Company concluded that Aeróleo is a variable interest entity and therefore should be 
consolidated into the Company’s financial statements.

The Company’s consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2018 and 2017 include assets of Aeróleo totaling $11.9 
million and $11.5 million, respectively.  The distribution of these assets to Era Group and its subsidiaries other than Aeróleo is 
subject to restrictions.  In addition, the Company’s consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2018 and 2017 include liabilities 
of Aeróleo of $4.5 million and $7.6 million, respectively.  The creditors for such liabilities do not have recourse to Era Group or 
its subsidiaries other than Aeróleo.

Joint Ventures

Dart.  Era DHS LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, acquired 49% of the capital stock of Dart Helicopter 
Services LLC (“Dart Helicopters”), a sales, marketing and parts manufacturing organization based in North America that engineers 
and manufactures after-market parts and equipment for sale to helicopter manufacturers and operators.  During 2009, the Company 
provided a $0.3 million loan to Dart Helicopters with a maturity of June 2012 at an annual interest rate of 5.0%, which was payable 
quarterly with principal due at maturity.  On February 28, 2011, the Company made an additional investment of $5.0 million in 
Dart Helicopters, and on July 31, 2011, contributed its ownership in Dart Helicopters to Dart in exchange for a 50% economic 
and voting interest in Dart and a note receivable of $5.1 million.  The note receivable had a balance of $2.3 million at December 31, 
2018 and bears interest at a rate of 4.0% per annum, requires quarterly principal and interest payments and matures on July 31, 
2023.  During the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Company purchased $2.0 million, $2.0 million and $1.9 
million, respectively, of products and services from Dart.

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company received dividends of $1.0 million from Dart.

Era Training Center.  Era Training Center LLC (“Era Training Center”) previously operated flight training devices and 
provided training services to the Company and third-party customers.  During the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, 
the Company provided helicopter, management and other services to the joint venture totaling $0.1 million, $0.2 million and $0.2 
million, respectively, and incurred $0.2 million, $0.5 million and $0.6 million, respectively, for simulator fees.

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company entered into an agreement to dissolve Era Training Center in 
exchange for the settlement of an existing promissory note with an outstanding principal amount of $3.6 million by acquiring the 
assets of the joint venture. The agreement included the sale of three simulators to the Company for $2.9 million, partial ownership 
in a fourth simulator for $0.4 million and a note receivable from the Company’s partner in Era Training Center for $0.4 million.
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Equity investments and advances as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 were as follows (in thousands):

Ownership 2018 2017
Dart 50% $ 27,112 $ 26,128
Era Training Center 50% — 3,928

$ 27,112 $ 30,056

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, cumulative undistributed net earnings of equity investees included in the Company’s 
consolidated retained earnings were $6.0 million and $2.9 million, respectively. 

Combined Condensed Financial Statements

Summarized financial information for the Company’s equity investments and advances in Dart as of December 31, 2018
and 2017 and for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 was as follows (in thousands):

2018 2017
Current assets $ 31,332 $ 29,336
Non-current assets 30,613 29,899
Current liabilities 7,007 6,671
Non-current liabilities 5,558 6,096

2018 2017 2016
Operating revenues $ 45,602 $ 42,891 $ 40,930
Costs and expenses:

Operating and administrative 36,592 35,983 32,878
Depreciation and amortization 1,754 1,603 3,161

Total costs and expenses 38,346 37,586 36,039
Operating income $ 7,256 $ 5,305 $ 4,891
Net income $ 4,912 $ 3,603 $ 2,657

Summarized financial information for the Company’s equity investments and advances in all other investees as of 
December 31, 2018 and 2017 and for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 was as follows (in thousands):

2018 2017
Current assets $ — $ 257
Non-current assets — 4,138
Current liabilities — 654
Non-current liabilities — 3,298

2018 2017 2016
Operating revenues $ 170 $ 581 $ 694
Costs and expenses:

Operating and administrative 63 367 338
Depreciation and amortization 377 503 519

Total costs and expenses 440 870 857
Operating income $ (270) $ (289) $ (163)
Net income (loss) $ (442) $ (527) $ (409)

19_0410_Era_2018 10-K.indd   73 4/10/19   9:47 PM



73 74

74

6. INCOME TAXES

For financial reporting purposes, income (loss) before income taxes and equity earnings for the years ended December 31, 
2018, 2017 and 2016 were as follows (in thousands):

2018 2017 2016
U.S. $ 12,633 $ (148,248) $ (12,913)
Foreign 1,559 (4,457) (6,446)

Total $ 14,192 $ (152,705) $ (19,359)

The components of income tax expense (benefit) for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 were as follows 
(in thousands):

2018 2017 2016
Current:

Federal $ 924 $ — $ 17
State 219 7 5
Foreign 38 (3,530) 1,213

Total current 1,181 (3,523) 1,235
Deferred:

Federal 2,154 (121,359) (5,060)
State (390) 1,923 479
Foreign (5) 294 (11)

Total deferred 1,759 (119,142) (4,592)
Income tax expense $ 2,940 $ (122,665) $ (3,357)

The following table reconciles the difference between the statutory federal income tax rate for the Company and the 
effective income tax rate for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016:

Provision (benefit): 2018 2017 2016
Statutory rate 21.0 % 35.0 % 35.0 %
State taxes, net of federal tax benefit (1.9)% 5.3 % 18.5 %
State valuation allowance 0.4 % (6.6)% (21.0)%
Foreign valuation allowance (2.3)% (1.0)% (14.1)%
Brazilian PERT Program — % 2.2 % — %
Other 3.5 % (0.6)% (1.1)%
Tax Act — % 46.0 % — %

20.7 % 80.3 % 17.3 %
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The components of net deferred income tax liabilities as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 were as follows (in thousands):

2018 2017
Deferred tax liabilities:

Property and equipment $ 116,178 $ 126,595
Buy-in on maintenance contracts 423 655

Total deferred tax liabilities 116,601 127,250
Deferred tax assets:

Equipment leases — 47
Tax loss carryforwards 44,919 52,293
Stock compensation 691 843
Reserves 788 897
Other (285) 1,539
Valuation allowance (37,869) (34,967)

Total deferred tax assets 8,244 20,652
Net deferred tax liabilities $ 108,357 $ 106,598

As of December 31, 2018, the Company had no federal net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards. The Company had 
$38.3 million federal net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards for 2017, state income tax NOL carryforwards of $377.7 million
and $411.3 million in 2018 and 2017, respectively, in various states and foreign NOL carryforwards of $56.9 million and $58.5 
million in 2018 and 2017, respectively, in various foreign jurisdictions.  As of December 31, 2017, the Company had foreign tax 
credit carryforwards of $1.5 million which were fully utilized during the period ended December 31, 2018.  The Company’s state 
NOL carryforwards expire from 2024 to 2038, and the foreign NOL carryforwards have unlimited carryforward periods.

After considering all available evidence in assessing the need for the valuation allowance, the Company believes that it 
is more likely than not the benefit from certain foreign and some state deferred tax assets will not be realized.  As of December 31, 
2018, the Company has provided a valuation allowance of $18.1 million on the state deferred tax assets. The Company has provided 
a valuation allowance of $19.8 million with respect to the foreign deferred tax assets included in the table above, made up of $18.6 
million related to Aeróleo and $1.2 million related to Sicher.  If the assumptions change and the Company determines it will be 
able to realize those deferred tax assets, the tax benefits relating to any reversal of the valuation allowance on deferred tax assets 
would be recorded in the income tax provision in the period in which such adjustments are identified.

The Company’s operations are subject to the jurisdiction of multiple tax authorities, which impose various types of taxes 
on it including income taxes.  Determining taxes owed in any jurisdiction requires the interpretation of relevant tax laws, regulations, 
judicial decisions and administrative interpretation of the local tax authority.  As a result, the Company is subject to tax assessments 
in such jurisdictions including the re-determination of taxable amounts by tax authorities that may not agree with the Company’s 
interpretations and positions taken. The Company’s 2015 federal income tax return is currently under examination by the Internal 
Revenue Service.

Pursuant to ASC 740-35-25, the Company asserts permanent reinvestment on its controlled foreign corporations within 
Brazil, Colombia, and the British Virgin Islands. The Company does not assert reinvestment on its joint venture located in Canada, 
for which it has recorded a deferred tax liability of $0.2 million and has a tax basis of $23.6 million. 

The effects of a tax position are recognized in the period in which it is determined that it is more likely than not that a 
tax position will be sustained upon examination, including resolution of any related appeals or litigation processes, based on the 
technical merits of the position.  We remain subject to examination for U.S. federal and multiple state tax jurisdictions for tax 
years after 2015 and in Brazil for 2014 and subsequent years.

Pursuant to a shareholders’ agreement entered into on October 1, 2015 with the Company’s partner in Aeróleo (see Note 
4), the Company is the primary beneficiary, and Aeróleo became a consolidated entity.  The Company has analyzed filing positions 
of Aeróleo in Brazil where it is required to file income tax returns for all open tax years (2014 to 2018). 
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A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of the gross unrecognized tax benefits, excluding interest and 
penalties, is as follows (in thousands):

2018 2017 2016
Unrecognized tax benefits at the beginning of the year $ 11 $ 261 $ 648
Reductions due to settlements with taxing authorities — (250) (570)
Increases due to tax positions taken during the current year — — 183
Unrecognized tax benefits at the end of the year $ 11 $ 11 $ 261

Amounts accrued for interest and penalties associated with unrecognized income tax benefits are included in other expense 
on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. As of December 31, 2018, the gross amount of liability for accrued interest and 
penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits was $0.1 million.  While amounts could change in the next twelve months, the 
Company does not anticipate such changes having a material impact on its financial statements.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of the valuation allowance is as follows (in thousands):

2018 2017 2016
Valuation allowance at the beginning of the year $ 34,967 $ 21,575 $ 12,650
Increases to state valuation allowance 50 10,010 6,768
Increases due to foreign valuation allowances 2,852 7,578 2,157
Decrease due to Brazilian PERT Program — (4,196) —
Valuation allowance at the end of the period $ 37,869 $ 34,967 $ 21,575

During the fourth quarter of 2017, Aeroleo elected to enter certain settled and open tax claims in the Tax Special 
Regularization Program (the “PERT Program”) pursuant to Brazil Provisional Measure No. 783 issued on May 31, 2017. The 
PERT Program allows for the partial settling of debts, both income tax debts and non-income-based tax debts, due by April 30, 
2017 to Brazil’s Federal Revenue Service with the use of tax credits, including income tax loss carryforwards. A utilization of 
$3.5 million income tax benefit was recorded during the fourth quarter attributable to income tax loss carryforwards under the 
PERT Program partially offset by the accrual of operating expense associated with certain indirect tax claims enrolled into the 
PERT program. 

On December 22, 2017, the 2017 Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the Tax Act) was enacted into law and the new legislation 
contains several key tax provisions that affect the Company, including a one-time mandatory transition tax on accumulated foreign 
earnings and profits and a reduction of the U.S federal corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21% effective January 1, 2018, 
among others. The Company is required to recognize the effect of the tax law changes in the period of enactment, such as determining 
the transition tax and revaluing its U.S. deferred tax assets and liabilities to the new effective rate. In December 2017, the SEC 
staff issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118, Income Tax Accounting Implications of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (SAB 118), 
which allows a company to record provisional amounts during a measurement period not to extend beyond one year of the enactment 
date. As of December 31, 2018, the Company has completed its accounting for the tax effects of enactment of the Tax Act.  The 
Company has made an adjustment to its deferred tax balances due to the revaluation from 35% to 21% of approximately $70.0 
million and had no amount due for the transitional tax.  However, due to the revised earnings and profits computations that were 
completed during the measurement period, the Company had an adjustment to deferred tax in the amount of $0.2 million.  The 
Company considers the accounting for the transition tax, deferred tax revaluations, and other items to be complete. The Company 
has evaluated the newly enacted global intangible low-taxed income (GILTI) provisions, which could subject its foreign earnings 
to a minimum level of tax and has decided to make an election to treat these costs as period costs.
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7. LONG-TERM DEBT

The Company’s borrowings as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 were as follows (in thousands):

2018 2017
7.750% Senior Notes (excluding unamortized discount) $ 144,828 $ 144,828
Senior secured revolving credit facility — 39,000
Promissory notes 19,980 21,642
Other 395 2,976

Total principal balance on borrowings 165,203 208,446
Portion due with one year (2,058) (2,736)
Unamortized debt issuance costs (1,712) (2,067)
Unamortized discount (1,216) (1,469)

Long-term debt $ 160,217 $ 202,174

The Company’s scheduled long-term debt maturities as of December 31, 2018 were as follows (in thousands):

Total Due
2019 $ 2,058
2020 18,317
2021 —
2022 144,828
2023 —
Years subsequent to 2023 —

$ 165,203

7.750% Senior Notes.  On December 7, 2012, Era Group issued $200.0 million in aggregate principal amount of its 
7.750% senior unsecured notes due December 15, 2022 (the “7.750% Senior Notes”) and received net proceeds of $191.9 million. 
Interest on the 7.750% Senior Notes is payable semi-annually in arrears on June 15 and December 15 of each year.  The 7.750%
Senior Notes may be redeemed at any time and from time to time at the applicable redemption prices set forth in the indenture 
governing the 7.750% Senior Notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the redemption date.  The indenture governing 
the  7.750% Senior Notes contains covenants that restrict Era Group’s ability to, among other things, incur additional indebtedness, 
pay dividends or make other distributions or repurchase or redeem its capital stock, prepay, redeem or repurchase certain debt, 
make loans and investments, sell assets, incur liens, enter into transactions with affiliates, enter into agreements restricting its 
subsidiaries’ ability to pay dividends, and consolidate, merge or sell all or substantially all of the Company’s assets.  In addition, 
upon a specified change of control trigger event or specified asset sale, Era Group may be required to repurchase the 7.750% 
Senior Notes.

Era Group’s payment obligations under the 7.750% Senior Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by all of its 
wholly-owned existing U.S. subsidiaries that are guarantors under the Revolving Credit Facility.  The net proceeds of the offering 
were used to repay $190.0 million of borrowings outstanding under the Company’s prior $200.0 million senior secured revolving 
credit facility (the “Prior Credit Facility”).

During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company repurchased a total of $5.0 million of the 7.750% Senior Notes 
at a price of $86.63 of par for total cash of $4.5 million, including accrued interest of $0.2 million.  The Company recognized 
gains of $0.5 million on the repurchases.

Revolving Credit Facility.  On March 31, 2014, Era Group entered into the Revolving Credit Facility through an 
amendment to the Prior Credit Facility.  Advances under the Revolving Credit Facility at the closing were used to refinance 
indebtedness incurred under the Prior Credit Facility.  On March 7, 2018, Era Group entered into a Consent and Amendment No. 
4 to the Amended and Restated Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility Agreement (the “Amendment No. 4” and the Amended 
and Restated Revolving Credit Facility, as amended by Amendment No. 4, is referred to herein as the “Revolving Credit Facility”) 
that, among other things, (a) reduced the aggregate principal amount of revolving loan commitments from $200.0 million to $125.0 
million, (b) extended the agreement’s maturity until March 31, 2021, (c) revised the definition of EBITDA to permit an add-back 
for certain litigation expenses related to the H225 helicopters, and (d) adjusted the maintenance covenant requirements to maintain 
an interest coverage ratio of not less than 1.75:1.00 and a senior secured leverage ratio of not more than 3.25:1.00. The applicable 
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margin is based on the Company’s ratio of funded debt to EBITDA and increased by 50 basis points at each tier from the previous 
amendment.

The Revolving Credit Facility provides the Company with the ability to borrow up to $125.0 million with a sub-limit of 
up to $50.0 million for letters of credit and includes an “accordion” feature which, if exercised and subject to agreement by the 
lenders and the satisfaction of certain conditions, would increase total commitments by up to $50.0 million.  Availability under 
the Revolving Credit Facility may be limited by the terms of the 7.750% Senior Notes.  The Revolving Credit Facility matures in 
March 2021.

Borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility bear interest at a rate per annum equal to, at Era Group’s election, either 
a base rate or LIBOR, each as defined, plus an applicable margin.  The applicable margin is based on the Company’s ratio of 
funded debt to EBITDA, as defined, and ranges from 1.25% to 2.5% on the base rate margin and 2.25% to 3.5% on the LIBOR 
margin.  The applicable margin as of December 31, 2018 was 1.25% on the “base rate” margin and 2.25% on the LIBOR margin.  
In addition, Era Group is required to pay a quarterly commitment fee based on the average unfunded portion of the committed 
amount at a rate based on the Company’s ratio of funded debt to EBITDA, as defined, that ranges from 0.375% to 0.5%.  As of 
December 31, 2018, the commitment fee was 0.375%. 

The obligations under the Revolving Credit Facility are secured by a portion of the Company’s helicopter fleet and other 
tangible assets and are guaranteed by Era Group’s wholly-owned U.S. subsidiaries.  The Revolving Credit Facility contains various 
restrictive covenants including that we maintain a maximum senior secured leverage ratio, as defined, a minimum interest coverage 
ratio and a minimum ratio of the sum of the fair market value of mortgaged helicopters, accounts receivable and inventory to 
committed amounts under the Revolving Credit Facility as well as other customary covenants including certain restrictions on the 
Company’s ability to enter into certain transactions, including those that could result in the incurrence of additional indebtedness 
and liens, the making of loans, guarantees or investments, sales of assets, payments of dividends or repurchases of capital stock, 
and entering into transactions with affiliates.  As of December 31, 2018, we are in compliance with all debt covenants. 

As of December 31, 2018, Era Group had no outstanding borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility, and the 
remaining availability was $124.1 million based on the borrowing base of such date, net of issued letters of credit of $0.9 million.  
The availability under the Revolving Credit Facility is subject to the Company’s ability to maintain compliance with the financial 
ratios discussed above. In connection with Amendment No. 4 to the Revolving Credit Facility, which reduced the total commitment 
amount of the facility to $125.0 million, Era Group wrote off previously incurred debt issuance costs of $0.4 million  and incurred 
additional debt issuance costs of $1.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2018.  In connection with Amendment No. 3 to the 
Revolving Credit Facility, Era Group wrote off previously incurred debt issuance costs of $0.5 million in 2016.  The additional 
debt issuance costs are included in other assets on the consolidated balance sheets and are amortized to interest expense in the 
consolidated statements of operations over the life of the Revolving Credit Facility.

 Promissory Notes.  On December 23, 2010, the Company entered into a promissory note for $27.0 million to purchase 
a heavy helicopter.  Upon maturity of the note on December 20, 2015, the Company refinanced the then outstanding balance of 
$19.0 million.  The new note is secured by a helicopter and bears interest at the one-month LIBOR rate plus 1.81%.   The interest 
rate resets monthly and at December 31, 2018 was 4.16%. The note requires monthly principal and interest payments of $0.1 
million with a final payment of $12.8 million due in December 2020.  

On November 24, 2010, the Company entered into a promissory note for $11.7 million to purchase a medium helicopter.  
Upon maturity of the note on December 1, 2015, the Company refinanced the then outstanding balance of $5.9 million.  The new 
note is secured by a helicopter and bears interest at the one-month LIBOR rate plus 1.81%.  The interest rate resets monthly and 
at December 31, 2018 was 4.16%.  The note requires monthly principal and interest payments of less than $0.1 million with a 
final payment of $4.0 million due in December 2020.

During the year ended  December 31, 2018, the Company amended the promissory notes to remove one helicopter and 
add two helicopters for a total of three helicopters providing cross-collateralization such that each helicopter now secures both 
promissory notes.

Aeróleo Debt.  In connection with the transfer of partnership interests discussed in Note 5, the Company’s former partner 
assigned two existing notes receivable from Aeróleo totaling $8.3 million to the Company’s new partner.  In June 2016, the 
Company and its partner in Aeróleo each contributed notes payable to them by Aeróleo, including these two notes, as a contribution 
of additional capital into Aeróleo.  As a result, $6.3 million of debt due to the Company’s partner in Aeróleo was recorded in net 
loss attributable to noncontrolling interest in subsidiaries on the consolidated statements of operations.

During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company settled certain tax disputes in Brazil totaling $3.0 million under 
the PERT Program and has agreed to make installment payments on the amounts due to the applicable taxing authorities.  The 
installments are payable in Brazilian reals and bear interest at a rate equal to the overnight rate as published by the Central Bank 
of Brazil and will be paid over the next 7 months as of December 31, 2018.  Such amounts are included in the schedule of long-
term debt maturities noted above.
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8. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company’s unfunded capital commitments as of December 31, 2018 consisted primarily of agreements to purchase 
helicopters and totaled $81.1 million, of which $70.2 million is payable in 2019 with the balance payable through 2020.  The 
Company also had $1.3 million of deposits paid on options not yet exercised.  The Company may terminate all of its total 
commitments, inclusive of deposits paid on options not yet exercised, without further liability other than liquidated damages of 
$2.1 million in the aggregate.

Brazilian Tax Disputes

In connection with its ownership of Aeróleo and its operations in Brazil, the Company has several ongoing legal disputes 
related to the local, municipal and federal taxation requirements in Brazil, including assessments associated with the import and 
re-export of its helicopters in Brazil.  The legal disputes are related to: (i) municipal tax assessments arising under the authorities 
in Rio de Janeiro (for the period between 2000 and 2005) and Macaé (for the period between 2001 to 2006) (collectively, the 
“Municipal Tax Disputes”); (ii) social security contributions that one of its customers was required to remit from 1995 to 1998; 
(iii) penalties assessed due to its alleged failure to comply with certain deadlines related to the helicopters the Company imports
and exports in and out of Brazil; and (iv) fines sought by taxing authorities in Brazil related to its use of certain tax credits used
to offset certain social tax liabilities (collectively, the “Tax Disputes”).

The aggregate amount at issue for the Tax Disputes is $14.5 million. The Municipal Tax Disputes are the largest contributor 
to the total amount being sought from Aeróleo, with approximately $10.1 million at issue.  

In addition to the foregoing Tax Disputes (and unrelated thereto), Aeróleo is engaged in two additional civil litigation 
matters relating to: (i) a dispute with its former tax consultant who has alleged that $0.5 million is due and payable as a contingency 
fee related to execution of certain tax strategies; and (ii) a fatal accident that occurred in 1983 and was previously settled with the 
plaintiffs’ in the U.S. (the “Civil Disputes”).  With respect to the fatal accident, the plaintiffs are seeking to collect additional 
amounts in Brazil despite the previous settlement agreed upon by the parties in the U.S. 

The Company continues to evaluate and assess various legal strategies for each of the Tax Disputes and the Civil Disputes. 
As is customary for certain legal matters in Brazil, Aeróleo has already deposited amounts as security into an escrow account to 
pursue further legal appeals in several of the Tax Disputes and the Civil Disputes.  As of December 31, 2018, the Company has 
deposited $5.4 million into escrow accounts controlled by the court with respect to the Tax Disputes and the Civil Disputes, and 
the Company has fully reserved such amounts subject to final determination and the judicial release of such escrow deposits. These 
estimates are based on its assessment of the nature of these matters, their progress toward resolution, the advice of legal counsel 
and outside experts as well as management’s intentions and experience.  Aeróleo plans to defend the cases vigorously.  As of 
December 31, 2018, it is not possible to determine the outcome of the Tax Disputes or the Civil Disputes, but the Company does 
not expect that an outcome would have a material adverse effect on its business, financial position or results of operations.

Airbus Lawsuit

On November 21, 2016, the Company filed a lawsuit in the District Court of Dallas County, Texas against Airbus 
Helicopters, Inc. and Airbus Helicopters S.A.S. (collectively, “Airbus”) alleging breaches of various contracts between us, 
fraudulent inducement and unjust enrichment in connection with the Airbus marketing and sale of H225 model helicopters to us. 
On October 26, 2017, the Company added claims against Airbus for fraud and negligent misrepresentation, and on December 28, 
2017, the Company amended its complaint to seek damages attributable to the impact of Airbus’ unlawful acts on the value of a 
H225 that the Company purchased from another helicopter operator.

On July 3, 2018, the Company entered into a litigation settlement agreement (the “Settlement Agreement”) with Airbus 
to settle all claims made by the Company against Airbus related to Airbus' marketing and sale, and the Company's purchase, of 
eleven H225 model helicopters. Pursuant to the Settlement Agreement, Airbus has agreed to pay the Company $42.0 million in 
cash and provide it with certain trade account credits that the Company may use for up to five years. The Company has agreed to 
release Airbus from any and all liabilities, claims, counterclaims, demands, complaints, costs, losses and expenses relating to the 
action and to dismiss the action with prejudice without any party admitting fault.

General Litigation and Disputes 

In the normal course of business, the Company is involved in various litigation matters including, among other things, 
claims by third parties for alleged property damages and personal injuries.  In addition, from time to time, the Company is involved 
in tax and other disputes with various government agencies.  Management has used estimates in determining the Company’s 
potential exposure to these matters and has recorded reserves in its financial statements related thereto as appropriate.  It is possible 
that a change in its estimates related to these exposures could occur, but the Company does not expect such changes in estimated 
costs would have a material effect on its business, consolidated financial position or results of operations.
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Minimum Lease Payments

As of December 31, 2018, the Company leased certain facilities and equipment.  These leasing agreements have been 
classified as operating leases for financial reporting purposes and related rental fees are charged to expense over the lease terms. 
The leases generally contain purchase and lease renewal options or rights of first refusal with respect to sale or lease of the 
equipment.  The lease terms range in duration from one to ten years.  Total rental expense for the Company’s operating leases for 
the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 was $4.1 million, $5.5 million and $5.7 million, respectively. The Company’s 
scheduled minimum lease payments under operating leases that have a remaining term in excess of one year as of December 31, 
2018 were as follows (in thousands):

Minimum
Payments

2019 $ 1,573
2020 1,530
2021 987
2022 562
2023 495
Years subsequent to 2023 7,952

9. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per common share of the Company are computed based on the weighted average number of common 
shares issued and outstanding during the relevant periods.  Diluted earnings per common share of the Company are computed 
based on the weighted average number of common shares issued and outstanding plus the effect of potentially dilutive securities 
through the application of the if-converted method and/or treasury method.  Dilutive securities for this purpose assumes all common 
shares have been issued and outstanding during the relevant periods pursuant to the exercise of outstanding stock options.

Computations of basic and diluted earnings per common share for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016
were as follows (in thousands, except share and per share data):

2018 2017 2016
Net income (loss) attributable to Era Group Inc. $ 13,922 $ (28,161) $ (7,978)
Net income attributable to participating securities $ 307 $ — $ —
Net income (loss) attributable to fully vested common stock $ 13,615 $ (28,161) $ (7,978)
Shares:

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding—basic 21,167,550 20,760,530 20,350,066
Net effect of dilutive stock options and restricted stock awards based on the 
treasury stock method(1) 12,940 — —
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding—diluted 21,180,490 20,760,530 20,350,066

Earnings per common share:
Basic $ 0.64 $ (1.36) $ (0.39)
Diluted $ 0.64 $ (1.36) $ (0.39)

_______________

(1) Excludes weighted average common shares of 218,844, 273,255 and 294,273 for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively, 
for certain share awards as the effect of their inclusion would have been antidilutive.
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10. REVENUES

The Company derives its revenues primarily from oil and gas flight services, emergency response services and dry-leasing 
activities.  The adoption of ASC 606 pertains to the Company’s operating revenues.  Dry-leasing revenues are recognized in 
accordance with ASC 840.  Revenue is recognized when control of the promised goods or services is transferred to customers in 
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

The following table presents the Company’s operating revenues disaggregated by geographical region in which services 
are provided:

2018 2017 2016
Operating revenues:

United States $ 153,394 $ 150,583 $ 170,438
Foreign 56,800 64,344 63,089

Total operating revenues $ 210,194 $ 214,927 $ 233,527

The following table presents the Company’s revenues earned by service line:

2018 2017 2016
Revenues:

Oil and gas flight services:
U.S. $ 143,654 $ 134,010 $ 139,750
International 56,800 64,344 63,089

Total oil and gas 200,454 198,354 202,839
Emergency response services 9,740 11,502 24,973
Flightseeing — 5,071 5,715

Total operating revenues $ 210,194 $ 214,927 $ 233,527
Dry-leasing revenues:

U.S. 3,873 1,604 683
International 7,609 14,790 13,018

Total revenues $ 221,676 $ 231,321 $ 247,228

The Company determines revenue recognition by applying the following steps:

1. Identify the contract with a customer;

2. Identify the performance obligations in the contract;

3. Determine the transaction price;

4. Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations; and

5. Recognize revenue as the performance obligations are satisfied.

The Company earns the majority of its revenue through master service agreements or subscription agreements, which 
typically include a fixed monthly or daily fee, incremental fees based on hours flown and fees for ancillary items such as fuel, 
security, charter services, etc. The Company’s arrangements to serve its customers represent a promise to stand-ready to provide 
services at the customer’s discretion. 

The Company recognizes revenue for flight services and emergency response services with the passing of each day as  
the Company has the right to consideration from its customers in an amount that corresponds directly with the value to the customer 
of performance completed to date. Therefore, the Company has elected to exercise the right to invoice practical expedient in its 
adoption of ASC 606. The right to invoice represents a method for recognizing revenue over time using the output measure of 
“value to the customer” which is an objective measure of an entity’s performance in a contract. The Company typically invoices 
customers on a monthly basis for revenues earned during the prior month, with payment terms of 30 days. The Company’s customer 
arrangements do not contain any significant financing component for customers. Amounts for taxes collected from customers and 
remitted to governmental authorities are reported on a net basis.
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Practical Expedients and Exemptions

The Company does not incur any material incremental costs to obtain or fulfill customer contracts that require capitalization 
under the new revenue standard and has elected the practical expedient afforded by the new revenue standard to expense such 
costs as incurred upon adoption. These costs are included as operating expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.

The Company does not disclose the value of unsatisfied performance obligations for (i) contracts with an original expected 
length of one year or less and (ii) contracts for which it recognizes revenue at the amount to which it has the right to invoice for 
services performed.

11. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Mr. Fabrikant, Chairman of the Board and Director of the Company, is also the Executive Chairman and Chief Executive 
Officer of SEACOR Holdings Inc. (“SEACOR”). The Company leases office space from SEACOR.  For each of the years ended 
December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Company paid $0.4 million to SEACOR for rent and utilities, which are included in 
administrative and general expenses on the consolidated statements of operations. 

During the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Company purchased products and services from Dart 
totaling $2.0 million, $2.0 million and $1.9 million, respectively, and had a note receivable from Dart with a balance of $2.3 
million and $2.8 million at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.  Purchases from Dart are included in operating expenses 
on the consolidated statements of income, and the note receivable is included in equity investments and advances on the consolidated 
balance sheets.

During the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Company provided helicopter, management and other 
services to Era Training Center totaling $0.1 million, $0.2 million and $0.2 million, respectively, and incurred $0.2 million, $0.5 
million and $0.6 million, respectively, for flight training device fees.  Revenues from Era Training Center were recorded in operating 
revenues, and expenses incurred are recorded in operating expenses on the consolidated statements of operations.  At December 31, 
2017, the Company had a note receivable from Era Training Center with a balance of $3.7 million, which was recorded in equity 
investments and advances on the consolidated balance sheets.  During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company entered 
into an agreement to dissolve Era Training Center.  See further discussion in Note 5.

In June 2016, the Company and its partner in Aeróleo each contributed notes payable to them by Aeróleo as a contribution 
of additional capital into Aeróleo.  See further discussion in Note 7.

12. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

Share Incentive Plans.  In 2013, the Company adopted the Era Group Inc. 2012 Incentive Plan (“2012 Plan”) under 
which a maximum of 4,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock, par value of $0.01 per share (“Common Stock”), are 
reserved for issuance.  Awards granted under the 2012 Plan may be in the form of stock options, stock appreciation rights, shares 
of restricted stock, other share-based awards (payable in cash or common stock) or performance awards, or any combination 
thereof, and may be made to outside directors, employees or consultants.  The Board of Directors determines, for each award, 
whether to issue new shares or shares from the Company’s treasury account.  As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, 2,235,379 and 
2,525,563 shares, respectively, remained available for grant under the 2012 Plan.

In 2013, the Company adopted the Era Group Inc. 2013 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”) under which the 
Company may offer up to a maximum of 300,000 shares of Common Stock for purchase by eligible employees at a price per share 
equal to 85% of the lesser of (i) the fair market value per share of Common Stock on the first day of the offering period or (ii) the 
fair market value per share of Common Stock on the last day of the offering period.  Common Stock is made available for purchase 
under the ESPP for six-month offering periods.  The ESPP is intended to comply with Section 423 of the Code but is not intended 
to be subject to Section 401(a) of the Code or the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974.  The Board of Directors 
may amend or terminate the ESPP at any time; however, no increase in the number of shares of Common Stock reserved for 
issuance under the ESPP may be made without stockholder approval.  In 2016, the Board of Directors authorized an additional 
400,000 to be reserved for issuance under the ESPP, which was approved by the stockholders of the Company at the Company’s 
annual meeting in 2017.  The ESPP has a term of ten years.  As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, 222,378 and 336,763 shares, 
respectively, remained available for issuance under the ESPP.  During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company issued 
114,385 shares under the ESPP.

Total share-based compensation expense, which includes stock options, restricted stock and ESPP purchases, was $2.9 
million, $4.6 million and $4.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.  A portion of the 
restricted stock awards are performance-based.  As of December 31, 2018, the Company had approximately $3.4 million in total 
unrecognized compensation costs, and the weighted average period over which it is expected to be recognized is 1.8 years.
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Restricted Stock Awards.  During the year ended December 31, 2018, the number of shares and the weighted average 
grant price of restricted stock award transactions were as follows:

2018

Number of
Shares

Weighted
Average

Grant Price
Non-vested as of December 31, 2017 382,873 $ 12.68

Restricted stock awards granted:
Non-employee directors 37,272 $ 9.80
Employees 295,180 $ 9.80

Vested (201,059) $ 14.05
Forfeited (500) $ 9.66

Non-vested as of December 31, 2018 513,766 $ 10.28

During the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Company awarded 331,869, 297,256 and 342,913 shares, 
respectively, of restricted stock at a weighted average grant date fair value of $9.80, $11.44 and $10.56, respectively.  The total 
fair value of shares vested during the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, determined using the closing price on the 
grant date, was $2.8 million, $5.5 million and $3.2 million, respectively.

Stock Option Grants.  During the year ended December 31, 2018, the number of shares, the weighted average grant date 
fair value and the weighted average exercise price on stock option transactions were as follows:

Non-vested Options
Vested/Exercisable

Options Total Options

Number
of Shares

Weighted
Average

Grant Date
Fair Value

Number
of Shares

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price
Number
of Shares

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price
Outstanding as of December 31, 2017 15,000 $ 7.04 230,380 $ 18.54 245,380 $ 18.71

Granted
Vested (15,000) $ 7.04 15,000 $ 21.26
Exercised
Expired (41,768) $ 14.24 (41,768) $ 14.24
Forfeited

Outstanding as of December 31, 2018 — $ — 203,612 $ 19.62 203,612 $ 19.62

The Company did not grant any options during the years ended December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017. 

13. SEGMENT INFORMATION, MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND GEOGRAPHICAL DATA

The Company has determined that its operations comprise a single segment.  Helicopters are highly mobile and may be 
utilized in any of the Company’s service lines as business needs dictate.

For the year ended December 31, 2018, Anadarko Petroleum Corporation (“Anadarko”), Petrobras and the U.S. 
government accounted for 31%, 23% and 15%, respectively, of the Company’s operating revenues.  For the year ended 
December 31, 2017, Anadarko, Petrobras and the U.S. government accounted for 28%, 22% and 16%, respectively, of the 
Company’s operating revenues.  For the year ended December 31, 2016, Anadarko, Petrobras and the U.S. government accounted 
for 24%, 20% and 16%, respectively, of the Company’s operating revenues.  For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 
2016, approximately 29%, 34% and 31%, respectively, of the Company’s operating revenues were derived from foreign operations. 
The Company’s foreign revenues are primarily derived from oil and gas operations in Brazil, Colombia and Suriname as well as 
leasing activities.
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The following represents the Company’s operating revenues by geographical region in which services are provided for 
the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 (in thousands):

2018 2017 2016
Revenues:

United States $ 157,267 $ 152,187 $ 171,121
Latin America and the Caribbean 58,037 68,936 64,007
Europe 608 5,029 5,924
Asia 5,764 5,169 6,176

$ 221,676 $ 231,321 $ 247,228

The Company’s long-lived assets are primarily its property and equipment employed in various geographical regions of 
the world.  The following represents the Company’s property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation, based upon the 
assets’ physical locations as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 (in thousands):

2018 2017
Property and equipment, net:

United States $ 472,838 $ 533,800
Latin America and the Caribbean 105,519 120,152
Europe 8,049 6,697
Asia 12,788 13,265

$ 599,194 $ 673,914

The Company’s Brazilian operations include 194 employees, representing approximately 28% of the Company’s total 
workforce, that are covered under collective bargaining agreements, none of which expire within the next year.  Any disputes with 
its employees over the terms of the collective bargaining agreements could result in strikes or other work stoppages, higher labor 
costs or other conditions that may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition or results of operations.

14. SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION FOR STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Supplemental cash flow information for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 was as follows (in thousands): 

2018 2017 2016
Income taxes paid, net of refunds $ 283 $ 426 $ (5,978)
Interest paid to others, excluding capitalized interest 13,581 15,315 15,268
Schedule of non-cash investing and financing activities:

Contribution of notes payable as additional capital into Aeróleo — — 6,349
Settlement of accrued contingent liabilities through installment obligations — 386 2,486
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15. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)

Selected financial information for interim quarterly periods is presented below (in thousands, except per share data). 
Earnings (loss) per common share are computed independently for each of the quarters presented, and the sum of the quarterly 
earnings (loss) per share may not necessarily equal the total for the year: 

Three Months Ended
2018 Mar. 31 Jun. 30 Sep. 30 Dec. 31

Revenues $ 57,322 $ 57,728 $ 54,610 $ 52,016
Operating income (loss) $ 1,651 $ (9,523) $ 41,571 $ (5,629)
Net income (loss) $ (1,357) $ (10,516) $ 31,279 $ (5,948)
Net income (loss) attributable to common shares $ (1,194) $ (10,379) $ 31,289 $ (5,794)
Earnings (loss) per common share - basic $ (0.06) $ (0.49) $ 1.44 $ (0.27)
Earnings (loss) per common share - diluted $ (0.06) $ (0.49) $ 1.44 $ (0.27)

Three Months Ended
2017 Mar. 31 Jun. 30 Sep. 30 (1) Dec. 31 (2)

Operating revenues $ 54,527 $ 57,878 $ 61,385 $ 57,531
Operating income (loss) $ (5,056) $ (276) $ (122,773) $ (8,359)
Net income (loss) $ (5,787) $ (3,072) $ (81,215) $ 61,459
Net income (loss) attributable to common shares $ (5,620) $ (2,787) $ (81,448) $ 61,694
Earnings (loss) per common share - basic $ (0.27) $ (0.13) $ (3.91) $ 2.89
Earnings (loss) per common share - diluted $ (0.27) $ (0.13) $ (3.91) $ 2.89

_______________
(1) The third quarter of 2017 includes adjustments that were immaterial to the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017 and to prior periods. The impact of

the corrections made in the third quarter 2017 was a $1.2 million increase in operating loss, including a $0.2 million increase in operating expense, a 
$0.7 million increase in general and administrative expense, $0.3 million increase in loss on impairment, a $0.9 million increase in tax benefit, a $0.3 
million increase in net loss and net loss attributable to common shares, a $0.02 increase in loss per common share.

(2) The fourth quarter of 2017 includes adjustments that were immaterial to the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017 and to prior periods.  The impact of
the corrections made in the fourth quarter 2017 was a $0.3 million increase in operating loss, including a $0.4 million increase in operating expense, 
a $0.2 million decrease in depreciation and amortization expense, a $0.1 million decrease in general and administrative expense, a $0.2 million decrease
in gains on asset dispositions, a $1.2 million increase in interest expense, a $0.2 million increase in tax benefit, a $1.4 million decrease in net loss and 
net loss attributable to common shares, a $0.05 decrease in loss per common share.

16. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On March 7, 2019, the Company in conjunction with its 50% joint venture partner entered into an agreement to sell Dart 
for $75 million.  The transaction is expected to close in the second quarter of 2019, subject to the satisfaction or waiver of customary 
closing conditions.  At closing, the Company expects to receive cash proceeds, including repayment of a related party note 
receivable, of approximately $40 million.  The Company’s tax basis in Dart was $23.6 million as of December 31, 2018.

17. GUARANTORS OF SECURITIES

Era Group’s payment obligations under the 7.750% Senior Notes are jointly and severally guaranteed by all of its existing 
100% owned U.S. subsidiaries that guarantee the Revolving Credit Facility and any future U.S. subsidiaries that guarantee the 
Revolving Credit Facility or other material indebtedness Era Group may incur in the future (the “Guarantors”).  All the Guarantors 
currently guarantee the Revolving Credit Facility, and the guarantees of the Guarantors are full and unconditional and joint and 
several. 

As a result of the agreement by the Guarantors to guarantee the 7.750% Senior Notes, the Company  presents the following 
condensed consolidating balance sheets and statements of operations, comprehensive income and cash flows for Era Group 
(“Parent”), the Guarantors and the Company’s other subsidiaries (“Non-guarantors”).  These statements should be read in 
conjunction with the accompanying consolidated financial statements and notes of the Company. 
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Supplemental Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2018 

Parent Guarantors
Non-

guarantors Eliminations Consolidated
(in thousands, except share data)

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 48,396 $ — $ 2,357 $ — $ 50,753
Receivables:

Trade, operating, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $261 — 27,509 5,797 — 33,306
Trade, dry leasing — 3,803 — — 3,803
Tax receivables — 6 3,181 — 3,187
Other — 1,949 394 — 2,343

Inventories, net — 20,633 40 — 20,673
Prepaid expenses 398 1,219 190 — 1,807

Total current assets 48,794 55,119 11,959 — 115,872
Property and equipment — 900,611 16,550 — 917,161

Accumulated depreciation — (314,567) (3,400) — (317,967)
Net property and equipment — 586,044 13,150 — 599,194

Equity investments and advances — 27,112 — — 27,112
Investments in consolidated subsidiaries 172,950 — — (172,950) —
Intangible assets — — 1,107 — 1,107
Deferred income taxes 9,904 — — (9,904) —
Intercompany receivables 366,541 — — (366,541) —
Other assets 1,251 20,231 96 — 21,578
Total assets $ 599,440 $ 688,506 $ 26,312 $ (549,395) $ 764,863
LIABILITIES, REDEEMABLE NONCONTROLLING INTEREST

AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 136 $ 11,357 $ 1,668 $ — $ 13,161
Accrued wages and benefits 43 7,743 1,481 — 9,267
Accrued interest 500 69 — — 569
Accrued income taxes 918 6 49 — 973
Current portion of long-term debt — 1,663 395 — 2,058
Accrued other taxes — 768 500 — 1,268
Accrued contingencies — — 630 — 630
Other current liabilities 647 220 11 — 878

Total current liabilities 2,244 21,826 4,734 — 28,804
Long-term debt 133,900 26,317 — — 160,217
Deferred income taxes — 117,015 1,245 (9,903) 108,357
Intercompany payables — 310,727 55,847 (366,574) —
Other liabilities — 720 27 — 747

Total liabilities 136,144 476,605 61,853 (376,477) 298,125
Redeemable noncontrolling interest — 3 3,299 — 3,302
Equity:

Era Group Inc. stockholders’ equity:
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 60,000,000 shares authorized;

21,765,404 outstanding, exclusive of treasury shares 219 — — — 219
Additional paid-in capital 447,299 100,306 4,562 (104,869) 447,298
Retained earnings 18,254 111,482 (43,402) (68,049) 18,285
Treasury shares, at cost, 156,737 shares (2,476) — — — (2,476)
Accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax — 110 — — 110

Total equity 463,296 211,898 (38,840) (172,918) 463,436
Total liabilities, redeemable noncontrolling interest and stockholders’

equity $ 599,440 $ 688,506 $ 26,312 $ (549,395) $ 764,863
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Supplemental Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2017 

Parent Guarantors
Non-

guarantors Eliminations Consolidated
(in thousands, except share data)

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 10,800 $ — $ 2,783 $ — $ 13,583
Receivables:

Trade, operating, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $1,196 — 27,968 5,872 $ — 33,840
Trade, dry leasing — 5,124 — — 5,124
Tax receivables — — 2,829 — 2,829
Other — 1,126 497 — 1,623

Inventories, net — 20,746 366 — 21,112
Prepaid expenses 349 721 133 — 1,203
Escrow deposits — 3,250 — — 3,250

Total current assets 11,149 58,935 12,480 — 82,564
Property and equipment — 956,918 16,024 — 972,942

Accumulated depreciation — (296,573) (2,455) — (299,028)
Net property and equipment — 660,345 13,569 — 673,914

Equity investments and advances — 30,056 — — 30,056
Investments in consolidated subsidiaries 161,350 — — (161,350) —
Intangible assets — — 1,122 — 1,122
Deferred income taxes 19,600 — — (19,600) —
Intercompany receivables 426,806 — — (426,806) —
Other assets 1,011 3,370 60 — 4,441
Total assets $ 619,916 $ 752,706 $ 27,231 $ (607,756) $ 792,097
LIABILITIES, REDEEMABLE NONCONTROLLING INTEREST

AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 638 $ 13,655 $ 2,128 $ — $ 16,421
Accrued wages and benefits — 6,804 1,460 — 8,264
Accrued interest 549 57 — — 606
Accrued income taxes — 24 4 — 28
Current portion of long-term debt — 1,663 1,073 — 2,736
Accrued other taxes 18 1,192 600 — 1,810
Accrued contingencies — — 859 — 859
Other current liabilities 848 835 37 — 1,720

Total current liabilities 2,053 24,230 6,161 — 32,444
Long-term debt 172,292 27,979 1,903 — 202,174
Deferred income taxes — 124,948 1,250 (19,600) 106,598
Intercompany payables — 381,660 45,146 (426,806) —
Other liabilities — 1,435 (1) — 1,434

Total liabilities 174,345 560,252 54,459 (446,406) 342,650
Redeemable noncontrolling interest — 4 3,762 — 3,766
Equity:

Era Group Inc. stockholders’ equity:
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 60,000,000 shares authorized;

20,936,636 outstanding, exclusive of treasury shares 215 — — — 215
Additional paid-in capital 443,944 100,306 4,562 (104,868) 443,944
Retained earnings 4,363 92,034 (35,552) (56,482) 4,363
Treasury shares, at cost, 214,441 shares (2,951) — — — (2,951)
Accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax — 110 — — 110

Total equity 445,571 192,450 (30,990) (161,350) 445,681
Total liabilities, redeemable noncontrolling interest and stockholders’

equity $ 619,916 $ 752,706 $ 27,231 $ (607,756) $ 792,097
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Supplemental Condensed Consolidating Statements of Operations for the Year Ended December 31, 2018 

 Parent Guarantors
Non-

guarantors Eliminations Consolidated
 (in thousands)
Revenues $ — $ 194,932 $ 55,625 $ (28,881) $ 221,676
Costs and expenses:

Operating — 122,490 57,947 (28,914) 151,523
Administrative and general 15,017 25,597 4,512 — 45,126
Depreciation — 38,553 988 — 39,541

Total costs and expenses 15,017 186,640 63,447 (28,914) 236,190
Gains on asset dispositions, net — 1,618 (43) — 1,575
Litigation settlement proceeds 42,000 — — — 42,000
Loss on impairment — (991) — — (991)
Operating income (loss) 26,983 8,919 (7,865) 33 28,070
Other income (expense):

Interest income 395 1,371 276 — 2,042
Interest expense (14,149) (802) (180) — (15,131)
Foreign currency gains, net (95) (178) (745) — (1,018)
Gain on debt extinguishment — — 175 — 175
Other, net — 34 20 — 54

Total other income (expense) (13,849) 425 (454) — (13,878)
Income (loss) before income taxes and equity earnings 13,134 9,344 (8,319) 33 14,192
Income tax expense (benefit) 10,845 (7,900) (5) — 2,940
Income (loss) before equity earnings 2,289 17,244 (8,314) 33 11,252
Equity in earnings (losses) of subsidiaries 11,601 2,206 — (11,601) 2,206
Net income (loss) 13,890 19,450 (8,314) (11,568) 13,458
Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest in subsidiary — — 464 — 464
Net income (loss) attributable to Era Group Inc. $ 13,890 $ 19,450 $ (7,850) $ (11,568) $ 13,922
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Supplemental Condensed Consolidating Statements of Operations for the Year Ended December 31, 2017 

 Parent Guarantors
Non-

guarantors Eliminations Consolidated
 (in thousands)
Revenues $ — $ 201,653 $ 60,466 $ (30,798) $ 231,321
Costs and expenses:

Operating — 133,077 65,167 (30,798) 167,446
Administrative and general 7,887 28,451 5,754 — 42,092
Depreciation — 44,756 980 — 45,736

Total costs and expenses 7,887 206,284 71,901 (30,798) 255,274
Gains on asset dispositions, net — 4,364 143 — 4,507
Loss on impairment — (116,586) (432) — (117,018)
Operating income (loss) (7,887) (116,853) (11,724) — (136,464)
Other income (expense):

Interest income 108 419 233 — 760
Interest expense (14,495) (800) (1,468) — (16,763)
Foreign currency gains, net 256 330 (812) — (226)
Other, net — 143 (155) — (12)

Total other income (expense) (14,131) 92 (2,202) — (16,241)
Income (loss) before income taxes and equity earnings (22,018) (116,761) (13,926) — (152,705)
Income tax expense (benefit) (7,338) (112,295) (3,032) — (122,665)
Income (loss) before equity earnings (14,680) (4,466) (10,894) — (30,040)
Equity earnings, net of tax 1,425 — 1,425
Equity in earnings (losses) of subsidiaries (13,481) — — 13,481 —
Net income (loss) (28,161) (3,041) (10,894) 13,481 (28,615)
Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest in subsidiary — — 454 — 454
Net income (loss) attributable to Era Group Inc. $ (28,161) $ (3,041) $ (10,440) $ 13,481 $ (28,161)
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Supplemental Condensed Consolidating Statements of Operations for the Year Ended December 31, 2016 

 Parent Guarantors
Non-

guarantors Eliminations Consolidated
 (in thousands)
Revenues $ — $ 225,773 $ 61,514 $ (40,059) $ 247,228
Costs and expenses:

Operating — 138,350 71,572 (40,059) 169,863
Administrative and general 3,744 27,834 4,628 — 36,206
Depreciation — 48,248 1,067 — 49,315

Total costs and expenses 3,744 214,432 77,267 (40,059) 255,384
Gains on asset dispositions, net — 5,035 (248) — 4,787
Operating income (3,744) 16,376 (16,001) — (3,369)
Other income (expense):

Interest income 56 472 213 — 741
Interest expense (16,033) (809) (483) — (17,325)
Foreign currency gains (losses), net (77) (879) 963 — 7
Gain on debt extinguishment 518 — — — 518
Other, net — 11 58 — 69

Total other income (expense) (15,536) (1,205) 751 — (15,990)
Income (loss) before income taxes and equity earnings (19,280) 15,171 (15,250) — (19,359)
Income tax expense (benefit) (8,807) 4,971 479 — (3,357)
Income (loss) before equity earnings (10,473) 10,200 (15,729) — (16,002)
Equity earnings, net of tax — 1,092 — — 1,092
Equity in earnings (losses) of subsidiaries 2,495 — — (2,495) —
Net income (loss) (7,978) 11,292 (15,729) (2,495) (14,910)
Net income attributable to non-controlling interest in subsidiary — 6,349 583 — 6,932
Net income (loss) attributable to Era Group Inc. $ (7,978) $ 17,641 $ (15,146) $ (2,495) $ (7,978)
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Supplemental Condensed Consolidating Statements of Comprehensive Income for the Year Ended December 31, 2018 

 Parent Guarantors
Non-

guarantors Eliminations Consolidated
 (in thousands)
Net income (loss) $ 13,890 $ 19,450 $ (8,314) $ (11,568) $ 13,458
Other comprehensive income (loss):

Foreign currency translation adjustments — — — — —
Income tax benefit — — — — —

Total other comprehensive income (loss) — — — — —
Comprehensive income (loss) 13,890 19,450 (8,314) (11,568) 13,458
Comprehensive loss attributable to non-controlling interest in subsidiary — — 464 — 464
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Era Group Inc. $ 13,890 $ 19,450 $ (7,850) $ (11,568) $ 13,922

Supplemental Condensed Consolidating Statements of Comprehensive Income for the Year Ended December 31, 2017 

 Parent Guarantors
Non-

guarantors Eliminations Consolidated
 (in thousands)
Net income (loss) $ (28,161) $ (3,041) $ (10,894) $ 13,481 $ (28,615)
Other comprehensive loss:

Foreign currency translation adjustments — 18 — — 18
Income tax benefit — — — — —

Total other comprehensive loss — 18 — — 18
Comprehensive income (loss) (28,161) (3,023) (10,894) 13,481 (28,597)
Comprehensive loss attributable to non-controlling interest in subsidiary — — 454 — 454
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Era Group Inc. $ (28,161) $ (3,023) $ (10,440) $ 13,481 $ (28,143)

Supplemental Condensed Consolidating Statements of Comprehensive Income for the Year Ended December 31, 2016 

 Parent Guarantors
Non-

guarantors Eliminations Consolidated
 (in thousands)
Net income (loss) $ (7,978) $ 11,292 $ (15,729) $ (2,495) $ (14,910)
Other comprehensive loss:

Foreign currency translation adjustments — — — — —
Income tax benefit — — — — —

Total other comprehensive loss — — — — —
Comprehensive income (loss) (7,978) 11,292 (15,729) (2,495) (14,910)
Comprehensive loss attributable to non-controlling interest in subsidiary — 6,349 583 — 6,932
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Era Group Inc. $ (7,978) $ 17,641 $ (15,146) $ (2,495) $ (7,978)
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Supplemental Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows for the Year Ended December 31, 2018 

 Parent Guarantors
Non-

guarantors Eliminations Consolidated
 (in thousands)
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 37,596 $ 14,639 $ 2,119 $ — $ 54,354
Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchases of property and equipment — (8,867) (349) — (9,216)
Proceeds from disposition of property and equipment — 29,590 — — 29,590
Dividends received from equity investees — 1,000 — — 1,000
Principal payments on notes due from equity investees — 518 — — 518
Principal payments on third party notes receivable — 934 — — 934

Net cash provided by investing activities — 23,175 (349) — 22,826
Cash flows from financing activities:

Long-term debt issuance costs — — — (1,295) (1,295)
Payments on long-term debt — (1,662) (1,224) (39,000) (41,886)
Proceeds from share award plans — — — 893 893
Extinguishment of long-term debt — — (1,221) — (1,221)
Borrowings and repayments of intercompany debt — (39,402) — 39,402 —

Net cash used in financing activities — (41,064) (2,445) — (43,509)
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted
cash — — 249 — 249
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 37,596 (3,250) (426) — 33,920
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of year 10,800 3,250 2,783 — 16,833
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of year $ 48,396 $ — $ 2,357 $ — $ 50,753
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Supplemental Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows for the Year Ended December 31, 2017 

 Parent Guarantors
Non-

guarantors Eliminations Consolidated
 (in thousands)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $ (14,706) $ 32,601 $ 2,201 $ — $ 20,096
Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchases of property and equipment — (16,600) (170) — (16,770)
Proceeds from disposition of property and equipment — 9,392 — — 9,392
Principal payments on notes due from equity investees — 761 — — 761
Investments in and advances to equity investees — (126) — — (126)
Principal payments on third party notes receivable — 169 — — 169
Escrow deposits on like-kind exchanges, net — — — — —

Net cash used in investing activities — (6,404) (170) — (6,574)
Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from Revolving Credit Facility — 8,000 — 9,000 17,000
Payments on long-term debt — (1,526) (755) (43,000) (45,281)
Proceeds from share award plans — — — 836 836
Purchase of treasury shares — — — (52) (52)
Borrowings and repayments of intercompany debt — (33,216) — 33,216 —

Net cash used in financing activities — (26,742) (755) — (27,497)
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted
cash 32 18 31 — 81
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash (14,674) (527) 1,307 — (13,894)
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of year 25,474 3,777 1,476 — 30,727
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of year $ 10,800 $ 3,250 $ 2,783 $ — $ 16,833
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Supplemental Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows for the Year Ended December 31, 2016 

Parent Guarantors
Non-

guarantors Eliminations Consolidated
(in thousands)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $ 17,909 $ 41,239 $ (644) $ — $ 58,504
Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchases of property and equipment — (39,020) (180) — (39,200)
Proceeds from disposition of property and equipment — 28,381 228 — 28,609
Return of helicopter deposits — 544 — — 544
Principal payments on notes due from equity investees — 723 — — 723
Principal payments on third party notes receivable — 208 — — 208
Escrow deposits, net — — — — —
Repayment of intercompany debt — — — — —

Net cash used in investing activities — (9,164) 48 — (9,116)
Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from Revolving Credit Facility — — — 12,000 12,000
Long-term debt issuance costs — — — (886) (886)
Payments on long-term debt — (1,803) (1,641) (37,000) (40,444)
Extinguishment of long-term debt — — — (4,331) (4,331)
Proceeds from share award plans — — — 836 836
Purchase of treasury shares — — — (161) (161)
Repayment of intercompany debt — (29,542) — 29,542 —

Net cash provided by financing activities — (31,345) (1,641) — (32,986)
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted
cash — (478) 242 — (236)
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 17,909 252 (1,995) — 16,166
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of year 7,565 3,525 3,471 — 14,561
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of year $ 25,474 $ 3,777 $ 1,476 $ — $ 30,727
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
Year Ended December 31,

($ millions) 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Revenue $ 221.7 $  231.3 $  247.2 $  281.8 $  331.2 

Operating Expenses  151.5  167.4  169.9  171.5  204.4 

G&A  45.1  42.1  36.2  42.8  44.0 

Depreciation  39.5  45.7  49.3  47.3  46.3 

Gains on Asset Dispositions 1.6  4.5  4.8  6.0  6.1 

Goodwill Impairment  -    -    -    (1.9)  -   

Litigation Settlement Proceeds  42.0  -    -    -    -   

Loss on Impairment  (1.0)  (117.0)  -    -    -   

Operating Income (Loss)  28.1  (136.4)  (3.4)  24.3  42.7 

Other Income (Expense)

Interest Income  2.0  0.8  0.7  1.2  0.5 

Interest Expense  (15. 1 )  (16.8)  (17.3)  (13.5)  (14.8)

Derivative Gains (Losses)  -    -    -    -    (0.9)

Foreign Currency Gains (Losses)  (1.0)  (0.2)  0.1  (2.6)  (2.4)

Gain on  Debt Extinguishment  0.2  -    0.5  1.6  -   

Gain on Sale of FBO  -    -    -    12.9  -   

Note Receivable Impairment  -    -    -    -    (2.5)

 (13.9)  (16.2)  (16.0)  (0.3)  (20.0)

Income (Loss) before Taxes and Equity Earnings  14.2  (152.7)  (19.4)  24.0  22.6 

Income Taxes Expense (Benefit)  2.9  (122.7)  (3.4)  14.1  8.3 

Income (Loss) before Equity Earnings  11.3  (30.0)  (16.0)  9.8  14.4 

Equity Earnings (Losses)  2.2  1.4  1.1  (1.9)  2.7 

Net Income (Loss) $  13.5 $  (28.6) $  (14.9) $  7.9 $  17.0 

Net Loss Attributable to NCI in Subsidiary  0.5  0.5  6.9  0.8  0.1 

Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Era Group $ 13.9 $  (28.1) $  (8.0) $  8.7 $  17.1 

Forward-looking Statements: Certain statements in this Annual Report constitute “forward-looking statements.”  Such forward-looking statements reflect the current views of the management of Era Group 
Inc. (the “Company”) with respect to future events and are subject to risks and uncertainties, both known and unknown, that could cause the Company’s actual results to vary materially from those anticipated 
in forward-looking statements. Such risks and uncertainties include those described in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018, in the Company’s subsequent 
Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and any current reports on Form 8-K filed by the Company. The Company cautions investors not to place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements.

This Annual Report defines and references EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA as supplemental measures of the Company’s operating performance.  Neither EBITDA nor Adjusted EBITDA is a recognized term under 
generally accepted accounting principles in the U.S. (“GAAP”).
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MARKET INFORMATION
Era Group Inc.’s stock is listed on the New York 
Stock Exchange (NYSE) under the symbol ERA.

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR
American Stock Transfer and Trust Company
6201 15th Avenue
Brooklyn, NY 11219
Phone: +1 800 937 5449 or +1 718 921 8124
www.astfinancial.com
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ANNUAL MEETING
The Annual Meeting of Shareholders will be  
held at 10:00 a.m. Central Time on June 6, 2019,  
at the Company’s principal executive office.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
The Era Group Inc. Annual Report on Form 10-K 
and other Company SEC filings can be accessed on 
the Era Group Inc. website, www.erahelicopters.com, 
in the “Investors” section. 
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